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In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the 
following meanings unless the context requires otherwise:

“Articles of Association” the articles of association of the Company

“Audit Committee” the audit committee of the Board

“Board” the board of Directors

“Board Diversity Policy” the board diversity policy of the Company adopted in August 2013 and 
revised in March 2019 and December 2022

“CG Code” the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 of the Listing 
Rules

C1

“Chairman” the chairman of the Board

“Chief Executive Officer” the chief executive officer of the Company

“Co-Chairman” the co-chairman of the Board

“Companies Ordinance” Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
622

“Company” CWT International Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong with 
limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange
CWT International Limited

“Company Secretary” the company secretary of the Company

“connected person(s)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules
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“CWT SG” CWT Pte. Limited, a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

CWT SG CWT Pte. Limited

“Director(s)” the director(s) of the Company

“Directors’ Nomination Policy” the directors’ nomination policy of the Company adopted in March 2019 and 
revised in December 2022

“Dividend Policy” the dividend policy of the Company adopted in March 2019

“Executive Committee” the executive committee of the Board

“Executive Director(s)” the executive Director(s)

“Group” the Company and its subsidiaries

“HNA Group” HNA Group Co., Ltd.*, an indirect substantial Shareholder

“HNA Trust Management” Hainan HNA No. 2 Trust Management Service Co., Ltd.*, an indirect 
controlling Shareholder; and the Trust is the actual shareholder of HNA Trust 
Management

“Hong Kong”/“HKSAR” the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

“Hong Kong HNA” Hong Kong HNA Holding Group Co. Limited, a direct controlling Shareholder

“Independent Investigation 
 Committee”

the independent investigation committee of the Board

“Independent Non-
 executive Director(s)”

the independent non-executive Director(s)

“Listing Rules” the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
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“Model Code” the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as 
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules

C3

“Nomination Committee” the nomination committee of the Board

“Non-executive Director(s)” the non-executive Director(s)

“PRC”/“Mainland China” the People’s Republic of China, which for the purposes of this annual 
report (unless otherwise stated), excludes Hong Kong, the Macao Special 
Administrative Region of the PRC and Taiwan

“Promissory Note” the promissory note dated 18 February 2022 entered into between the 
Company and an affiliate of the HNA Group Bankruptcy Reorganisation 
Specialised Service Trust. On and with effect from 18 February 2022, the 
original affiliate assigned to another affiliate of the HNA Group Bankruptcy 
Reorganisation Specialised Service Trust all of its rights and obligations in 
the Promissory Note and its right to collect and be paid all principal, interest 
and other sums due under or in respect of the Promissory Note pursuant to 
a deed of assignment dated 18 February 2022 entered into between these 
affiliates. On 18 July 2024, the Group repaid principal amount and accrued 
interest of HK$65,016,000 in relation to the Promissory Note and renewed 
the Promissory Note with principal amount of HK$666,000,000 for a 4-year 
period.

65,016,000 666,000,000

“Remuneration Committee” the remuneration committee of the Board

“Restructuring Plan” Reorganisation Plan of the Substantive Merger and Reorganisation for 321 
Companies of HNA Group

“SFO” the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong)

571

“Share(s)” the ordinary share(s) of the Company

“Shareholder(s)” the holder(s) of the Shares
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“Shareholders’ Communication Policy” the shareholders’ communication policy of the Company adopted in March 
2012 and revised in December 2022 and January 2023 respectively

“Stock Exchange” The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

“subsidiary(ies)” has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

“Trust” HNA Group Bankruptcy Reorganisation Specialised Service Trust*; and that 
there is no single beneficiary holding 5% or more above it

5%

“AED” Arab Emirates Dirham, the official currency of the United Arab Emirates

“Euro”/”EUR” Euro, the lawful currency of the European Union

“GBP” British pound sterling, the lawful currency of the United Kingdom

“HK$” Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

“S$” Singapore dollars, the lawful currency of the Republic of Singapore

“US$” United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States of America

“%” per cent or percentage
%

* For identification purpose only * 
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Mr. Wang Kan, aged 40, holds a bachelor’s degree in German 
from Shanghai International Studies University and a master’s 
degree in interpreting and translating from the University of Bath 
in United Kingdom (“UK”). He is also a certified public accountant 
of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an 
associate of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and 
Wales. Mr. Wang Kan was appointed as an Executive Director, 
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer in February 2022, 
and also the chairman of each of the Executive Committee and 
the Nomination Committee, and a member of the Remuneration 
Committee. Mr. Wang Kan resigned as the Chief Executive Officer 
in June 2024 but retains other relevant positions on the Board of 
Directors and the Board Committees and also acts as directors of 
a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Wang Kan joined Yangtze River Air Cargo Holdings Limited* 
( ), a company under HNA Group, a 
substantial Shareholder pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, in 2017 
and has served several senior positions for its certain companies. 
Mr. Wang Kan is currently a director of HY Energy Group Co., 
Ltd. (an A-Share listed company on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, 
Stock Code: 600387) and Tuniu Corporation (a listed company on 
the NASDAQ, Stock Code: TOUR).

Before joining HNA Group, Mr. Wang Kan served as the deputy 
manager of the banking and capital markets department of 
Deloitte LLP UK, the chief investment officer of Hung To Capital 
Limited and director of overseas investment and operations of 
Qingdao Haier Co., Ltd. Mr. Wang Kan has extensive management 
knowledge and working experience in the fields of investment and 
financing, financial markets, financial accounting and compliance.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Wang Kan and 
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 
2023.

XV

A
600387

NASDAQ
TOUR

Hung To 
Capital Limited



92024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S BIOGRAPHIES

Mr. Zhao Quan (“Mr. Zhao”), aged 54, holds a bachelor’s 
degree of science in computer science software management 
from Lanzhou University. Mr. Zhao was appointed as an 
Executive Director and the Chairman of the Board in July 2015, 
was re-designated as the Co-Chairman in November 2016, and 
subsequently stepped down as the Co-Chairman in December 
2017 but remains as an Executive Director. He once acted as 
directors of a number of subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Zhao is now a director and chairman of the board of HNA Trust 
Management, a substantial Shareholder pursuant to Part XV of 
the SFO. He joined Changan Airlines Co., Ltd* (

), a company under HNA Group, a substantial Shareholder 
pursuant to Part XV of the SFO, in 2001 and was engaged with 
certain senior management positions of HNA Group. Mr. Zhao has 
nearly 30 years of working and management experience in the 
areas of airlines, finance, airport investment and operation etc., 
and has extensive knowledge and working experience in corporate 
management.

A service agreement was entered into between Mr. Zhao and 
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 
2023.

Mr. Wang Qi, aged 44, holds a bachelor’s degree in business 
administration from Civil Aviation University of China. Mr. Wang Qi 
was appointed as an Executive Director in May 2024, and is a 
member of the Executive Committee. Mr. Wang Qi is currently 
the general manager of the enterprise management department 
of HNA Trust Management, which is a substantial shareholder of 
the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Wang Qi joined 
Hainan Airlines Co., Ltd.* ( ) (now known 
as Hainan Airlines Holding Co., Ltd.* (

)) in 2004 and has served several management positions in this 
company. Hainan Airlines Holding Co., Ltd.* was formerly under 
HNA Group, which is now controlled by HNA Trust Management. 
Mr. Wang Qi has extensive management knowledge and working 
experience in the fields of cabin and operation management and 
corporate management.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Wang Qi 
and the Company for a term commencing from 10 May 2024 to 
31 December 2025.

XV

XV

XV
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XV

Mr. Huang Fenglin (“Mr. Huang”), aged 39, holds a bachelor’s 
degree in English from Central China Normal University. Mr. Huang 
was appointed as an Executive Director in May 2024, and is a 
member of the Executive Committee. Mr. Huang is currently 
the general manager of the general management department of 
HNA Trust Management, which is a substantial shareholder of 
the Company pursuant to Part XV of the SFO. Mr. Huang joined 
HNA Group, which is now controlled by HNA Trust Management, 
in 2010 and has served several senior positions for its certain 
companies. Mr. Huang has extensive management knowledge 
and working experience in the fields of administration and human 
resources.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Huang 
and the Company for a term commencing from 10 May 2024 to 
31 December 2025.

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (“Mr. Liem“), aged 44, holds a bachelor’s 
degree (honours) in commerce from University of Toronto and a 
master’s degree in taxation from University of Waterloo. Mr. Liem 
was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of 
the Company in June 2013 and is the chairman of each of the 
Audit Committee, Independent Investigation Committee and 
the Remuneration Committee, and a member of the Nomination 
Committee. He is a CFA charter holder and a certified public 
accountant (USA). Mr. Liem is a chief investment officer for a 
family office in Hong Kong, a treasurer of the council and court 
of the Hong Kong Baptist University, a chairperson and a senior 
fellow of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute (HKSI), 
and also a member of the Resolution Compensation Tribunal 
of Hong Kong Special Administration Region. He has extensive 
experience in securities, financial market and investment.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Liem and 
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 
2023.
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GBM, GBS, JP

1977
1224
81

1929
235
677

1097
369 1128

1725

Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey (“Mr. Lam”), GBM, GBS, JP, aged 73, 
holds a bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering from Tufts 
University in the United States and was conferred university fellow 
of Tufts University and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. 
Lam was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director 
of the Company in October 2013 and is a member of each of 
the Audit Committee, Independent Investigation Committee, the 
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. He is 
also an independent non-executive director of each of Analogue 
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1977), C C Land Holdings Limited 
(Stock Code: 1224), China Overseas Grand Oceans Group Limited 
(Stock Code: 81), Chow Tai Fook Jewellery Group Limited (Stock 
Code: 1929), CSC Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 235), Golden 
Resources Development International Limited (Stock Code: 677), 
i-CABLE Communications Limited (Stock Code: 1097), Wing Tai 
Properties Limited (Stock Code: 369) and Wynn Macau, Limited 
(Stock Code: 1128), all of which are listed companies in Hong Kong. 
In the last three years, Mr. Lam was an executive director of Hong 
Kong Aerospace Technology Group Limited (Stock Code: 1725) 
from July 2021 to November 2023, which is a listed company in 
Hong Kong. He has over 30 years of experience in toy industry and 
is currently the managing director of Forward Winsome Industries 
Limited which is engaged in toy manufacturing.

In addition, Mr. Lam is a member of the Legislative Council of 
the HKSAR, a non-official member of the Executive Council of 
the HKSAR, a general committee member of the Hong Kong 
General Chamber of Commerce and a honorary member of the 
Court of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and a director 
on the board of Heifer International – Hong Kong. Mr. Lam has 
been appointed as a member of the Hong Kong Tourism Board, 
effective 1 April 2025. He also holds a number of other public and 
community service positions. He ceased to be a member of the 
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative 
Conference with effect from March 2023.

Mr. Lam was awarded the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong 
Kong” in 1989 and the “Outstanding Achievement Award – 
Hong Kong Toy Industry” in 1999 respectively. In 1996, he was 
appointed Justice of the Peace and became a member of the Most 
Excellent Order of the British Empire. Mr. Lam was awarded the 
Silver Bauhinia Star in 2004, the Gold Bauhinia Star in 2011 and the 
Grand Bauhinia Medal in 2023 respectively.

An engagement letter was entered into between Mr. Lam and 
the Company for a term of three years commencing on 1 January 
2023.
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XV

974

0042
000585

000564

Ms. Liu Yifei (“Ms. Liu”), aged 38, holds a bachelor’s degree of 
science in economics and finance from The Hong Kong University 
of Science and Technology. She was appointed as an Independent 
Non-executive Director in November 2023 and was appointed as 
a member of each of the Audit Committee and the Independent 
Investigation Committee in June 2024. Ms. Liu previously acted 
as the investment and financing vice-president and CEO special 
assistant of Flexiv Technology Ltd., and also previously served 
the management and senior positions of Fosun Fashion Group 
(renamed as LANVIN Group), DJI Innovation Technology Limited 
and FIL Investment Management (Hong Kong) Limited. Ms. Liu 
has extensive knowledge and working experience in the fields of 
investment, finance, debt restructuring and corporate operation 
management.

An engagement letter was entered into between Ms. Liu and the 
Company for a term commencing from 20 November 2023 to 31 
December 2025.

Mr. Shang Duoxu (“Mr. Shang”), aged 39, holds a bachelor’s 
degree in economics from Chengdu University of Technology and 
a master’s degree in finance from Tulane University. Mr. Shang 
was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer in June 2024. Mr. 
Shang is currently the supervisor of HNA Trust Management, 
which is a controlling shareholder of the Company pursuant to Part 
XV of the SFO. Mr. Shang joined Hainan HNA Property Holdings 
Co.* ( ) (now known as Hainan Haidao 
Linkong Property Holding Co.* (

)), a company under HNA Group, in 2008 and has served several 
senior positions for certain companies under HNA Group. HNA 
Group is now controlled by HNA Trust Management. In the last 
three years, Mr. Shang was the chairman and an executive director 
of China Shun Ke Long Holdings Limited (listed on the Stock 
Exchange, Stock Code: 974), which was formerly under HNA Trust 
Management, from February 2022 to May 2024. Mr. Shang was 
also the chairman of the board of directors of Northeast Electric 
Development Co., Ltd. (listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 
42; also listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 
000585 and delisted in May 2022), from August 2021 to December 
2022. Mr. Shang was also the chairman of the board of directors 
of CCOOP Group Co., Ltd.* ( ) (listed 
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 000564), from 
January 2022 to April 2024. Mr. Shang has extensive management 
knowledge and working experience in the fields of finance 
management and corporate management.



FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

132024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

TURNOVER BY PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES FOR THE YEAR 2024
二零二四年年度按主要業務劃分之營業額

Commodity marketing
商品貿易

Logistics services
物流服務

Financial services
金融服務

Engineering services
工程服務

82.57%

1.67%
1.61%

14.15%

TURNOVER BY GEOGRAPHICAL LOCATION FOR THE YEAR 2024
二零二四年年度按地區劃分之營業額

Mainland China
中國內地

Other parts of the
Asia Pacific Region
其他亞太地區

Europe
歐洲

America
美洲

Africa Continent
非洲

69.49%

9.83%

19.48%

0.51%0.69%
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REVENUE (HK$’000)
收入（港幣千元）

Year 年Year 年

38,885,894

37,226,295

44,673,571

55,448,828

38,689,030

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

(restated)
（經重列）

GROSS PROFIT (HK$’000)
毛利（港幣千元）

Year 年

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024 1,811,079

1,646,236

1,481,066

1,718,532

1,910,263

(restated)
（經重列）

TOTAL ASSETS (HK$’000)
總資產（港幣千元）

Year 年

27,632,040

25,438,229

24,915,974

24,934,882

36,504,465

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024
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On behalf of the Board, we are pleased to present the audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024.

Due to a delay in publication of the Company’s annual results 
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the trading in the Shares 
on the Stock Exchange had been suspended since 3 April 2023. 
Following efforts by the Company and its advisers, the Company 
has fulfilled all the conditions set out in the resumption guidance 
given by the Stock Exchange. Upon the Company’s application 
to the Stock Exchange, the trading in the Shares on the Stock 
Exchange resumed on 29 May 2024.

In 2024, despite major challenges in business environment, 
through the collaborative efforts of the operating management 
team, the Company focused on its core industries and the 
enhancement of its core competitiveness and continued to 
maintain profitability. After the resumption of trading, the Company 
actively disseminated positive information to the market through 
non-deal roadshows and domestic and overseas mainstream 
media, forging an ever stronger connection with the general public 
and capital market investors. It has also achieved a series of social 
awards, demonstrating strong recognition from capital markets 
and media regarding the Company’s investment value and brand 
influence.

Moreover, the Company has streamlined its data collection and 
analysis mechanism covering core business segments to assist 
the management in coordinating operations with the underlying 
business units and strengthen the oversight and control roles of 
functional systems such as finance, business and risk control.
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38,885,894,000 (
37,226,295,000 )

304,386,000 (
17,733,000 )

( EBITDA ) 1,629,069,000
( 1,274,210,000 )

3.3%

4.2% 3.5%

OVERALL PERFORMANCE 2024
For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue 
from continuing operations amounted to HK$38,885,894,000 
(2023: HK$37,226,295,000); while the profit attributable to owners 
from continuing operations amounted to HK$304,386,000 (2023: 
HK$17,733,000).

The Group recorded earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation 
and amortisation (“EBITDA”) from continuing operations for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 as amounted to HK$1,629,069,000 
(2023: HK$1,274,210,000), the amount of which is calculated by 
the profit for the year from continuing operations, before deducting 
the financial costs, income tax expenses, depreciation, and 
amortisation for the continuing operations.

LOOKING FORWARD AND OUR STRATEGIES
For 2024, the world economy has shown remarkable resilience. 
The International Monetary Fund projected the global economic 
growth at 3.3% in 2025 and 2026. This stability has been 
underpinned by continued disinflation, softening commodity prices, 
and monetary easing in many countries. Global headline inflation 
is expected to decline to 4.2% in 2025 and to 3.5% in 2026. 
However, ongoing conflicts, geopolitical tensions and climate risks, 
as well as potential trade restrictions pose significant challenges 
going forward. In particular, an intensification of protectionist 
policies, in the form of a new wave of tariffs, could exacerbate 
trade tensions, lower investment, reduce market efficiency, 
distort trade flows and again disrupt supply chains. While the 
global trend of monetary easing is expected to gradually reduce 
financing costs in many economies, the pace of interest rate-cuts 
remains uncertain. Under such circumstances, we consider it still 
necessary to continue focusing on core industries, enhancing core 
competence, promoting further synergy and collaboration among 
business sectors, and seeking for business opportunities in the 
PRC and other global regions for risk diversification reasons.
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50

Access World Group

Hainan Free Trade Port (“HFTP”) has been one of the ports 
with the highest level of openness in the world nowadays, 
and an increasing number of global enterprises have set up 
regional headquarters or branch offices in Hainan Province. The 
Group continues to explore business opportunities in HFTP 
and Southeast Asia countries through multiple routes, such as 
establishing strategic cooperation and joint venture with local 
business partners. Since the initiation of the strategic cooperation 
with Yangpu Investment (a subsidiary of Hainan Yangpu 
Development and Construction Holding Co., Ltd) in April 2024, 
the Group has facilitated a number of study tours and exchange 
activities among the Group, business and industrial experts from 
Singapore, and local organisations in Hainan, in order to evaluate 
potential investment and business development opportunities 
in HFTP. Meanwhile, on the occasion of the 50th anniversary of 
diplomatic relations between China and Malaysia, in May 2024, 
the Group signed a memorandum of understanding with global 
commodity logistics company Access World Group (headquartered 
in Malaysia), in order to extend further collaboration in the area 
of commodity marketing and logistics. According to the master 
plan for HFTP, a Free Trade Port (FTP) system focused on trade 
and investment liberalisation and facilitation will be “basically 
established” in Hainan by the end of 2025. In order to seize the 
development opportunities in HFTP, our freight logistics business 
has incorporated a subsidiary in HFTP in November 2024 aiming to 
provide logistics solutions for local companies. Meanwhile, upon 
working closely with our global strategic partners, we continue to 
focus on the growth opportunities in the global regions, including 
Southeast Asia, Europe, and Central America. As our footprint 
in Greater China and other global regions continues to deepen, 
our relentless focus is to learn from our experience and copy the 
success in Singapore and other global regions, to contribute to the 
economic growth and sustainable development in the regions that 
we operate, and to create more value for the Shareholders.



18 CWT International Limited  /  2024年年報
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For 2025, facing the opportunities and challenges in the global market 
place, in addition to operating the business with caution, the Group 
will promote deeper internal synergy, continue to expand our global 
commercial network, and seize further growth opportunities in Greater 
China and other global regions to maximise the Shareholders’ interests 
and earn a brighter future.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board, we would like to take this opportunity 
to extend our sincere gratitude to all Shareholders, investors, 
customers, suppliers and business partners of the Company for 
their valuable and continuous support and trust to the Group. 
We would also extend our gratitude and appreciation to all our 
management and staff for their tireless efforts, diligence and 
dedication throughout the year.

Wang Kan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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OVERVIEW
In 2024, the global economy experienced modest growth. 
Advanced economies saw a slight uptick, while emerging markets 
experienced a marginal slowdown. Key factors influencing this 
economic landscape included geopolitical tensions, trade policy 
uncertainties, and fluctuations in commodity markets.

The ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict and US-China trade tensions 
continued to cause significant disruption to global economy, 
slowing down and disrupting trade flows, increasing oil prices and 
escalating inflation. Besides that, Donald Trump’s announcement 
on the 10% additional tariffs on Chinese goods is likely to dampen 
Singapore’s export growth and business investment as business 
investment in Singapore is closely linked to exports. This also 
effectively shuts many Chinese exports out of the US market and 
will result in China’s overcapacity which eventually caused influx 
of cheap imports to Southeast Asia and hurt Southeast Asian 
manufacturers.

The instability in the Red Sea corridor led to increased volatility in 
commodity markets. Extended shipping routes and heightened 
risks contributed to fluctuating prices, impacting traders and 
brokers. The Red Sea crisis had profound implications for global 
logistics, broking, and commodity trading, underscoring the 
vulnerability of international trade to regional conflicts and the 
importance of strategic maritime routes like the Red Sea and the 
Suez Canal.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue 
amounted to HK$38,885,894,000 (2023: HK$37,226,295,000); 
while the net profit for the year amounted to HK$348,307,000 
(2023: HK$79,194,000). The Group reported a net profit of HK$Nil 
(2023: HK$21,471,000) from discontinued operation and net 
profit of HK$348,307,000 (2023: HK$57,723,000) from continuing 
operations. The increase in net profit from continuing operations is 
mainly attributable to (i) improved profitability from its concentrates 
business under commodity marketing; (ii) better margins achieved 
by freight logistics from elevated ocean freight rates despite the 
economic disruption from geopolitical tensions and Red Sea crisis; 
(iii) there was a fair value loss on an unlisted equity investment in 
a limited partnership engaged in property investment in the United 
States, which was measured at fair value through profit or loss 
and recorded in the prior financial year. No such fair value loss was 
recorded for the financial year ended 31 December 2024.

The Group remains nimble and resilient to the challenging market 
and was able to mitigate risks in the volatile market, seize 
opportunities to maximise profitability with long-term view to 
achieve stability, operational efficiency and global presence.

•
10%

38,885,894,000
37,226,295,000

348,307,000 79,194,000

21,471,000
348,307,000

57,723,000
(i)

(ii)

(iii)
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LOGISTICS SERVICES
Warehousing and Integrated Logistics
The warehousing industry experienced a softening of market rates 
after peaking in late 2023 and early 2024. Despite market volatility 
due to US-China trade tensions, our warehouses maintained 100% 
utilisation, with stable demand expected over the next 12 months. 
New warehouse developments were minimal in the financial year 
2024, but several projects are set to be completed in the financial 
year 2025.

Our warehouse division maintained stability by optimising space, 
improving safety standards such as certified racking system, and 
enhancing technology through warehouse management system. 
Rising costs were addressed through layout optimisation and 
procurement strategies, with a continued focus on innovation and 
efficiency.

Container depot activity remained steady, with limited recovery in 
volumes. The exit of mid-sized competitors in Singapore provided 
some rate stability, though potential tariff shifts in 2025 could 
impact supply chains and customer volumes.

In transport services, the division showed resilience amid a 
petrochemical downturn and fluctuating fuel costs. Efficiency 
improvements through cost management, fleet optimisation, and 
technology upgrades (e.g., electric van trials and real-time tracking) 
helped mitigate cost pressures.

Despite global challenges, our cold chain logistics and wine storage 
businesses delivered strong operational efficiency and strategic 
growth. Cold chain logistics maintained steady performance, while 
our premium wine storage solutions retained market leadership 
with improved margins.

Looking ahead, we are well-positioned for sustainable growth, 
supported by market leadership, operational efficiencies, and 
strategic initiatives focused on innovation and service excellence.
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Freight Logistics
In the first half of 2024, the freight market was significantly 
influenced by events in the Red Sea and the Middle East, as 
previously reported.

In the second half of 2024, elevated ocean freight rates helped 
improve our margins, but fluctuations in USD exchange rates and 
the loss of key agents in the Nordics and Europe due to competitor 
acquisitions offset some of the gains. We quickly replaced these 
agents and expanded our network by adding Vietnam and merging 
the Shenzhen and Hong Kong operations to adapt to the economic 
situation in the Pearl River Delta.

Despite challenges, our freight logistics business exceeded 
expectations, delivering a full-year profit above both the 2024 
budget and the financial year 2023 results. Looking ahead to the 
financial year 2025, we anticipate continued geopolitical volatility 
affecting global supply chains, including tariff policies on China and 
Mexico. The temporary pause in the Middle East conflict and the 
reopening of the Suez Canal may lower freight rates in the first 
quarter and the second quarter, impacting our 2025 budget. To 
drive growth, we are expanding in Europe, with plans to add a few 
of country offices by mid-2025.

Commodity Logistics
Our commodity logistics business delivered strong performance 
in the financial year 2024, surpassing expectations despite a 
challenging global environment. We leveraged our operational 
strengths and strategic position in commodity logistics to maintain 
robust demand, driven by global supply chain disruptions and 
complexities in key markets like cocoa and coffee. These industries 
faced significant challenges, including climate change, geopolitical 
tensions, and price volatility, alongside growing demand for 
ethically sourced and premium products. We navigated these 
dynamics by utilising our expertise and investing in technology-
driven solutions.
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In the financial year 2024, we expanded with a Bonded Logistics 
Centre in Serang, Indonesia, enhancing regional storage and 
distribution capabilities. This supported the increasing demand for 
secure, efficient commodity handling. Additionally, our logistics 
and blending services for minerals, particularly copper and gold 
concentrates, emerged as a significant growth driver in the 
financial year 2024. Our strategic positioning in copper concentrate 
logistics aligns with the industry’s positive outlook, driven by 
rising demand for copper due to its crucial role in renewable 
energy technologies and electric vehicles. Our ability to provide 
specialised services in this sector has strengthened our market 
position and contributed to the growth. Similarly, our handling of 
gold concentrates benefits from increased demand in Asia, further 
solidifying our foothold in the mineral logistics sector.

Our ability to ensure timely delivery and traceability solidified our 
reputation as a trusted partner in navigating an uncertain market. 
Looking ahead to the financial year 2025, we plan to expand our 
portfolio, enhance efficiency, and leverage innovation to drive 
service excellence.

As compared with last year, the Group’s logistics segment 
achieved a 17% growth in revenue from HK$4,619,054,000 to 
HK$5,411,113,000 and a 31% increase in profit before tax (“PBT”) 
from HK$218,436,000 to HK$286,333,000, driven by improved 
performance across its logistics services, particularly the freight 
logistics. The freight logistics performed well by leveraging 
opportunities created by the geo-political tensions and supply 
chain disruptions. The Group remains focus on expanding its global 
network and service offerings while staying proactive in managing 
market challenges to mitigate risks and capture new business 
opportunities.

Commodity Marketing
Commodity marketing (“CM”) continues to leverage its expertise 
in global supply chain management for non-ferrous concentrates 
and refined metals, while expanding into energy products and 
other metals in 2024. The company has also strengthened 
partnerships with small-scale miners to enhance its supply base 
and promote sustainable practices. Additionally, CM has focused 
on expanding its presence in new regions, with an emphasis on 
improving logistics and operations across Africa, a key area of its 
strategy.
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31,175,669,000 3% 32,108,541,000
17,206,000

443% 93,468,000

13%

While the traded volume of concentrates, refined metals, and 
energy products remained stable, as compared with last year, 
CM saw a 3% increase in revenue from HK$31,175,669,000 
to HK$32,108,541,000 and a 443% significant rise in PBT from 
HK$17,206,000 to HK$93,468,000. Our improved efficiencies 
reduced operational costs and boosted margins. We further 
developed our blending facilities to capitalise on the tighter 
concentrates market, offering customised solutions for smelters.

Throughout the year, CM refined its London Metal Exchange 
(LME) management practices to better mitigate risk in a volatile 
commodities market. These efforts, combined with strong 
demand, improved the profitability of concentrates trading, while 
refined metals and energy products contributed robustly to overall 
performance.

Looking ahead, CM is focused on scaling its African operations, 
particularly logistics, and leveraging geographic expansion to 
diversify its supply sources. The company also plans to explore 
new minerals and enhance its presence in energy trading and 
other metal products. With a commitment to long-term stability, 
operational efficiency, and strategic growth, CM is well-positioned 
to navigate market challenges and seize emerging opportunities in 
2025 and beyond.

Financial Services
Our financial services arm continues to grow its total customer 
equity funds year-on-year, with an increase of 13% for the financial 
year 2024, despite the high-interest rate environment. Market 
volatility remains high, which typically leads to higher trading 
volumes during this period.

We have been a clearing member of the world’s largest derivatives 
exchange, the Chicago Mercantile Exchange (CME), for the last 
decade. Having established relatively stable and significant clearing 
volumes on other global exchanges, we are now in the final stages 
of becoming a clearing member of the Intercontinental Exchange 
(ICE), a key trading venue for global energy markets. As direct 
Clearing Members, this will enhance the services we provide to 
our customers.
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While financial institutions and corporate accounts remain our 
core customer base, we have invested in expanding our reach into 
the retail market. This includes refreshing our brand touchpoints, 
enhancing our digital marketing content and reach, launching new 
products for retail investors, and hiring sales specialists. Our retail 
initiatives in Southeast Asia have gained momentum, forming a 
new business segment for us with exponential growth potential.

In addition to our retail initiatives, we continue to invest in 
accelerating our digital transformation. The goal is to automate 
processes, increase productivity, and, importantly, digitise 
touchpoints to improve our customers’ on-boarding and trading 
experience.

Financial services maintained a similar level of revenue of 
HK$625,820,000 (2023: HK$626,035,000) and recorded a 3% 
increase PBT from HK$192,834,000 to HK$198,825,000 mainly 
due to increment in interest income resulting from higher average 
interest rate and increase in customer equity fund, but was offset 
by weaker performance from both USA and Asia markets.

ENGINEERING SERVICES
For the financial year 2024, the engineering services (“ES”) 
business recorded a 9% drop year-on-year in revenue from 
HK$715,970,000 to HK$648,520,000, but achieved a 14% growth 
year-on-year in PBT from HK$33,439,000 to HK$38,286,000. This 
growth was achieved despite intense competition in the industry 
as ES continued to enhance its operations by digitalising work 
processes and introducing innovative solutions to lower operating 
costs and improve its competitiveness in securing contracts.

Engineering Maintenance
The facility management and maintenance market remains highly 
competitive. However, we expect to retain our existing contracts 
in the coming year. We successfully retained our key contracts 
for the vehicles and equipment division in 2024. Although new 
entrants have emerged in both the facility and vehicle maintenance 
markets, we are confident in our ability to retain our existing 
contracts in 2025, given our strong performance.

The labour market remains tight, continuing to pose a challenge 
to new businesses. Despite this, our business performed well in 
2024 and is expected to remain steady in 2025.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash equivalents 
of HK$2,271,537,000 (31 December 2023: HK$1,998,840,000). 
Cash and bank balances are mostly held in Hong Kong dollar, 
United States dollar, Singapore dollar, Euro and Renminbi and 
deposited in leading banks with maturity dates falling within one 
year. On the other hand, the Group had loans and borrowings of 
HK$5,924,561,000 (31 December 2023: HK$5,646,278,000), of 
which an aggregated amount of HK$5,136,740,000 (31 December 
2023: HK$4,201,446,000) was repayable within one year, including 
revolving short-term trade facilities of HK$3,894,216,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$3,323,467,000) at the interest rate from 
5.84% to 8.08% (31 December 2023: 5.88% to 8.08%) per 
annum that are used to finance the working capital of the Group’s 
CM business. As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s loans and 
borrowings amounted to HK$4,600,396,000 (31 December 
2023: HK$4,183,519,000) were secured by property, plant and 
equipment, bank balance and fixed deposits, trade and other 
receivables and inventories with an amount of HK$6,062,570,000 
(as at 31 December 2023: HK$4,948,088,000).

At the end of the reporting period, total borrowings accounted for 
around 17.2% were at fixed interest rates. There are no known 
seasonal factors in the Group’s borrowing profile.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group 
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the 
return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balance. The Group will balance its overall capital structure 
through new share issues as well as raising of new borrowings 
or redemption of existing debt using cash flow generated from 
operating activities and disposal of assets. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from the year ended 31 December 
2024.
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Globe l ink 
Uniexco, S.L. 30% 4,800,000

41,409,000

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had tota l  debt of 
HK$4,120,695,000 (31 December 2023: HK$4,672,423,000), 
comprising loans and borrowings and lease l iabil it ies but 
excluding the revolving short term trade facilities amounted to 
HK$3,894,216,000 (31 December 2023: HK$3,323,467,000) 
(collectively, “Total Debt”). The consolidated net debt of the 
Group comprising of Total Debt minus pledged bank deposits and 
cash and cash equivalents amounted to HK$1,655,867,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$2,528,508,000); and the total capital of the 
Group (measured as Total Debt plus equity attributable to owners 
of the Company) amounted to HK$8,901,645,000 (31 December 
2023: HK$9,343,704,000). The Group’s gearing ratio (net debt to 
total capital) as at 31 December 2024 was 18.6% (31 December 
2023: 27.1%).

As at 31 December 2024, outstanding derivatives on the books 
were mainly commodity contracts for hedging the commodity 
price exposure. The management monitors the hedging policy 
closely and the hedging level of the Group is approximately 100% 
of the total commodity inventories.

The Group maintains an appropriate level of foreign currency 
borrowings, as determined by management, for natural hedge 
to minimise the foreign exchange exposure. As at 31 December 
2024, of the total HK$5,924,561,000 (31 December 2023: 
HK$5,646,278,000), the Group had HK$5,258,561,000 (31 
December 2023: HK$4,930,278,000) in loans and borrowings are 
denominated in currencies other than Hong Kong dollar, which are 
mainly denominated in Singapore dollar, United States dollar and 
Euro.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS 
OF SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATED COMPANIES 
AND JOINT VENTURES
Save as disclosed below, for the year ended 31 December 2024, 
the Company did not have any material acquisitions and disposals 
of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures:

On 8 January 2024, the Group entered into a sale and purchase 
agreement, pursuant to which the Group agree to acquire 30% 
equity interest of Globelink Uniexco, S.L., a non-wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in Spain, from the non-
controlling shareholder at a consideration of EUR4,800,000 
(equivalent to approximately HK$41,409,000). For details, please 
refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2024.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group is subject to various litigation, regulatory, and arbitration 
matters in the normal course of business. The Group vigorously 
defends against these claims. Based on the current status of 
these claims and presently available information, in the opinion of 
management, the resolution of these matters is unlikely to have a 
material effect on the financial position of the Group.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES
The Group together with its associated companies and joint 
ventures had a total of 5,936 employees, including 1,265 
employees of associated companies and joint ventures, as at 
31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 6,029  including 1,304 
employees of associated companies and joint ventures). For 
staff cost, please refer to Note 9 to the consolidated financial 
statements. The Group’s remuneration policies are to ensure that 
the remuneration package as a whole is fair and competitive, and is 
able to motivate and retain current employees and attract potential 
talents. These remuneration packages have already carefully taken 
into account, amongst other aspects, the Group’s business in 
different jurisdictions. The employees’ remuneration packages 
are comprised of salaries and discretionary bonuses, along with 
retirement schemes, medical insurance and share options which 
form a part of welfare benefits.
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The Company is committed to applying the principles in the 
CG Code to maintain good corporate governance standard and 
procedures to safeguard the interests of all Shareholders and to 
enhance accountability and transparency.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE CODE
The Company had complied with the code provisions of the CG 
Code as set out in Part 2 of Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2024, except the following 
deviation:

Pursuant to code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of 
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not 
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Wang Kan had been 
appointed as the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer during 
the period from 21 February 2022 to 28 June 2024.

The Board believed that vesting the roles of both Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer in the same person had the benefit of 
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enabled more 
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The 
Board considered this structure to enable the Company to make 
and implement decisions promptly and effectively. The Board 
believed that the balance of power and authority was adequately 
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises 
experienced and high calibre individuals with a sufficient number 
of Independent Non-executive Directors.

Therefore, the Directors consider that the reasons for deviation 
from code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code are appropriate in such 
circumstances.

Note:  Mr. Wang Kan ceased to be the Chief Executive Officer and 
Mr. Shang Duoxu was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer, 
with effect from 28 June 2024.

CORPORATE PURPOSE, STRATEGY AND 
GOVERNANCE
Since 2022, the Board has established its purpose, values and 
strategy, and satisfied itself that these and the Company’s culture 
are aligned:

• Culture: be grateful in heart and keep promise in action

 

C1

C.2.1

C.2.1

  

 

• 
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• Purpose: manages to preserve as well as increase the value 
of all kinds of assets, maximize the Shareholder’s interests 
and become a first-class multi-business international 
enterprise

• Values: be grateful, trustworthy, robust and rewarding

• Strategy: strictly comply with the applicable laws and 
regulations, but also manage to develop our different 
business collaboratively

Based on the strategy above, while the Group will try to keep 
making profit from the business in Singapore, the Group will also 
fulfil the corporate social responsibility at the same time. The 
Group will also improve the quality and efficiency of workflow and 
optimize the management efficiency in Hong Kong. In addition 
to strictly comply with the applicable laws and regulations, we 
will also aim to maximize the Shareholders’ interests through 
a series of actions in an attempt to improve our market image 
and market value. The statements of the auditor on its reporting 
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements are set 
out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 72 to 80 in this 
Annual Report.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition
The Board currently comprises a total of seven Directors, being 
four Executive Directors and three Independent Non-executive 
Directors. The list of Directors is set out in the section headed 
“Corporate Information” of this annual report. In addition, an 
updated list of the Directors and their roles and functions is 
published on the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing 
Limited and the Company respectively.

The Board is characterised by significant diversity and has a 
balance of skills and experience appropriate for the requirements 
of the business of the Company. The Directors’ biographical 
information is set out in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief 
Executive Officer’s Biographies” of this annual report.

The Directors give sufficient time and attention to the affairs 
of the Group. All Directors are required to, at the time of their 
appointment and annually, disclose to the Company the number 
and the nature of offices held in public companies or organisations 
and other significant commitments with an indication of the time 
involved.
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3.09D

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief 
Executive Officer’s Biographies” as set out on pages 8 to 12 of 
this annual report, the Board members have no other financial, 
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each 
other.

The Board includes a balanced composition of Executive and 
Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive 
Directors) so that there is a sufficient independent element on the 
Board, which can effectively exercise independent judgment.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive  
Directors) are of sufficient number and calibre for their views to 
carry weight. The functions of Non-executive Directors include:

• participating in board meetings to bring an independent 
judgement to bear on issues of st rategy, po l icy, 
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments 
and standards of conduct;

• taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

• serving on the audit, remuneration, nomination and other 
governance committees, if invited; and

• scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving 
agreed corporate goals and objectives, and monitoring 
performance reporting.

The Non-executive Directors (including Independent Non-executive 
Directors) have made a positive contribution to the development 
of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent, 
constructive and informed comments. They give the Board and 
the committees on which they serve the benefit of their skills, 
expertise, varied backgrounds and qualifications through regular 
attendance and active participation.

The composition of the Board is disclosed, and the Independent 
Non-execut ive Directors are ident i f ied, in a l l  corporate 
communications to Shareholders.

Mr. Wang Qi and Mr. Huang Fenglin were appointed as Directors 
during the accounting period covered by this annual report. They 
had obtained the legal advice referred to in the Listing Rule 3.09D 
on 8 May 2024, and they had confirmed that they understood their 
obligations as Directors of the Company.
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Board Diversity
The Board Diversity Policy had been revised in 2022. It sets out 
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board composition with a 
view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development of the 
Company.

The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the 
consideration of a number of factors, including but not limited 
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, perspectives, skills, knowledge and 
length of service. The Company will also take into account factors 
based on its own business model and specific needs from time to 
time. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution 
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Board has complied with the Listing Rules for diversity of 
gender by appointing a female Director as at the date of this annual 
report.

Although the gender ratio (male vs. female) of the Board and 
senior management is 7:1, the Board believes that it is important 
to identify high calibre and suitable candidates into the Board 
according to the Directors’ Nomination Policy, rather than focusing 
on achieving a balanced gender ratio. As mentioned in the Board 
Diversity Policy, the factors for selecting high calibre candidates 
include cultural and educational background, professional 
experience, perspectives, skills, knowledge etc; while the factors 
for selecting appropriate candidate are based on the Company’s 
own business model and specific needs from time to time.

Furthermore, as of 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the 
workforce (male vs. female) was approximately 3:1. Notably, over 
79% of the workforce was coming from the logistics services 
sector, which is a traditional male-dominated industry. Rather than 
focusing solely on achieving a balanced gender ratio, the Group 
prioritizes hiring suitable talent to meet business needs. However, 
the Board remains committed to reviewing workforce composition 
regularly and will make efforts to promote gender diversity where 
possible.
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Directors’ Nomination Policy
The Directors’ Nomination Policy had been revised in 2022. It 
aims to set out the approach to guide the Nomination Committee 
in relation to selection, appointment and re-appointment of the 
Directors.

The criteria for evaluation, selection and recommendation for 
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board comprise the character 
and integrity, and qualifications (including experience). The criteria 
also include the factors mentioned in the Board Diversity Policy, i.e. 
to consider the gender, age, cultural and educational background. 
Moreover, commitment for responsibilities, potential contribution 
to the Board and other relevant factors will also be considered.

The evaluation and recommendation of retiring Director(s) for re-
appointment will consider whether such Director(s) continue(s) 
to satisfy the nomination criteria, and its overall contribution and 
service, which includes the level of participation and performance 
on the Board and/or its committees, and the attendance records of 
the relevant meetings.

If the retiring Director(s) is an Independent Non-executive 
Director(s), the Nomination Committee will evaluate further 
factors including the relevant provisions in the Listing Rules. If the 
individual will be holding his/her seventh or more listed company 
directorship, it will evaluate whether such individual will be able to 
devote sufficient time to the Board. In addition, if the individual has 
served more than nine years, whether he is still independent shall 
be evaluated likewise.

After considering the above factors, the Nomination Committee 
will recommend to the Board for the appointment of a Director in 
accordance with the following main procedures and process:

• to consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying 
or selecting suitable candidates (such as referrals, 
recommendations, etc.); 

• to evaluate the candidates (such as interviews, background 
checks, etc.);

• to pass resolutions for recommendation to the Board for 
appointment;
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• to provide information to the Remuneration Committee for 
consideration of remuneration package of such candidate; 
and

• to arrange for the candidate to be interviewed by the Board 
who are not members of the Nomination Committee.

The Board will be ultimately responsible for the selection, 
appointment and re-appointment of Directors. 

Role and Function of the Board and the Management
The Board is responsible for overall strategic formulation and 
performance monitoring of the Group. It delegates the day-to-
day operations of the Company to the Executive Committee and 
senior management within the control and authority framework 
set by the Board. In addition, the Board has also delegated 
various responsibilities to the Audit Committee, the Remuneration 
Committee and the Nomination Committee. Further details of 
these committees are set out in this corporate governance report.

Board Meetings
The Board meets regularly and holds at least four Board meetings 
a year. Additional meetings will be arranged, as and when required. 
The Directors can attend meetings in person or through electronic 
means of communication in accordance with the Articles of 
Association.

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in drawing up the 
agenda of each Board meeting. The draft agenda of each regular 
Board meeting will be sent to all Directors for review before the 
agenda is issued and all Directors may request for inclusion of 
other matters in the agenda. The Chairman will take into account 
the matters proposed by the Directors and where appropriate, 
approve the inclusion of such matters in the agenda of the Board 
meeting. Generally, at least 14-day notice of a regular Board 
meeting is given and the Company aims at giving reasonable 
notice for all other Board meetings. The Company also aims at 
sending the agenda and the accompanying board papers, which 
are prepared in a form and quality sufficient to enable the Board 
to make informed decisions on matters placed before it, to all 
Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a Board 
meeting. Where queries are raised by Directors, prompt and full 
responses will be given if possible.
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There have been procedures in place to enable Directors to seek 
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances 
at the Company’s expense. The Board shall resolve to, upon 
reasonable request, provide separate independent professional 
advice to Directors to assist them to perform their duties to the 
Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for taking minutes of 
Board meetings and Board committee meetings, draft and final 
versions of which would be sent to Directors for comments and 
records respectively, within a reasonable time after each meeting. 
Minutes are recorded in sufficient detail the matters considered 
and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by Directors 
or dissenting views (if any) expressed. Minutes of Board meetings 
and Board committee meetings are kept by the Company 
Secretary and are open for inspection by any Director/committee 
member.

If a substantial Shareholder or a Director has a conflict of 
interest in a matter to be considered by the Board (including a 
material transaction with connected persons) which the Board 
has determined to be material, the matter will be dealt with 
by a physical Board meeting, rather than a written resolution. 
Independent Non-executive Directors who, and whose associates, 
have no material interest in the transaction should be present at 
that Board meeting.

Except for those circumstances permitted by the Articles of 
Association and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, a 
Director shall not vote on any Board resolution approving any 
contract or arrangement or any other proposal in which he or any 
of his associates has a material interest nor shall he be counted in 
the quorum present at the meeting.

The Company has established mechanism in each Board meeting 
by encouraging Independent Non-executive Directors to express 
their independent views and input on each resolution. The 
Board will review the implementation and effectiveness of such 
mechanism on an annual basis.
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Attendance Records
During the financial year ended 31 December 2024, the Directors 
have made active contribution to the affairs of the Group and eight 
physical Board meetings were held to consider, among other 
things, various projects contemplated by the Group, and to review 
and approve the interim results and annual results of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ attendance in 2024 are as follows:

Number of meeting(s) 
attended/eligible to attend

   

Executive Directors
Wang Kan 8/8
Zhao Quan 8/8
Peng Biao (resigned on 10 May 2024) 5/5
Xu Xu (resigned on 10 May 2024) 5/5
Wang Qi (appointed on 10 May 2024) 3/3
Huang Fenglin (appointed on 10 May 2024) 3/3

Independent Non-executive Directors
Leung Shun Sang, Tony  

(retired on 27 June 2024)  
6/6

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin 8/8
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey 8/8
Liu Yifei 8/8

Access to Information
The Board is supplied with sufficient explanation and information 
by the management to enable the Board to make an informed 
assessment of financial and other information put before it for 
approval. The management provides all Board members with 
monthly updates which give a balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s performance, position and 
prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a whole 
and each Director to discharge their duties. Where any Director 
requires more information than is volunteered by the management, 
each Director has the right to separately and independently access 
to the Company’s senior management to make further enquiries if 
necessary.
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3.10(1) 3.10(2)

3.10A

3.13

Appointment and Re-election of Directors
Appointment of new Directors is a matter for consideration by 
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will give 
adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and review 
the profiles of the candidates and make recommendations to the 
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and nomination of 
Directors.

According to the Articles of Association, any Director so appointed 
by the Board shall hold office, in the case of either filling a casual 
vacancy or an addition to their number, until the next following 
annual general meeting of the Company who shall then be eligible 
for re-election at such annual general meeting. Every Director is 
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

All Directors (including all Non-executive Directors) have entered 
into service agreements or letters of engagement with the 
Company for a term of not more than three years (which have 
been mentioned in section headed “Directors’ and Chief Executive 
Officer’s Biographies” of the respective Director).

Independent Non-executive Directors
Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the 
Company has appointed three Independent Non-executive 
Directors and one of them has appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management 
expertise.

As required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules, the number of 
Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company represents 
at least one-third of the Board.

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company 
considers that all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are 
independent.

Any re-election of an Independent Non-executive Director who 
has served the Board for more than nine years, his/her further 
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be 
approved by Shareholders.
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Insurance for Directors’ and Officers’ Liability
Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities 
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group 
from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development
Every newly appointed Director will be given an introduction of 
regulatory requirements. The Directors are continually updated 
on the latest development of the Listing Rules, legal and other 
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance and upkeep of good 
corporate governance practice. The Directors are also encouraged 
to participate in continuous professional development to develop 
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company Secretary 
facilitates the induction and professional development of Directors.

All Directors have provided to the Company with their records of 
training received during the period from 1 January 2024 or the 
date of appointment as a Director to the date of resignation as a 
Director or 31 December 2024, where applicable, a summary of 
which is as follows:

Continuous 
professional development

Type(Note I) Subject(Note II)

Directors I II  

    

Wang Kan A, D 1
Zhao Quan B, D 1
Peng Biao (resigned on 10 May 2024) B 1
Wang Qi (appointed on 10 May 2024) A, B, D 1
Huang Fenglin (appointed on 10 May 2024) A, B, D 1
Leung Shun Sang, Tony  

(retired on 27 June 2024)  
B 1

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin A, D 1
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey A, B, D 1, 2, 3, 4
Liu Yifei A, D 1
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I

A: 

B: 
C: 
D: 

II

1: 
2: 
3: 
4: 

28

Note I:

A: Attending seminars, conferences, forums, in-house briefings or 
in-house training

B: Reading newspapers, journals and updates
C: Giving talks at seminars, conferences or forums
D: Others

Note II:

1: Laws, rules and regulations
2: Finance, accounting or taxation
3: Management
4: Businesses relating to the Company

CHAIRMAN
Except for the deviation stated on page 28, the roles of the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separate and 
exercised by different individuals to reinforce their independence 
and accountability. The names of the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer are set out in the section headed “Corporate 
Information” of this annual report.

The Articles of Association and the CG Code have stipulated the 
duties and responsibilities of the chairman of the Board. The Board 
believes that the Chairman can perform his role without conflict, 
and the Company’s previous disclosures regarding the roles of the 
Chairman continue to apply.

Due to work arrangement, Mr. Wang Kan, being the Chairman, 
held one meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors 
without the presence of other Directors in March 2025.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board has established the following committees to oversee 
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs and to assist in the 
execution of the Board’s responsibilities. All committees have their 
own terms of reference. All resolutions passed by the committees 
will be reported to the Board at the next Board meeting.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee was established in December 1998 
with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the 
Audit Committee are published on the websites of Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.
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• 

• 

• 

• 

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee were revised in 
January 2023. The principal duties of the Audit Committee include, 
amongst other things:

• overseeing the relationship with the Company’s auditor;

• reviewing the interim and annual financial statements;

• reviewing the Company’s financial reporting system and 
internal control procedures; and

• reviewing the arrangements that employees of the 
Company can use, in confidence, to raise concerns about 
possible improprieties in financial reporting, internal control 
or other matters.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate any 
activity within its terms of reference and the authority to obtain 
external legal or other independent professional advice, at the 
Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities if it considers 
necessary. It is given access to and assistance from the employees 
and reasonable resources to perform its duties properly.

The chairman of the Audit Committee is an Independent Non-
executive Director and the Audit Committee comprises the 
Independent Non-executive Directors. None of the members of 
the Audit Committee are former partners of the auditor of the 
Company. The members of the Audit Committee during 2024 and 
up to the date of this annual report are:

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman)
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony (ceased on 27 June 2024)
Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey
Ms. Liu Yifei (appointed on 27 June 2024)

During the year, five physical meetings of the Audit Committee 
were held and the attendance of the members of the Audit 
Committee are as follows:

Number of meeting(s) 
attended/eligible to attend

   

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman) 5/5
Leung Shun Sang, Tony  

(ceased on 27 June 2024)  
3/3

Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey 5/5
Liu Yifei (appointed on 27 June 2024) 2/2
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The major work performed by the Audit Committee during the year 
included, amongst other things, the following:

• reviewing the final results of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2023, the risk management and the internal 
control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal audit function, etc.;

• reviewing the interim results of the Group for the six months 
ended 30 June 2024, the risk management and the internal 
control systems, the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal audit function, etc.; and

• reviewing the internal controls review report and sharing 
the work, findings and implementation to the Board.

During the year, the Board had no disagreement with the Audit 
Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or 
dismissal of the external auditor.

Executive Committee
The Executive Committee was established in April 2005 with 
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its 
authorities and duties.

The Executive Committee has been conferred with the general 
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved 
for the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group 
and has been assigned with the responsibilities to perform the 
corporate governance duties as follows:

• to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices 
on corporate governance and make recommendations to 
the Board;

• to review and monitor the training and continuous 
professional development of Directors and senior 
management;

• to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices 
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

• to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and 
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the Group’s 
employees and Directors;
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• to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and 
disclosure in the corporate governance report; and

• to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that 
may from time to time be prescribed by the Board or 
contained in the constitution of the Company or imposed by 
legislation.

The Executive Committee comprises the Executive Directors 
(as appointed from time to time). The members of the Executive 
Committee during 2024 and up to the date of this annual report 
are:

Mr. Wang Kan (chairman)
Mr. Peng Biao (resigned on 10 May 2024)
Mr. Xu Xu (resigned on 10 May 2024)
Mr. Wang Qi (appointed on 10 May 2024)
Mr. Huang Fenglin (appointed on 10 May 2024)

During the year, no physical meeting of the Executive Committee 
was held. All the work performed by the Executive Committee 
during the year was passed by resolutions in writing.

Independent Investigation Committee
The Independent Investigation Committee was established in April 
2023 with specific written terms of reference which deal clearly 
with its authorities and duties.

The principal duties of the Independent Investigation Committee 
include:

• to make necessary enquiries about and/or investigate 
mat te rs  and even ts  re l a t i ng  to  the  commerc i a l 
substance of certain commodity trading transactions (the 
“Transactions”) and to take all action it sees fit in the 
interests of the Company;

• to obtain legal advice and/or appoint external independent 
party (the “Investigator”) to provide advice and assistance 
on matters relating to the Transactions;

• to review and comment on the findings of the Investigator;

• to discuss the findings of the Investigator with KPMG, the 
predecessor auditor of the Company;
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• to report on any irregularities identified by the Investigator 
to the Board;

• to authorise any further investigation that may be deemed 
necessary; and

• to report the findings of the Independent Investigation 
Committee to the Board and to make recommendations to 
the Board on the next steps of actions.

The Independent Investigation Committee comprises all the 
then Independent Non-executive Directors. The members of the 
Independent Investigation Committee during 2024 and up to the 
date of this annual report are:

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman)
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony (ceased on 27 June 2024)
Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey
Ms. Liu Yifei (appointed on 27 June 2024)

During the year, five physical meetings of the Independent 
Investigation Committee were held and the attendance of the 
members of the Independent Investigation Committee are as 
follows:

Number of meeting(s)
 attended/eligible to attend

   

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman)  5/5
Leung Shun Sang, Tony  

(ceased on 27 June 2024)  
3/3

Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey 5/5
Liu Yifei (appointed on 27 June 2024) 2/2

The major work of the Independent Investigation Committee 
during the year are as follows:

• receiving and reviewing the independent investigation 
report from the Investigator, including the key findings, and 
making recommendations to the Board; and

• reviewing the internal controls review report and sharing 
the work, findings and implementation to the Board.

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 
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Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee was established in April 2005 with 
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its 
authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Nomination 
Committee are published on the websites of Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include:

• reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board 
and making recommendations on any proposed changes 
to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy;

• identifying individuals suitably qualified to become Board 
members and selecting or making recommendations to the 
Board;

• making recommendations to the Board on the appointment 
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for 
Directors;

• assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive 
Directors; and

• reviewing the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate; and 
reviewing the measurable objectives that have been set for 
implementing the Board Diversity Policy, and the progress 
on achieving the objectives.

Where vacancies exist at the Board, candidates are proposed 
and put forward to the Nomination Committee for consideration. 
The recommendations of the Nomination Committee wil l 
then be tendered to the Board for approval. In considering the 
nomination of a new Director, the Nomination Committee will give 
adequate consideration to the Board Diversity Policy and take into 
account the qualification, ability, working experience, leadership 
and professional ethics of the candidates. In determining the 
independence of Directors, the Board follows the requirements set 
out in the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has explicit authority to seek any 
necessary information from the employees within its scope 
of duties and the authority to obtain external independent 
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its 
responsibilities if it considers necessary.
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The chairman of the Nomination Committee is the Chairman and 
the Independent Non-executive Directors constitute the majority 
of the Nomination Committee. The members of the Nomination 
Committee during 2024 and up to the date of this annual report 
are:

Mr. Wang Kan (chairman)
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony (ceased on 27 June 2024)
Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin
Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

During the year, no physical meeting of the Nomination Committee 
was held. All the work performed by the Nomination Committee 
during the year was passed by resolutions in writing.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee were revised 
in January 2023. The major work performed by the Nomination 
Committee during the year 2024 included, amongst other things, 
the following:

• assessing the independence of the Independent Non-
executive Directors;

• considering and making recommendations to the Board on 
the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting;

• considering and making recommendation to the Board for 
the appointment of Mr. Wang Qi and Mr. Huang Fenglin as 
Executive Directors; and

• considering and making recommendation to the Board 
for the appointment of Ms. Liu Yifei as a member each of 
the Audit Committee and the Independent Investigation 
Committee.

Note: 

The Nomination Committee performed the following work in January 2025:

• reviewing the structure and composition of the Board with due 
regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee was established in April 2005 with 
specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with its 
authorities and duties. The terms of reference of the Remuneration 
Committee are published on the websites of Hong Kong 
Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company respectively.

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include:

• making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s 
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and 
senior management of the Group;

• reviewing and approving the management’s remuneration 
proposals with reference to the Company’s goals and 
objectives;

• determining, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration 
packages of individual Executive Directors and senior 
management and making recommendations to the Board 
on the remuneration of Non-executive Directors;

• reviewing and approving compensation payable to Executive 
Directors and senior management and compensation 
arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors 
for misconduct; and

• ensuring that no Director or any of his/her associates is 
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may consult the Chairman and/or 
the Chief Executive Officer about their remuneration proposals 
for other Executive Directors. It has explicit authority to seek 
any necessary information from the employees within its scope 
of duties and the authority to obtain external independent 
professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to perform its 
responsibilities if it considers necessary.

The remuneration policies for the Company as well as the 
Directors are aligned with the market and reward for performance. 
The Company reviews the remuneration package annually, taking 
into consideration of the market practice, competitive market 
position and individual performance.
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The chairman of the Remuneration Committee is an Independent 
Non-executive Director and the Independent Non-executive 
Directors constitute the majority of the Remuneration Committee. 
The members of the Remuneration Committee during 2024 and up 
to the date of this annual report are:

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin (chairman)
Mr. Wang Kan 
Mr. Leung Shun Sang, Tony (ceased on 27 June 2024)
Mr. Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey

During the year, no physical meeting of the Remuneration 
Committee was held. All the work performed by the Remuneration 
Committee during the year was passed by resolutions in writing.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee were 
revised in January 2023. The major work performed by the 
Remuneration Committee during the year 2024 included, amongst 
other things, the following:

• considering and approving the terms of the engagement 
letter of Mr. Wang Qi and Mr. Huang Fenglin;

• considering and approving the additional remuneration of 
Ms. Liu Yifei as member of the Audit Committee; and

• considering and approving the terms of the engagement 
letter of Mr. Shang Duoxu.

Note: 

The Remuneration Committee performed the following work in January 
2025:

• considering, reviewing and determining the remuneration of the 
Executive Directors for the year 2025; and 

• making recommendations to the Board on the directors’ fee of the 
Independent Non-executive Directors for the year 2025.

• assessing the performance of the Executive Directors and the 
Chief Executive Officer and determining their bonuses.

Details of remuneration paid to Directors and senior management 
for the year are set out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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In addition, the Company has established a directors’ and senior 
management’s remuneration policy in 2002. In proposing such 
remuneration, it should take reference to:

• the then prevailing market conditions;

• the performance of the Company;

• the individual performance of the Director or the senior 
management; and

• other factors to be determined from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company Secretary supports the Board by ensuring good 
information flow within the Board and that board policies 
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also 
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman and/
or the Chief Executive Officer on corporate governance and the 
implementation of the CG Code. The Company Secretary is an 
employee of the Company and has day-to-day knowledge of the 
Group’s affairs.

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and the Chief 
Executive Officer. All Directors also have access to the advice 
and services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board 
procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations, are 
followed. The selection, appointment and dismissal of the 
Company Secretary are subject to the Board approval.

The Company Secretary has confirmed that he has taken no less 
than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the year of 
2024.
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DIVIDEND POLICY
In compliance with the requirement set out in code provision F.1.1 
of the CG Code, the Board adopted the Dividend Policy. According 
to the Dividend Policy, in proposing any dividend payout, the Board 
shall also take into account the following criteria, including:

• the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

• general business conditions and strategies; 

• distributable profit of the Company and each of the other 
members of the Group; 

• the Group’s expected working capital requirements and 
future expansion plans;

• the Group’s indebtedness level, debt to equity ratios, 
liquidity position and future commitments at the time of 
declaration of dividend;

• any contractual restrictions on payment of dividend (may be 
imposed by the Group’s lenders or other third parties);

• taxation considerations and legal and regulatory restrictions;

• general economic conditions and other internal or external 
factors that may have an impact on the business or financial 
performance and position of the Company; and

• other factors that the Board deems appropriate.
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CWT SG

13 14
14A

CWT SG

INTERNAL CONTROL, RISK MANAGEMENT, 
AND INTERNAL AUDIT
The Board believes that a robust system of internal control 
and risk management can enhance the operational efficiency 
and effectiveness of the Group, as well as safeguard the 
Group’s assets and the Shareholders’ investments. The Board 
acknowledges that the Board is responsible for ensuring, 
maintaining, and overseeing the overall system of internal control 
and risk management within the Group. Such systems are 
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and 
not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss. The 
Audit Committee assists the Board in its oversight role regarding 
internal control and risk management within the Group, reviewing 
and assessing the overall effectiveness of the internal control and 
risk management systems.

The internal contro l and r isk management systems are 
documented and incorporated into the Group’s business 
authorisation and approval process, becoming an integral part of 
the overall operation of the Group.

The Group has its authorisation and approval process. This process 
establishes authorisation limits for senior management of the 
Group’s core entity, CWT SG, as well as for the heads of major 
business units/departments. It covers areas such as investments, 
liquidation, long-term strategic plans, short-term plans/budgets, 
human resources management, capital and expenditure. These 
authorisations are also fully aligned with the relevant provisions of 
Chapter 13, Chapter 14, and Chapter 14A under the Listing Rules, 
outlining the approval procedures to be followed while complying 
with the Listing Rules.

Each business segment is required to prepare an annual business 
plan and budget. During the preparation of these plans, the 
Company, senior management of CWT SG, and the heads 
of business segment identify and assess any potential risks, 
implement corresponding measures, and strive to manage, control, 
or mitigate those risks.
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CGST
CGST

CGST

The Board and the Company’s management review monthly 
management reports on the operational and financial performance 
of each business segment, using the relevant business plans 
and budgets to assess the actual performance of the Group. 
The Company’s management, along with senior management 
from each business segment, hold regular meetings to address 
issues under monitoring, identify areas for improvement, and 
take appropriate actions. They also review and evaluate the 
effectiveness of all significant monitoring aspects.

The Group has a risk management framework at the group 
level to strengthen the risk management processes, including 
risk identification, assessment, control, monitoring, and follow-
up. This framework aims to better coordinate and supervise 
risk management activities from a strategic perspective. The 
Company’s management supports the Board in ensuring and 
maintaining sound internal control and risk management functions. 
They continuously review and monitor the internal control and 
risk management systems and procedures to ensure that they 
reasonably safeguard the Group against significant errors and 
potential risks. The Company further developed explicit policies 
such as the “Policy on Handling of Confidential Information, 
Information Disclosure and Securities”,  “Connected and Related 
Party Transactions Policy”, “Notifiable Transactions Policy” and 
“Communication Policy”, based on established best practices. 
These policies provide clear written guidelines for handling and 
disclosing related transactions and inside information, as well as 
procedures for internal control.

The Group has a corporate governance services team (“CGST”), 
consisting of professionals from the Group’s legal and internal 
audit, to enhance and systematise internal controls and corporate 
governance within the Group. The CGST performs internal audit 
services, reviews internal control procedures, and provides legal 
services such as reviewing legal documents, initiating/coordinating 
external legal reviews and services, in collaboration with external 
legal advisors to ensure that the Company’s business operations 
comply with relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong, 
Singapore, and other jurisdictions if applicable. The internal audit 
function operates independently of the Company’s operations, 
continuously monitoring internal control and risks faced by the 
Group, and reporting to the Audit Committee. They also provide 
recommendations for improvements to the internal control and risk 
management systems based on their findings.
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Throughout the year under review, the Board has continuously 
reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems 
through the Audit Committee and the Company’s management, 
based on the monthly and semi-annual internal audit reports 
submitted. The Board considers these systems to be effective 
and adequate. The Board also believes that sufficient resources, 
employee qualifications and experience, training programs, and 
budget have been provided for the Company’s accounting and 
financial reporting functions.

Whistleblowing Policy and Anti-Corruption Policy
The Company has:

(i) a whist leblowing pol icy for employees and other 
stakeholders of the Company to raise concerns to the Audit 
Committee, and such policy has been uploaded to the 
website of Company for easy access; and

(ii) an anti-corruption policy to promote and support the 
relevant laws and regulations.

Internal Control Review
In the years 2023 and 2024, the Company engaged an independent 
internal control consultant to review the internal control systems 
and procedures of the Group. The fol lowing policies and 
procedures were established and voluntarily disclosed hereunder:

• business continuity and disaster recovery plan

• business investment management policy and procedures

• cash flow management system

• communication policy

• connected and related party transaction policy

• enterprise risk management policy

• financial reporting and disclosure manual

• notifiable transaction policy
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As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 14 May 
2024, the independent internal control consultant completed the 
review of the following internal control aspects:

• corporate controls

• financial reporting and disclosure controls

• revenue management

• procurement and expenditure management

• inventory management

• contract work-in-progress management

• project management 

• cash and treasury management

• fixed assets management

• human resources and payroll management

• management oversight over subsidiaries

The Group has implemented remediation measures to address all 
the key internal control findings identified, as part of its ongoing 
efforts to ensure the effectiveness of internal controls.

As of the date of this annual report, the Group has fully addressed 
the key internal control findings disclosed in the announcement 
dated 14 May 2024, as outlined below.

1. Lack of Formal Mechanisms to Handle Certain 
Corporate Level Controls and Deal with the Potential 
Compliance Issue with the Listing Rules

The Company has established and adopted relevant 
formal mechanisms in corporate controls, specifically the 
enterprise risk management policy, connected and related 
party transaction policy, notifiable transaction policy, 
communication policy and business continuity and disaster 
recovery plan. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

1. 
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The risk assessment and the review of risk registers 
from subsidiaries were conducted in the third quarter of  
2024. The Company is committed to conducting the risk 
assessment review at least biennially.

2. Lack of Formally Written Policies and Procedures

The Group has established and updated all relevant written 
policies and procedures covering the areas of (i) corporate 
controls, (ii) financial reporting and disclosure controls, (iii) 
revenue management, (iv) cash and treasury management 
and (v) human resources and payroll management. These 
policies and procedures have been effectively implemented.

3. Insufficient Evidence of Performance of Controls

The Group has implemented correct ive act ions to 
ensure that sufficient evidence of control performance 
is consistently maintained in the areas of (i) corporate 
controls, (ii) financial reporting and disclosure controls, (iii) 
revenue management, (iv) procurement and expenditure 
management, (v) cash and treasury management and (vi) 
human resources and payroll management.

4. Inadequate Segregation of Duties

The Group has implemented an appropriate level of 
segregation of duties in the areas of financial reporting and 
disclosure controls and cash and treasury management.

5. Inadequate Senior Management Oversight by the 
Company Management on Its Subsidiaries

The Company has estab l i shed and implemented 
appropriate measures and mechanisms to ensure effective 
management oversight of its subsidiaries. This includes 
the establishment of a business management committee 
to oversee the subsidiaries’ financial and business matters  
through active involvement in the decision-making process.

2. 

(i) (ii)
(iii) (iv)
(v)

3. 

(i) (ii)
(iii) (iv)

(v)
(vi)

4. 

5. 
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 MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES 
TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code as a code of conduct 
of the Company for Directors’ securities transactions.

Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, all the Directors have 
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code 
and the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities 
transactions throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

Employees who are likely to possess inside information in relation 
to the Company or its Shares are prohibited from dealing in Shares 
during the relevant period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION
During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s 
auditor are set out as follows:

HK$’000
Services rendered   

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited 
 – Audit and interim review services  – 4,002

Other member firms of Baker Tilly International Baker Tilly International
 – Audit services  – 5,243
 – Non-audit services  – 402

Other External Auditors
 – Audit services  – 5,267
 – Non-audit services  – 315 

Total 15,229
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(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) www.cwtinternational.com 

(iv) 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR  
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the 
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group on a going concern basis and 
in presenting the annual and interim reports and other financial 
disclosures required under the Listing Rules. The Directors aim to 
present a balanced, clear and understandable assessment of the 
Group’s position and prospects.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
The Board adopted the Shareholders’ Communication Policy 
reflecting the current practices of the Company for communication 
with its Shareholders. Such policy aims at ensuring that the 
Shareholders are provided with ready, equal and timely access 
to balanced and understandable information about the Company, 
in order to enable the Shareholders to exercise their rights in an 
informed manner, and to allow the Shareholders to engage actively 
with the Company.

To foster effect communications with Shareholders, the channels 
for shareholders and/or stakeholders to communicate their views, 
and solicit and understand their views include the following:

(i) Through the enquiries to the share registrar of the Company

(ii) Through the corporate communication of the Company by 
providing extensive information in its annual and reports 
and announcements

(iii) Through the investor relation’s section of the Company’s 
website at www.cwtinternational.com

(iv) Through the participation of the shareholders’ meeting
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The Shareholders’ Communication Policy has been uploaded to the 
website of the Company as an effective means to convey to the 
Shareholders and other stakeholders.

The implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders’ 
Communication Policy was reviewed and the results were 
satisfactory.

The annual general meeting of the Company provides a useful 
forum for the Shareholders to exchange views with the Board. 
All Directors will make an effort to attend. External auditor will 
also attend the annual general meeting to address Shareholders’ 
queries. In case of any general meeting to approve a connected 
transaction or any other transaction that is subject to independent 
Shareholders’ approval, members of the independent Board 
committees will also make an effort to attend to address 
Shareholders’ queries.

During the year, one general meeting was held, which was the 
annual general meeting held on 27 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM”).

The auditor of the Company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, 
attended the 2024 AGM. Details of the Directors’ attendance at 
the general meeting of the Company held during the year are as 
follows:

Attendance 
at the 

2024 AGM

Directors   

Executive Directors
Wang Kan ✓

Zhao Quan ✓

Peng Biao (resigned on 10 May 2024)
Xu Xu (resigned on 10 May 2024)
Wang Qi (appointed on 10 May 2024) ✓

Huang Fenglin (appointed on 10 May 2024) ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Leung Shun Sang, Tony  

(retired on 27 June 2024)  
✓

Liem Chi Kit, Kevin ✓

Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey ✓

Liu Yifei ✓
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During the year, the Company has sent the notice of the 2024 
AGM to its Shareholders at least 21 days before the 2024 AGM. 
Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2024 AGM on each 
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual 
Directors, and all resolutions put to vote at a general meeting 
were taken by way of a poll. At the 2024 AGM, the chairman of 
the meeting explained the procedures for conducting a poll and 
answered questions from the Shareholders on voting by poll, if 
any. The results of the poll were published on the websites of 
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company 
respectively.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convene a General Meeting
Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights 
of all Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings can 
request the Directors to call a general meeting pursuant to section 
566 of the Companies Ordinance. The request must state the 
general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting, and 
may include the text of a resolution that may properly be moved 
and is intended to be moved at the meeting. Such request must 
be authenticated by the Shareholder(s) making it and sent to the 
Company in hard copy form or in electronic form for the attention 
of the Company Secretary.

Put Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings
Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights 
of all Shareholders or at least 50 Shareholders who have a relevant 
right to vote at a general meeting can request the Company to 
circulate to the Shareholders a statement of not more than 1,000 
words with respect to a matter mentioned in a proposed resolution 
or other business to be dealt with at that meeting pursuant to 
Section 580 of the Companies Ordinance. The expenses shall be 
borne by the Shareholder(s) making the request unless the meeting 
concerned is an annual general meeting and the statement is 
received by the Company in time for sending with the notice of the 
meeting. The request must identify the statement to be circulated, 
and must be authenticated by the Shareholder(s) making it and 
sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form for 
the attention of the Company Secretary at least 7 days before the 
meeting to which it relates.
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MUFG 
Corporate Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty 
Limited 7

Shareholder(s) representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights 
of all Shareholders or at least 50 Shareholders who have a right to 
vote on the resolution at an annual general meeting can request 
the Company to give to the Shareholders notice of a resolution 
that may properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that 
meeting pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance. 
The request must identify the resolution of which notice is to be 
given, and must be authenticated by the Shareholder(s) making it 
and sent to the Company in hard copy form or in electronic form 
for the attention of the Company Secretary no later than 6 weeks 
before the annual general meeting to which the requests relate, or 
if later, the time at which notice of the meeting is given.

Shareholders’ Enquiries
Specific enquiries or suggestions by the Shareholders can be sent 
in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at our registered 
office or by email to our Company. In addition, Shareholders 
can contact MUFG Corporate Market Services (Hong Kong) Pty 
Limited, the share registrar of the Company, if they have any 
enquiries about their shareholdings and entitlement to dividend. 
Relevant contact details are set out on page 7 of this annual report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents 
during the year.
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial 
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is a Hong Kong-based investment holding company 
principally engaged in integrated logistics services and related 
engineering services. The Company is also engaged in the 
affiliated business of commodity marketing and financial services. 
The activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 38 to 
the consolidated financial statements respectively.

RESULTS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 
and the financial status of the Group as at that date are set out in 
the financial statements on pages 81 to 227 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in 
respect of the year (2023: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW
A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of 
the performance for the year ended 31 December 2024 and an 
indication of likely future development in the business of the 
Group are provided in the Chairman’s Statement and Management 
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report. The particulars of 
the matters that are material for appreciation of the state of affairs 
of the Group are set out in the Chairman’s Statement. In particular 
the renewal of the Promissory Note is detailed in Note 27(a) to the 
consolidated financial statements. Description of the principal risks 
and uncertainties facing the Group can be found throughout this 
annual report, in particular Notes 2, 3, and 36 to the consolidated 
financial statements. An analysis using financial key performance 
indicators is provided in the Financial Highlights and the 
Management Discussion and Analysis of this annual report. 

38

81 227

27(a)

2 3 36
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The Group is committed to promote environmental policies, during 
the year:

1. Commodity Marketing
Commodity marketing business and its employees operate 
in accordance with code of ethics and business conduct 
policy and corporate and social responsibility policy. 
The policy documents state that the company strives 
to minimize detrimental environmental issues and is 
committed to meeting all environmental laws and legislation 
in the countries and regions in which it operates. There had 
been no reported environmental issues that the operating 
company is aware of during the year 2024.

2. Logistics Services
We conform with environmental regulations and take 
responsibi l i ty in the way we operate to minimise 
environmental impact. Our environment, health and safety 
management policies guide us in our efforts to provide a 
safe and environmental-friendly workplace. Through the 
use of green features and more fuel-efficient strategy, 
we reduce emissions from our warehouse and transport 
operations. We also actively promote reduce, reuse and 
recycle work practices. There were no deviations from our 
environmental and safety policies and practices during the 
year under review. 

3. Financial Services
Due to the nature of its business, financial services 
business does not have any environmental policies in place.

4. Engineering Services
We continue to maintain our ISO standards certification 
on environmental, quality, occupational health and safety, 
including business continuity management systems. We 
have been accredited with certified facilities management 
company (certified) status by Singapore International 
Facility Management Association and also ISO 55001: 
Asset Management System to develop the accountability of 
assets.

1. 

2. 

3. 

4. 

ISO

ISO 55001
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1. 

2. 

3. 

Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd.
Straits Financial LLC

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group complied 
with all relevant applicable laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the Group:

1. Commodity Marketing
Commodity marketing business and its employees operate 
in accordance with code of ethics and business conduct 
policy, corporate and social responsibility policy, and global 
anti-corruption policy. The policy documents state the 
company’s commitment to obeying the laws of Switzerland, 
Singapore and other countries in which commodity 
marketing conducts business, and for its actions to be 
guided by the virtues of good citizenship. There had been 
no reported breaches of law that the operating company is 
aware of during the year 2024.

2. Logistics Services
We comply with applicable laws and regulations in countries 
where we operate. In Singapore, where our core operations 
are based, legislations related to our business nature mainly 
include workplace safety and health, environment, road 
traffic and fire safety. To the best of our knowledge, there 
was no serious breach that will materially affect business 
operations during the year 2024.

3. Financial Services
Financial services business provides financial services and 
trading access to the global derivatives markets in general. 
Our regulated entities Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd. 
and Straits Financial LLC come under the regulatory ambit 
of the Monetary Authority of Singapore and the Commodity 
Futures Trading Commission in the United States 
respectively. These entities are subjected to regulatory 
reporting obligations throughout the year. For the year 
under review, business operations have been compliant, 
and there were no significant regulatory breaches that have 
hindered or threaten to hinder the continuity of the business 
and existing licenses. 
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4. 

228

15

32

87 90
32

1,841,064 426,260

4. Engineering Services
As a responsible company, we adhere to employment and 
trade union legislations in Singapore, as well as applicable 
business regulations relating to our industry. We value 
and foster positive relationships with our employees, 
customers, suppliers and subcontractors. We also work 
with the local union and the government to support tripartite 
partnership among the employer, employees and the 
authorities. We uphold integrity, fairness and transparency 
in our dealings with our stakeholders and expect the same 
from them. There had been no reported breach of law 
committed during in the year 2024.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities 
of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 228 
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the 
Group during the year are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during 
the year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the 
Company during the year are set out in the Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Equity on pages 87 to 90 of this annual 
report and in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements, 
respectively.

DONATIONS
Donations made by the Group during the year for charitable 
purpose amounted to approximately HK$1,841,064 (2023: 
HK$426,260).
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104(A)

(www.cwtinternational.com)

DIRECTORS OF THE COMPANY
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual 
report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Wang Kan
Zhao Quan
Peng Biao (resigned on 10 May 2024)
Xu Xu (resigned on 10 May 2024)
Wang Qi (appointed on 10 May 2024)
Huang Fenglin (appointed on 10 May 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Leung Shun Sang, Tony (retired on 27 June 2024)
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey
Liu Yifei

In accordance with article 104(A) of the Articles of Association, 
Mr. Zhao Quan and Ms. Liu Yifei will retire, and are eligible for re-
election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Mr. Liem Chi Kit, Kevin will also retire at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting, but will not offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES
A l ist of names of the di rectors who held off ice in the 
Company’s subsidiaries during the year and up to the date 
of this annual report is available on the Company’s website 
(www.cwtinternational.com).

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS
No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting has a service agreement with the Company, 
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without 
payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of 
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company 
were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND 
DEBENTURES
As at 31 December 2024, none of the Directors or chief executives 
had any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying 
Shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as 
recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of 
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

No right to subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company 
has been granted by the Company to, nor have any such rights 
been exercised by, any Directors or chief executives (including 
their spouses or children under 18 years of age) during the year 
ended 31 December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES 
OR DEBENTURES
At no time during the year was the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries, its parent company or any of its fellow subsidiaries 
was a party to any arrangement of which object was to enable the 
Directors or their respective spouses or children under 18 years of 
age to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or 
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.



652024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

 
 

 
 

 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, 
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF 
SIGNIFICANCE
No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance 
(significant in relation to the Group’s business) entered into by the 
Company, any of its subsidiaries, its parent company or any of its 
fellow subsidiaries in which a Director or an entity connected with 
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, 
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE BETWEEN 
THE COMPANY OR ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
AND A CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER OR 
ANY OF ITS SUBSIDIARIES
During the financial year, there was no contract of significance 
between the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, and the 
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING 
BUSINESSES
During the year, no Director has been recorded as having interests 
in the businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either 
directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Appropriate insurance cover on directors’ and officers’ liabilities 
has been in force to protect the Directors and officers of the Group 
from their risk exposure arising from the businesses of the Group.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF 
SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE UNDER  
THE SFO
As at 31 December 2024, to the best knowledge of the Company 
and according to the information as shown only in the register 
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO, the following 
companies and persons had interests in the Shares and/or 
underlying Shares which fell to be disclosed to the Company under 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO:

Long Positions in the Shares/Underlying Shares

Name of Shareholder
Capacity in which 
interests were held Class of Shares

Number of 
Shares/

underlying 
Shares

Interests as to % 
of the issued 

share capital of 
the Company as at 
31 December 2024 Note

      

Hong Kong HNA Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1

HNA Holding International Co., Limited
 (“HNA Holding International”)

Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1

HNA Logistics Group Co., Ltd.* 
 (“HNA Logistics”)

Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1

HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd.* 
 (“HNA Holding Group”)

Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 4,734,008,489 41.53% 1

Shanghai Daxinhua Investment 
 Management Co., Ltd.*
 (“Shanghai Daxinhua”)

Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 1,109,244,000 9.73% 1

 

HNA Express Investment (Shanghai) 
 Co., Ltd.* (“HNA Express”)

Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 1,109,244,000 9.73% 1

( )
 

HNA Asset Management Group Co., Ltd.
 (“HNA Asset Management”)

Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 1,109,244,000 9.73% 1
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100%

100%
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100%
4,734,008,489

41.53%

100%
43.48%

45.65% 10.87%

1,109,244,000 9.73%

Name of Shareholder
Capacity in which 
interests were held Class of Shares

Number of 
Shares/

underlying 
Shares

Interests as to % 
of the issued 

share capital of 
the Company as at 
31 December 2024 Note

      

HNA Group Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 1,109,244,000 9.73% 1 

HNA Trust Management Interests of controlled 
 corporations

Ordinary shares 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1

CITIC Trust Corporation Ltd.* 
 (“CITIC Trust”)

Trustee of a trust Ordinary shares 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1

Everbright Xinglong Trust Co., Ltd.* 
 (“Everbright Xinglong”)

Trustee of a trust Ordinary shares 5,843,252,489 51.26% 1

Note:

1. As at 31 December 2024, the trustees of the Trust were CITIC 
Trust and Everbright Xinglong (the “Trustees”). The Trust is 
created for the implementation of the Restructuring Plan and for 
the benefit of all the creditors of the 321 companies (including 
HNA Group). The Trust is the actual shareholder of HNA Trust 
Management, and HNA Trust Management is established as the 
holding company of 321 companies pursuant to the Restructuring 
Plan. HNA Trust Management directly owns 100% shares in each 
of HNA Holding Group, HNA Group, HNA Asset Management and 
HNA Capital Group Co., Ltd* (“HNA Capital”) (

) respectively. For details, please refer to the announcements 
of the Company dated 31 January 2021, 10 February 2021, 15 
March 2021, 25 October 2021 and 1 November 2021.

HNA Holding Group directly owns 100% shares of HNA Logistics, 
which in turn directly owns 100% shares of HNA Holding 
International, a company that directly owns 100% shares of Hong 
Kong HNA. Hong Kong HNA beneficially owns 4,734,008,489 
Shares (being 41.53%).

HNA Asset Management directly owns 100% shares of HNA 
Express, which in turn directly owns approximately 43.48% shares 
of Shanghai Daxinhua. HNA Group directly owns approximately 
45.65% shares of Shanghai Daxinhua. The remaining approximately 
10.87% shares of Shanghai Daxinhua is held by HNA Capital. 
Shanghai Daxinhua beneficially owns 1,109,244,000 Shares (being 
9.73%).
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PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company 
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest 
practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report, there is a 
sufficiency of public float of the Company’s securities as required 
under the Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF  
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, 
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities (whether 
on the Stock Exchange or otherwise) during the year ended 31 
December 2024.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
At the end of the reporting period, the Company did not have any 
reserves available for distribution as calculated in accordance with 
the relevant provisions of the Companies Ordinance.

The Company’s capital reserve represents a non-distributable 
reserve.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, MAJOR 
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHERS
In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest 
customers accounted for less than 30% of the total sales from 
continuing operations for the year. Purchases from the Group’s 
five largest suppliers accounted for less than 30% of the total 
purchases relating to continuing operations for the year. None of 
the Directors or any of their close associates or any Shareholders 
(which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% 
of the Company’s issued Shares) had any interest in the Group’s 
five largest customers and suppliers.
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Commodity Marketing
Commodity marketing business operates its business with 
integrity, fairness and openness, guided by its code of ethics 
and business conduct. We treat all employees, customers and 
suppliers equitably, honestly, and with good management in order 
to ensure a harmonious and safe working environment. There 
were neither significant infringements nor deviation from our usual 
practices that the relevant company is aware of during the course 
of 2024.

Logistics Services
We are committed to a conducive working environment and treat 
all our stakeholders with fairness and integrity. We engage with 
employees, customers and suppliers to review processes and 
improve performance while forging strong relationships. Our active 
interactions with stakeholders keep us on top of things and help 
shape our business plans and strategies. No anomalies with regard 
to our stakeholder management and business conduct were 
brought to our attention during the year under review.

Financial Services
We are committed to the ethical treatment of all our stakeholders. 
For our employees, we are committed to honesty, just 
management and fairness, providing a safe environment, and 
respecting the dignity due to everyone. The relevant company 
strictly observes all safe management requirements, to ensure 
the safety of our employees and business continuity. For our 
customers, we value them as our business partners and are 
committed to providing them with value for money services. For 
our suppliers, we value them as our business partners and are 
committed to fair competition and the sense of responsibility 
required of a good customer and partner.

Engineering Services
We are collaborating with local companies on projects aimed 
at providing waste-to-energy solutions for our customers’ 
assets. This will reduce carbon emissions and enable us and our 
customers to create a sustainable and greener environment for 
future generations through technology and innovation.
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CWT Globelink Pte. Ltd.
CWT Globelink
Joaquín Pueyo Giménez Giménez

CWT Globelink Giménez
Globelink Uniexco, S.L. GL Uniexco 360

GL Uniexco 30%
4,800,000 41,040,000

CWT Globelink GL Uniexco
86% GL Uniexco CWT 

Globelink
CWT Globelink GL Uniexco

Giménez
GL Uniexco 44%

Giménez
14A

37(a) (b)
(c)

14A

CONNECTED TRANSACTION
The following is the connected transaction during the year:

On 8 January 2024, CWT Globelink Pte. Ltd. (“CWT Globelink”), 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and 
Mr. Joaquín Pueyo Giménez (“Mr. Giménez”) entered into a sale 
and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”). 
Pursuant to the Sale and Purchase Agreement, CWT Globelink 
agreed to acquire, and Mr. Giménez agreed to sell, 360 shares 
of Globelink Uniexco, S.L. (“GL Uniexco”) (representing 30% of 
the total issued shares of GL Uniexco) at a total consideration of 
EUR4,800,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$41,040,000). Upon 
completion, CWT Globelink would hold 86% of the issued share 
capital of GL Uniexco and GL Uniexco would remain as a subsidiary 
of CWT Globelink and the Group. The consideration amount was 
supported by internal resources of CWT Globelink. As GL Uniexco 
is a subsidiary of the Group and Mr. Giménez held 44% of the 
issued share capital of the GL Uniexco before the entering into 
of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, thus Mr. Giménez was a 
connected person of the Company at the subsidiary level. As such, 
the entering into of the Sale and Purchase Agreement constituted 
a connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 14A of the 
Listing Rules. For further details, please refer to the announcement 
of the Company dated 8 January 2024.

There was no related party transaction in Note 37(a), (b) and (c) of 
the consolidated financial statements which took place during the 
year constitutes connected transaction or continuing connected 
transaction under the Listing Rules. The Company has complied 
with the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing 
Rules during the year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the 
Corporate Governance Report on pages 28 to 58 of this annual 
report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There was no significant events occurring after the reporting date.

AUDITOR
At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 15 
December 2023, KPMG retired and Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited 
was appointed as auditor of the Company. Save as disclosed 
above, there was no change in the Company’s auditor in the past 
three years.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited will retire and, being eligible, will 
offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting, at which a resolution for re-appointment of 
Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company will be 
proposed.

By order of the Board
Wang Kan
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2025

* For identification purpose only

28 58

* 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of
CWT International Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CWT 
International Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out 
on pages 81 to 227, which comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting 
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true 
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as 
at 31 December 2024 and of its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and 
have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong 
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in 
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent 
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

CWT International Limited

81 227 C W T 
International Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

  
Recognition and cut-off measurement of 
commodity marketing revenue

We identified recognition and cut-off measurement of commodity 
marketing revenue as a key audit matter as it is quantitatively 
significant to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income. In addition, the volume of transactions 
increases the risk of error in the recognition of revenue and 
judgement is involved in estimating the price adjustments of 
affected commodities at the end of the reporting period. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recorded commodity 
marketing revenue of HK$32,108,541,000.

 32,108,541,000

Commodity marketing revenue generated from sales of metal 
concentrates with physical delivery are recognised at the point of 
transfer of control of the commodity. The Group estimates the fair 
value of the consideration for each transaction with reference to 
the forward price for the month of settlement, and provisionally 
estimates the quality and quantity of the commodity. These 
estimates are provisional as they are subject to a final assay and 
weight certificates carried out by an independent third party. At 
settlement, the amount of the receivable is fixed based on the 
spot price of the commodity at certain dates and the confirmed 
metal contents and quantities with any differences between the 
actual and provisional sales amounts being recognised in revenue.

 

Our audit procedures to assess the recognition 
and cut-of f  measurement of  commodi ty 
marketing revenue included the following:

• evaluating the design and implementation 
of key internal controls which govern the 
recognition and cut-off measurement of 
commodity marketing revenue;

• 

• i nspec t i ng  the sa le  and pu rchase 
agreements, on a sample basis for each 
type of commodity marketing transactions, 
to understand the terms and evaluate the 
appropriateness of revenue recognition, 
measurement and presentation with 
reference to the requirements of the 
prevailing accounting standards;

• 

• comparing, on a sample basis, revenue 
transactions recorded during the year 
with the underlying sale and purchase 
agreements, bills of lading, invoices and 
bank-in slips for settled balance and 
assessing whether the related revenue 
had been recognised in accordance with 
the Group’s revenue recognition policies; 

• 
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The key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit

  
Recognition and cut-off measurement of 
commodity marketing revenue (continued)

An analysis and accounting policy of the Group’s revenue for the 
year is set out in Notes 2(v)(iii) and 4 to the consolidated financial 
statements respectively.

2(v)(iii) 4

• comparing, on a sample basis, specific 
revenue transactions recorded before and 
after the financial year end date with the 
underlying sale and purchase agreements 
and bills of lading to determine whether 
the related revenue had been recognised 
in the appropriate financial period; and

• 

• evaluating the accuracy of the inputs 
adopted by management in valuing 
provisional sales amounts by agreeing, 
on a sample basis, i) the provisional 
prices to the forward prices provided by 
brokers; and ii) quantities and qualities of 
commodities to underlying documents 
such as sale agreements and the final 
assay and weight certificates.

• i)
ii)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises all the information included in the annual 
report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not 
cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that 
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparat ion of the 
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the 
HKICPA and the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for such 
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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405

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS 
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors 
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging 
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made 
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We 
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any 
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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• 

• 
 

• 

• 

 

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 
related to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern.
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• 

•  

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENT (continued)

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the f inancial 
information of the entities or business units within the 
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group 
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and review of the audit work performed for 
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence and communicate with them all relationships and 
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, 
we determine those matters that were of most significance in 
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent 
auditor’s report is Chu, Johnny Chun Yin.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
Chu, Johnny Chun Yin
Practising certificate number P08355 P08355
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2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Continuing operations
Revenue 4 38,885,894 37,226,295
Cost of sales (37,074,815) (35,580,059)  

Gross profit 1,811,079 1,646,236
Other income 6 620,332 505,175
Other net losses 7 (43,161) (234,886)
Selling and distribution costs (497,261) (464,883)
Administrative expenses (841,328) (795,267)
Finance costs 8 (585,005) (521,251)
Share of profits less losses of associates, 
 net of tax

 
64,315 38,571

Share of profits less losses of joint 
 venture, net of tax

 
(38,508) 5,670  

Profit before taxation 9 490,463 179,365
Income tax expense 10 (142,156) (121,642)  

Profit for the year from continuing 
 operations 348,307 57,723  

Discontinued operation
Profit for the year from 
 discontinued operation

 
 13 – 21,471  

Profit for the year 348,307 79,194  

93 227The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Other comprehensive (expense)/
 income:

Items that will not be reclassified to 
 profit or loss:

Defined benefit plan remeasurements (16,757) (10,316)
Tax on defined benefit plan 
 remeasurements 1,990 1,219
Net changes in fair value of financial 
 assets measured at FVOCI

(15) –  

(14,782) (9,097)  

Items that may be reclassified 
 subsequently to profit or loss:

 
 

Exchange differences arising from 
translation of financial statements  
of overseas subsidiaries (151,134) 30,741

Exchange differences reclassified 
to profit or loss on disposal of 
subsidiaries

 

(21,989) 5,724
Effective portion of changes in fair  

value of cash flow hedges (2,171) (2,534)
Share of other comprehensive  

income/(expense) of associates  
and joint ventures 9,554 (1,462)  

(165,740) 32,469  

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
 for the year (180,522) 23,372  

Total comprehensive income for the year 167,785 102,566  

93 227The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Profit for the year attributable to:
 Owners of the Company
  –  from continuing operations – 304,386 17,733
  –  from discontinued operation – – 21,360  

304,386 39,093  

 Non-controlling interests
  –  from continuing operations – 43,921 39,990
  –  from discontinued operation – – 111  

43,921 40,101  

Profit for the year 348,307 79,194  

Total comprehensive income from 
 continuing and discontinued operations 
 attributable to:

 
 

 Owners of the Company  137,014 60,400
 Non-controlling interests  30,771 42,166  

Total comprehensive income for the year 167,785 102,566  

Earnings per share 14

 Basic and diluted (HK cents) – from 
  continuing and discontinued 
  operations

 –  
  

2.67 0.34  

 Basic and diluted (HK cents) – from 
  continuing operations

 – 
  2.67 0.16  

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

93 227
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2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 3,125,976 3,399,267
Right-of-use assets 16 1,895,195 2,150,935
Intangible assets 17 104,966 134,019
Interests in associates 18 340,664 292,363
Interests in joint ventures 19 93,843 139,372
Other financial assets 20 29,465 30,447
Prepayments, deposits and other 
 receivables

 
 23 108,421 82,350

Other non-current assets 18,396 18,532
Derivative financial instruments 36(e) 3,686 8,313
Deferred tax assets 31 41,004 60,383  

5,761,616 6,315,981  

Current assets
Other financial assets 20 1,332,188 1,337,753
Inventories 21 3,214,026 2,984,637
Trade receivables 22 3,363,238 2,275,364
Prepayments, deposits and other 
 receivables

 
 23 10,499,844 9,946,945

Contract assets 24 120,768 112,416
Derivative financial instruments 36(e) 858,558 288,252
Tax recoverable 16,974 32,966
Pledged bank deposits 25(e) 193,291 145,075
Cash and cash equivalents 25(a) 2,271,537 1,998,840  

21,870,424 19,122,248  

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

93 227
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 24 99,773 58,485
Trade and other payables 26 13,820,292 11,606,176
Loans and borrowings 27 5,136,740 4,201,446
Lease liabilities 29(a) 256,305 289,875
Derivative financial instruments 36(e) 393,522 496,693
Current tax payable 76,715 64,943  

19,783,347 16,717,618  

Net current assets 2,087,077 2,404,630  

Total assets less current liabilities 7,848,693 8,720,611  

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

93 227
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 68,265 130,705
Loans and borrowings 27 787,821 1,444,832
Lease liabilities 29(a) 1,834,045 2,059,737
Derivative financial instruments 36(e) – 11,089
Defined benefit obligations 30(b) 36,815 27,046
Deferred tax liabilities 31 216,299 249,040  

2,943,245 3,922,449  

Net assets 4,905,448 4,798,162  

Capital and reserves 32
Share capital 4,731,480 4,731,480
Reserves 49,470 (60,199)  

Equity attributable to owners of 
 the Company 4,780,950 4,671,281
Non-controlling interests 124,498 126,881  

Total equity 4,905,448 4,798,162  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 81 to 227 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 
28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wang Kan Zhao Quan

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

81 227

93 227
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

 

Share 
capital

Fair
value

reserve
Capital 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Hedging 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Perpetual
capital

instrument Sub-total

Attributable
to non-

controlling 
interests Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

             

At 1 January 2023
 4,731,480 (181) 2,218 (208,460) 8,580 11,706 (1,734,733) 1,819,390 4,630,000 201,202 4,831,202

Profit for the year – – – – – – 39,093 – 39,093 40,101 79,194

Other comprehensive (expense)/income

Defined benefit plan remeasurements – – – – – – (10,316) – (10,316) – (10,316)
Tax on defined benefit plan remeasurements – – – – – – 1,219 – 1,219 – 1,219
Exchange differences arising from translation of 
 financial statements of overseas subsidiaries  – (3) – 28,434 – 245 – – 28,676 2,065 30,741
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or 
 loss on disposal of subsidiaries  – – – 5,724 – – – – 5,724 – 5,724
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash 
 flow hedges  – – – – (2,534) – – – (2,534) – (2,534)
Share of other comprehensive income/
 (expense) of associates and joint ventures  

 – – 8 (24,768) – 292 23,006 – (1,462) – (1,462)

Total other comprehensive (expense)/income – (3) 8 9,390 (2,534) 537 13,909 – 21,307 2,065 23,372           

Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the 
 year – (3) 8 9,390 (2,534) 537 53,002 – 60,400 42,166 102,566

           

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

93 227
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

 
 

Share
capital

Fair 
value 

reserve
Capital

reserve
Translation

reserve
Hedging
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Perpetual 
capital

instrument Sub-total

Attributable to
non-controlling

interests Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

             

Capital reduction of a non-wholly-owned 
 subsidiary – – (4,867) 5,381 – – – – 514 (3,763) (3,249)
Capital contribution by non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – 47 47
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – (101,664) (101,664)
Changes in non-controlling interest (Note 32(d))

 32(d) – – (26,507) (1,243) – – – – (27,750) (9,349) (37,099)
Disposal of subsidiaries – – 4,867 3,250 – – – – 8,117 (1,758) 6,359
Transfer to statutory reserve in compliance with 
 foreign entitles’ statutory requirements  

 – – – – – 2,248 (2,248) – – – –           

– – (26,507) 7,388 – 2,248 (2,248) – (19,119) (116,487) (135,606)           

Balance at 31 December 2023
 4,731,480 (184) (24,281) (191,682) 6,046 14,491 (1,683,979) 1,819,390 4,671,281 126,881 4,798,162

           

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.

93 227
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Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

 

Share 
capital

Fair
value

reserve
Capital 
reserve

Translation 
reserve

Hedging 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Perpetual
capital

instrument Sub-total

Attributable
to non-

controlling 
interests Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

             

At 1 January 2024
 4,731,480 (184) (24,281) (191,682) 6,046 14,491 (1,683,979) 1,819,390 4,671,281 126,881 4,798,162

Profit for the year – – – – – – 304,386 – 304,386 43,921 348,307
           

Other comprehensive (expense)/income
Defined benefit plan remeasurements – – – – – – (16,757) – (16,757) – (16,757)
Tax on defined benefit plan remeasurements – – – – – – 1,990 – 1,990 – 1,990
Net changes in fair value of financial assets 
 measured at FVOCI  

 – – – – – – (15) – (15) – (15)
Exchange differences arising from translation of 
 financial statements of overseas subsidiaries  – 7 – (137,348) – (643) – – (137,984) (13,150) (151,134)
Exchange differences reclassified to profit or 
 loss on disposal of subsidiaries  – – – (21,989) – – – – (21,989) – (21,989)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash 
 flow hedges  – – – – (2,171) – – – (2,171) – (2,171)
Share of other comprehensive income/
 (expense) of associates and joint ventures  

 – – 1,021 (6,550) – 169 14,914 – 9,554 – 9,554

Total other comprehensive income/(expense) – 7 1,021 (165,887) (2,171) (474) 132 – (167,372) (13,150) (180,522)           

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the 
 year – 7 1,021 (165,887) (2,171) (474) 304,518 – 137,014 30,771 167,785

           

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

 
 

Share
capital

Fair 
value 

reserve
Capital
reserve

Translation
reserve

Hedging
reserve

Statutory
reserve

Accumulated
losses

Perpetual 
capital

instrument Sub-total

Attributable to
non-controlling

interests Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

             

Capital contribution by non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – 7,207 7,207
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests – – – – – – – – – (28,618) (28,618)
Changes in non-controlling interest (Note 32(d))

 32(d) – – (29,689) – – – – – (29,689) (11,720) (41,409)
Disposal of subsidiaries – – 1,553 791 – – – – 2,344 (23) 2,321
Transfer to statutory reserve in compliance with 
 foreign entitles’ statutory requirements  

 – – – – – 2,894 (2,894) – – – –           

– – (28,136) 791 – 2,894 (2,894) – (27,345) (33,154) (60,499)           

Balance at 31 December 2024
 4,731,480 (177) (51,396) (356,778) 3,875 16,911 (1,382,355) 1,819,390 4,780,950 124,498 4,905,448

           

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash generated from operations 25(b) 446,671 951,001
Interest paid 25(c) (391,853) (323,762)
Income tax paid (114,853) (131,269)  

NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED 
 FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  (60,035) 495,970  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of intangible assets (4,392) (1,476)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (75,741) (71,475)
(Placement)/Withdrawal of pledged 
 bank deposit  (55,277) 26,968
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant 
 and equipment  3,937 3,746
Purchase of other financial assets (1,409,629) (1,666,837)
Proceeds from disposal of other 
 financial assets 1,473,667 1,798,749
Interest received 556,117 463,152
Dividend received from associates and 
 joint ventures  16,244 68,807
Loans advance to related parties (9,517) -
Dividend received from other financial 
 assets 134 263
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal of 
 associates and subsidiaries 8,774 (1,245)
Acquisition of additional interest in 
 associates and joint venture  (9,822) (34,553)  

NET CASH GENERATED FROM 
 INVESTING ACTIVITIES

 
 494,495 586,099  

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of additional interest in a 
 subsidiary 32(d) (41,409) (37,099)
Capital contribution by non-controlling 
 interest 7,207 47
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (28,618) (101,664)
Proceeds from/(Repayment of) loans 
 and borrowings

 
25(c) 342,773 (116,323)

Repayment of lease liabilities 25(c) (398,160) (420,885)
Loan advance from non-controlling 
 interests 25(c) 2,151 26,572  

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING 
 ACTIVITIES (116,056) (649,352)  

NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH 
 EQUIVALENTS 318,404 432,717

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
 BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,994,619 1,603,909

EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE 
 CHANGES (48,949) (42,007)  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 
 END OF THE YEAR 25(a) 2,264,074 1,994,619  

The notes on pages 93 to 227 form part of these consolidated 
financial statements.
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1 GENERAL
The Company is a public limited company incorporated in 
Hong Kong and its shares are listed on the Main Board of 
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”). Hong Kong HNA Holding Group Co., Limited, 
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, 
is the immediate parent of the Company. Hainan HNA 
No. 2 Trust Management Service Co., Ltd. (“HNA Trust 
Management”), a limited liability company incorporated 
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), is the 
intermediate parent of the Company. Neither of these 
companies produces financial statements available for 
public use. The addresses of the registered office and 
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in 
the corporate information section to the annual report.

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
(a) Basis of preparation of the consolidated 

financial statements
These consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with all applicable 
HKFRS Accounting Standards, which collective 
term includes al l  appl icable indiv idual Hong 
Kong F inanc ia l  Repor t ing Standards,  Hong 
Kong Account ing Standards (“HKASs”) and 
Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), 
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong 
Kong and the requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”). These 
consolidated financial statements also comply with 
the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing 
Rules”) on the Stock Exchange. Material accounting 
policies adopted by the Company and its subsidiaries 
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are 
disclosed below.

1 

2 

(a) 

622
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 

(a)  

2(b)

– 

– 

–  – 

– 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments 
to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are first 
effective or available for early adoption for the 
current accounting period of the Group. Note 2(b) 
provides information on any changes in accounting 
policies resulting from initial application of these 
developments to the extent that they are relevant to 
the Group for the current accounting period reflected 
in these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements for the year 
ended 31 December 2024 comprise the Group 
and the Group’s interests in associates and joint 
ventures.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements is the historical 
cost basis except that the following assets and 
liabilities are stated at their fair value as explained in 
the accounting policies set out below:

– other investments in debt and equi ty 
securities measured at fair value;

– derivative financial instruments;

– invento r ies  he ld  under  b roker - t r ader 
exemption; and

– trade receivables and payables containing 
provisional pricing features.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 

(a) 

3

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(a) Basis of preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements (continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity 
with HKFRS Account ing Standards requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the application of policies 
and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 
and expenses. The estimates and associated 
assumptions are based on historical experience 
and various other factors that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances, the results 
of which form the basis of making the judgements 
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual 
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are 
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in 
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects 
only that period, or in the period of the revision and 
future periods if the revision affects both current 
and future periods. The major sources of estimation 
uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

In addition, certain comparative figures have 
been reclassified to conform to the current year’s 
presentation.
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2 
 

 
 

(b) 
 

• 1

1

• 16

• 7
7

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(b) Application of amendments to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards and changes in 
material accounting policies
The Group has applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
issued by the HKICPA to these financial statements 
for the current accounting period:

• Amendments to HKAS 1 Classif icat ion 
of Liabil it ies as Current or Non-current 
and Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current 
Liabilities with Covenants

• Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in 
a Sale and Leaseback

• Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 
Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of these amendments to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards does not have a material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements. 
The Group has not applied any new standard or 
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current 
accounting period.
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2 

(c) 

2(p) (q)
(r)

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The 
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has 
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. The financial 
statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date on 
which control commences until the date on which 
control ceases.

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any 
unrealised income and expenses (except for foreign 
currency transaction gains or losses) arising from 
intra-group transactions, are eliminated. Unrealised 
losses resulting from intra-group transactions are 
eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, 
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of 
impairment.

Non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are presented in 
the consolidated statement of financial position 
within equity, separately from equity attributable to 
the owners of the Company. NCI in the results of the 
Group are presented on the face of the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as an allocation of the total profit or loss and 
total comprehensive income for the year between 
NCI and the owners of the Company. Loans from 
holders of NCI and other contractual obligations 
towards these holders are presented as financial 
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial 
position in accordance with Notes 2(p), (q), or (r) 
depending on the nature of the liability.
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2 

(c) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(c) Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests 
(continued)

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that 
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as 
equity transactions.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, 
i t  derecognises the assets and l iabi l i t ies of 
the subsidiary, and any related NCI and other 
components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained 
in that former subsidiary is measured at fair value 
when control is lost.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, 
an interest in a subsidiary is stated at cost less 
impairment losses.
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2 

(d) 

 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(d) Associates and joint ventures
An associate is an entity in which the Group or 
Company has significant influence, but not control or 
joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

A joint venture is an arrangement in which the Group 
or Company has joint control, whereby the Group 
or Company has the rights to the net assets of the 
arrangement, rather than rights to its assets and 
obligations for its liabilities.

An interest in an associate or a joint venture is 
accounted for using the equity method. They 
are initially recognised at cost, which includes 
transaction costs. Subsequently the consolidated 
financial statements include the Group’s share of the 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income of 
those investees, until the date on which significant 
influence or joint control ceases.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its 
interest in the associate or the joint venture, the 
Group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of 
further losses is discontinued except to the extent 
that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
investee. For this purpose, the Group’s interest is 
the carrying amount of the investment under the 
equity method, together with any other long-term 
interests that in substance form part of the Group’s 
net investment in the associate or the joint venture, 
after applying the ECL model to such other long-
term interests where applicable.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with 
equity-accounted investees are eliminated against 
the investment to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the investee. Unrealised losses are eliminated in 
the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the 
extent there is no evidence of impairment.
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2 

(d) 

(e) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(d) Associates and joint ventures (continued)

If an associate becomes a joint venture or vice versa, 
the retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, 
the investment continues to be accounted for under 
the equity method. When the Group increases its 
ownership interest in an associate or a joint venture 
but the Group continues to use the equity method, 
goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if there 
is excess of the consideration paid over the share 
of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the 
additional interests in associates or joint ventures 
acquired.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, 
interests in associates and joint ventures are stated 
at cost less impairment losses.

(e) Other investments in debt and equity 
securities
The Group’s policies for investments in debt and 
equity securities, other than interests in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures, are set out below.

Inves tments  in  secur i t i es  a re  recogn ised/
derecognised on the date the Group commits to 
purchase/sell the investment. The investments are 
initially stated at fair value plus directly attributable 
transaction costs, except for those investments 
measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) 
for which transaction costs are recognised directly in 
profit or loss. These investments are subsequently 
accounted for as follows, depending on their 
classification.
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2 

(e) 

(i) 

– 

– 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity 
securities (continued)

(i) Investments other than equity 
investments

Non-equity investments held by the Group 
are classified into one of the following 
measurement categories:

– amortised cost, if the investment is 
held for the collection of contractual 
cash flows which represent solely 
payments of principal and interest. 
Interest income from the investment is 
calculated using the effective interest 
method, foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognised in profit or loss. 
Any gain or loss on derecognition is 
recognised in profit or loss.

– FVPL if the investment does not meet 
the criteria for being measured at 
amortised cost. Changes in the fair 
value of the investment (including 
interest) are recognised in profit or 
loss.
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2 
 

 
 

(e) 

(ii) 

(f) 

12
12

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(e) Other investments in debt and equity 
securities (continued)

(ii) Equity investment

An investment in equity securities is classified 
as FVPL unless the equity investment is 
not held for trading purposes and on initial 
recognition the Group makes an irrevocable 
election to designate the investment at 
fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“FVOCI”) such that subsequent 
changes in fair value are recognised in other 
comprehensive income. Such elections are 
made on an instrument-by-instrument basis, 
but may only be made if the investment 
meets the definition of equity from the 
issuer’s perspective. If such election is made 
for a particular investment, at the time of 
disposal, the amount accumulated in the fair 
value reserve is transferred to accumulated 
losses and not recycled through profit or 
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity 
securities, irrespective of whether classified 
as at FVPL or FVOCI, are recognised in profit 
or loss as other income.

(f) Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially measured at fair value. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with 
changes therein recognised in profit or loss, except 
where the Group’s derivatives qualify for cash flow 
hedge accounting or hedges of net investment in a 
foreign operation.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or 
a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of 
the instrument is more than 12 months and it is 
not due to be realised or settled within 12 months. 
Other derivatives are presented as current assets or 
current liabilities.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1032024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 

(g) 

(i) 

(ii) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(g) Hedging
The Group designates certain derivatives and 
non-derivative financial instruments as hedging 
instruments in qualifying hedging relationships for 
fair value hedges and cash flow hedges.

(i) Fair value hedges

Changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qual ify as fair 
value hedges are recorded in profit or loss 
immediately, together with any changes 
in the fair value of the hedged item that is 
attributable to the hedged risk. The change in 
the fair value of the hedging instrument and 
the change in the hedged item attributable to 
the hedged risk are recognised in the same 
line of profit or loss relating to the hedged 
item.

(ii) Cash flow hedges

When a derivative is designated as a cash 
flow hedging instrument, the effective portion 
of changes in the fair value of the derivative 
financial instrument is recognised in other 
comprehensive income and accumulated 
in the hedging reserve within equity. The 
effective portion that is recognised in other 
comprehensive income is limited to the 
cumulative change in fair value of the hedged 
item, determined on a present value basis, 
from inception of the hedge. Any ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in profit or 
loss.
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2 

(g) 
(ii) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(g) Hedging (continued)

(ii) Cash flow hedges (continued)

When the hedged forecast transaction 
subsequently results in the recognition of 
a non-financial item such as inventory, the 
amount accumulated in the hedging reserve 
is removed from the reserve and is included 
directly in the initial cost of the non-financial 
item when it is recognised.

For all other hedged forecast transactions, the 
amount accumulated in the hedging reserve 
is reclassified through other comprehensive 
income to profit or loss as a reclassification 
adjustment in the same period or periods 
during which the hedged expected future 
cash flows affect profit or loss.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting or the hedging instrument 
is sold, expires, is terminated or is exercised, 
then hedge accounting is discontinued 
prospectively. When hedge accounting is 
discontinued, the amount that has been 
accumulated in the hedging reserve remains 
in equity until the transaction occurs and it 
is recognised in accordance with the above 
policy. If the hedged future cash flows are no 
longer expected to occur, then the amounts 
that have been accumulated in the hedging 
reserve is immediately reclassified through 
other comprehensive income to profit or loss.
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(h) 

– 

– 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(h) Property, plant and equipment
The following items of property, plant and equipment 
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses:

– right-of-use assets arising from leases over 
freehold or leasehold properties where the 
Group is not the registered owner of the 
property interest; and

– items of plant and equipment, including 
right-of-use assets arising from leases of 
underlying plant and equipment.

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, 
plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or 
valuation of items of property, plant and equipment, 
less their estimated residual values, if any, using 
the straight-line method over their estimated useful 
lives and is generally recognised in profit or loss as 
follows:

Freehold land is not depreciated

Leasehold land and buildings 5 to 27 years, or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter
5 27

Plant, machinery and equipment 5 to 10 years
5 10

Furniture, fittings, computers and 
 office equipment

1 to 5 years

1 5
Motor vehicles and trailers 5 to 10 years

5 10
Leasehold improvements 15 years, or over the lease terms, whichever is shorter

15

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(i) Intangible assets
Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are 
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses.

• Computer software

Computer software which is acquired by 
the Group, where it is not an integral part 
of the related hardware, is treated as an 
intangible asset. Computer software is stated 
at cost less accumulated amortisation and 
impairment losses.

Computer software is amortised to profit or 
loss using the straight-line method over its 
estimated useful life of 3 to 5 years.

• Customer contracts

Customer contracts relate to the estimated 
value of contracts acquired in a business 
combination; and have f inite l ives and 
are measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

Customer contracts are amortised to profit or 
loss using the straight-line method over the 
customers’ contract periods of 1 to 5 years.

• London Metal Exchange (“LME”) license 

The license relates to the estimated license 
value acquired in a business combination and 
has finite life and is measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and impairment 
losses.

LME license is amortised to profit or loss 
using the straight-l ine method over its 
estimated useful life of 30 years.

2 

(i) 

• 

3 5

• 

1
5

• LME

LME
30
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(i) 
• 

4 5

• 

10

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(i) Intangible assets (continued)

• Business Relationships (“BRS”)

BRS relates to the estimated economic 
benefits from business relationships arising 
from a business combination. BRS refers to 
business relationship between suppliers and 
customers. BRS is estimated to have finite 
life and is measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

BRS is amortised to profit or loss using the 
straight-line basis over its estimated useful 
life of 4 to 5 years.

• Brand (“BD”)

BD relates to the estimated economic 
benefits from brand arising from a business 
combination. BD refers to the acquired 
company’s good reputation and name known 
in the market. BD is estimated to have finite 
life and is measured at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment losses.

BD is amortised to profit or loss on a straight- 
line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 
years.

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual 
values are reviewed at each reporting date and 
adjusted if appropriate.
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(j) 

(i) 

12

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(j) Leased assets
At inception of a contract, the Group assesses 
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. This is 
the case if the contract conveys the right to control 
the use of an identified asset for a period of time 
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed 
where the customer has both the right to direct the 
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially 
all of the economic benefits from that use.

(i) As a lessee

W h e r e  t h e  c o n t r a c t  c o n t a i n s  l e a s e 
component(s) and non-lease component(s), 
the Group has elected not to separate 
non-lease components and accounts for 
each lease component and any associated 
non-lease components as a single lease 
component for all leases.

At the lease commencement date, the 
Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability, except for short-term leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less 
and leases of low-value items. When the 
Group enters into a lease in respect of a 
low-value item, the Group decides whether 
to capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease 
basis. If not capitalised, the associated lease 
payments are recognised in profit or loss on a 
systematic basis over the lease term.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1092024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 

(j) 
(i) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(j) Leased assets (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continued)

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease 
liability is initially recognised at the present 
value of the lease payments payable over 
the lease term, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, using a relevant 
incremental borrowing rate.

After initial recognition, the lease liability is 
measured at amortised cost and interest 
expense is recognised using the effective 
interest method.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a 
lease is capitalised is initially measured at 
cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease l iab i l i ty ad justed for any 
lease payments made at or before the 
commencement date, plus any initial direct 
costs incurred, and an estimate of costs to 
dismantle and remove the underlying asset 
or to restore the underlying asset or the 
site on which it is located, less any lease 
incentives received. The right-of-use asset is 
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses.

Refundable rental deposits are accounted 
for separately from the right-of-use assets 
in accordance with the accounting policy 
applicable to investments in non-equity 
securities carried at amortised cost.
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(continued)

(j) Leased assets (continued)

(i) As a lessee (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there 
is a change in future lease payments arising 
from a change in an index or rate, if there 
is a change in the Group’s estimate of the 
amount expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee, or if the Group 
changes its assessment of whether it will 
exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option. When the lease liability is remeasured 
in this way, a corresponding adjustment is 
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the 
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has 
been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when 
there is a lease modification, which means 
a change in the scope of a lease or the 
consideration for a lease that is not originally 
provided for in the lease contract, if such 
modif icat ion is not accounted for as a 
separate lease. In this case, the lease liability 
is remeasured based on the revised lease 
payments and lease term using a revised 
discount rate at the effective date of the 
modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial 
position, the current portion of long-term 
lease liabilities is determined as the present 
value of contractual payments that are due 
to be settled within twelve months after the 
reporting period.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that 
do not meet the definition of investment 
property and lease liabilities separately in the 
statement of financial position.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
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(continued)

(j) Leased assets (continued)

(ii) As a lessor

The Group determines at lease inception 
whether each lease is a finance lease or 
an operating lease. A lease is classified as 
a finance lease if it transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards incidental to the 
ownership of an underlying assets to the 
lessee. Otherwise, the lease is classified as 
an operating lease.

When a contract contains lease and non- 
lease components, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each 
component on a relative stand-alone selling 
price basis.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, 
the sub-leases are classified as a finance 
lease or as an operating lease with reference 
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head 
lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease 
to which the Group applies the exemption 
described in Note 2(j)(i), then the Group 
classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

The Group recognises lease payments 
received under operating leases as income on 
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments 

and contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for 
expected credit losses (“ECLs”) on the 
following items:

– financial assets measured at amortised 
c o s t  ( i n c l u d i n g  c a s h  a n d  c a s h 
equivalents, trade receivables and 
other receivables, which are held for 
the collection of contractual cash flows 
which represent solely payments of 
principal and interest);

– contract assets as defined in HKFRS 
15; 

– other financial assets measured at 
amortised cost.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate 
of credit losses. Generally, credit losses are 
measured as the present value of all expected 
cash shortfalls between the contractual and 
expected amounts.

The maximum period considered when 
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual 
period over which the Group is exposed to 
credit risk.

In  measur ing ECLs,  the Group takes 
into account reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue 
cost or effort. This includes information about 
past events, current conditions and forecasts 
of future economic conditions.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments 
and contract assets (continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)

ECLs are measured on either of the following 
bases:

– 12-month ECLs: these are the portion 
of ECLs that result from default events 
that are possible within the 12 months 
after the reporting date; and

– lifetime ECLs: these are the ECLs that 
result from all possible default events 
over the expected lives of the items to 
which the ECL model applies.

The Group measures loss allowances for 
trade receivables and contract assets are 
always measured at an amount equal to 
l ifetime ECLs. ECLs on these financial 
assets are estimated using a provision matrix 
based on the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for factors that are 
specific to the debtors and an assessment 
of both the current and forecast general 
economic conditions at the reporting date.

For all other financial assets, the Group 
recognises a loss a l lowance equa l  to 
12-month ECLs unless there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk of the 
financial assets since initial recognition, in 
which case the loss allowance is measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.
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(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments 
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk 
of a financial instrument (including a loan 
commitment) has increased significantly 
since initial recognition and when measuring 
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and 
supportable information that is relevant and 
available without undue cost or effort. This 
includes both quantitative and qualitative 
information and analysis, based on the 
Group’s historical experience and informed 
credit assessment, that includes forward-
looking information. 

Depending on the nature of the financial 
assets, the assessment of a significant 
increase in credit risk is performed on either 
an individual basis or a collective basis. When 
the assessment is performed on a collective 
basis, the financial assets are grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics, such as 
past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers that a default event 
occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay 
its credit obligations to the Group in full, 
without recourse by the Group to actions 
such as realising security (if any is held).
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(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments 
and contract assets (continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (continued)

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date 
to reflect changes in the financial asset’s 
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change 
in the ECL amount is recognised as an 
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss. The 
Group recognises an impairment gain or loss 
for all financial assets with a corresponding 
adjustment to their carrying amount through 
a loss allowance account.

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group assesses 
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A 
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or 
more events that have a detrimental impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset have occurred.
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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
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(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments 
and contract assets (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit- 
impaired includes the following observable 
events:

– significant financial difficulties of the 
debtor;

– a breach of contract, such as a default;

– it is probable that the debtor will enter 
into bankruptcy or other financial 
reorganisation; or

– the disappearance of an active market 
for a security because of financial 
difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset 
or contract asset is written off (either partially 
or in full) to the extent that there is no realistic 
prospect of recovery. This is generally the 
case when the Group determines that the 
debtor does not have assets or sources of 
income that could generate sufficient cash 
flows to repay the amounts subject to the 
write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was 
previously written off are recognised as a 
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the 
period in which the recovery occurs. 
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(continued)

(k) Credit losses and impairment of assets 
(continued)

(ii) Impairment of other non-current assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the 
carrying amounts of its non-financial assets, 
other than inventories, contract assets and 
deferred tax assets to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If 
any such indication exists, then the assets’ 
recoverable amounts are estimated. Goodwill 
is tested annual ly for impairment. An 
impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 
amount of an asset or its cash generating unit 
exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.

Goodwill that forms part of the carrying 
amount of an interest in an associate is not 
recognised separately, and therefore is not 
tested for impairment separately. Instead, the 
entire amount of the interest in an associate 
is tested for impairment as a single asset 
when there is objective evidence that the 
interest in an associate may be impaired.

(l) Inventories
Inventories where the Group acts as a broker-trader 
include metals and energy commodities acquired 
with the purpose of selling them in the near term 
and generating a profit from fluctuations in price, and 
are measured at fair value less costs to sell.

All other inventories are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business less the estimated costs of completion and 
the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) 
basis and includes the full costs of materials, 
freight and insurance and all other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition.
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(continued)

(l) Inventories (continued)

Due to the provisional pricing of the purchase of 
the concentrate inventory and the subsequent price 
adjustments on the basis of the quotational period 
and the short inventory turnover period, cost of 
concentrate inventory represents fair value of the 
inventory.

Inventories allocated as hedged items in a fair value 
hedge relationship are adjusted for the change in the 
fair value attributable to the hedged risk component 
(commodity price risk).

Allowance is made where necessary for obsolete, 
slow moving and defective inventories.

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities
A contract asset is recognised when the Group 
recognises revenue before being unconditionally 
entitled to the consideration under the terms in the 
contract. Contract assets are assessed for ECLs and 
are reclassified to receivables when the right to the 
consideration becomes unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer 
pays non-refundable consideration before the Group 
recognises the related revenue. A contract liability 
is also recognised if the Group has an unconditional 
right to receive non-refundable consideration before 
the Group recognises the related revenue. In such 
cases, a corresponding receivable is also recognised.

When the contract includes a significant financing 
component, the contract balance includes interest 
accrued under the effective interest method.
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(continued)

(n) Trade and other receivables
A receivable is recognised when the Group has an 
unconditional right to receive consideration and only 
the passage of time is required before payment 
of that consideration is due. If revenue has been 
recognised before the Group has an unconditional 
r ight to receive consideration, the amount is 
presented as a contract asset.

Trade receivables that do not contain a significant 
financing component are initially measured at their 
transaction price. Trade receivables that contain 
a signif icant f inancing component and other 
receivables are initially measured at fair value plus 
transaction costs. Except for trade receivables 
containing provisional pricing features which are 
measured at FVPL, receivables are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method and including an allowance for credit losses.

Insurance reimbursement is recognised and 
measured in accordance with Note 2(u).

(o) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks 
and on hand, demand deposits with banks and 
other financial institutions, and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible into 
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been 
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form 
an integral part of the Group’s cash management 
are also included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated 
statement of cash flows. Cash and cash equivalents 
are assessed for ECLs.
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(continued)

(p) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised 
at fair value. Except for trade payables containing 
provisional pricing features which are measured at 
FVPL, trade and other payables are subsequently 
stated at amortised cost unless the effect of 
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they 
are stated at invoice amounts.

(q) Interest-bearing borrowings
Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at 
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with 
the Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs.

(r) Perpetual borrowings
Perpetual borrowings repayable upon an event not 
controllable by the Group are stated at cost and 
classified as current liabilities in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

(s) Employee benefits
(i) Short-term employee benefits and 

contributions to defined contribution 
retirement plans

Short-term employee benefits are expensed 
as the related service is provided. A liability 
is recognised for the amount expected to 
be paid if the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount 
as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated 
reliably.

Obligations for contributions to defined 
contribution retirement plans are expensed as 
the related service is provided.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1212024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 

(s) 
(ii) 

(iii) 

12

(t) 
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(continued)

(s) Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Defined benefit retirement plan obligations

The Group’s net obligation in respect of 
defined benefit retirement plans is calculated 
separately for each plan by estimating the 
amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the 
current and prior periods and discounting 
that amount. The calculation is performed by 
a qualified actuary using the projected unit 
credit method.

(iii) Other employee benefits

The Group operates other employee benefit 
schemes. Every year the Group calculates the 
amount to be debited/credited to the bonus 
pool under the schemes. Such amounts are 
recognised in the profit or loss. Payments 
to beneficiaries are dependent on certain 
conditions such as minimum service period 
and long-term profitability. Payments within 
12 months to beneficiaries after the service 
period are reclassified from non-current 
liabilities to current liabilities.

(t) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current tax and 
deferred tax. It is recognised in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to a business 
combinat ion,  o r  i tems recogn ised in o ther 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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(continued)

(t) Income tax (continued)

Current tax comprises the estimated tax payable or 
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
and any adjustments to the tax payable or receivable 
in respect of previous years. The amount of current 
tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the 
tax amount expected to be paid or received that 
reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes. It is 
measured using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. Current tax also 
includes any tax arising from dividends. Current tax 
assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria 
are met.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary 
differences between the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the 
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is 
not recognised for:

– taxable temporary differences arising on the 
initial recognition of goodwill;

– temporary differences on the initial recognition 
of assets or liabilities in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and that affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss 
and does not give rise to equal taxable and 
deductible temporary differences;

– temporary differences related to interests in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures to 
the extent that the Group is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

– those related to the income taxes arising from 
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
to implement the Pillar Two model rules 
published by the Organisation for Economic 
Co-operation and Development (the “Pillar 
Two legislation”).
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(t) Income tax (continued)

The Group recognised deferred tax assets and 
deferred tax liabilities separately in relation to its 
lease liabilities and right-of-use assets.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax 
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable that 
future taxable profits will be available against 
which they can be used. Future taxable profits are 
determined based on the reversal of relevant taxable 
temporary differences. If the amount of taxable 
temporary differences is insufficient to recognise 
a deferred tax asset in full, then future taxable 
profits, adjusted for reversals of existing temporary 
differences, are considered, based on the business 
plans for individual subsidiaries in the Group.

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and are reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will 
be realised; such reductions are reversed when the 
probability of future taxable profits improves.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
certain criteria are met.
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(continued)

(u) Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
onerous contracts
Generally, provisions are determined by discounting 
the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 
that reflects current market assessment of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.

A provision for onerous contracts is measured at the 
present value of the lower of the expected cost of 
terminating the contract and the expected net cost 
of continuing with the contract, which is determined 
based on the incremental costs of fulfilling the 
obligation under that contract and an allocation of 
other costs directly related to fulfilling that contract.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic 
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be 
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a 
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow 
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future 
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities 
unless the probability of outflow of economic 
benefits is remote.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(v) Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised when control over a product 
or service is transferred to the customer at the 
amount of promised consideration to which the 
Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales 
taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other 
income recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Freight services

Freight services include air, sea and land 
freight forwarding services and handling 
of cargo across countries and handling of 
documentation. Revenue from outbound 
freight forwarding is recognised over the 
transit time from the departure of shipments 
from port of disembarkat ion, whereas 
revenue from inward freight forwarding is 
recognised when shipments arrive at port of 
arrival.

Revenue is recognised based on the price 
specified in the contract. Customers are 
required to pay for the services rendered 
immediately or within 14–60 days from the 
date of invoice according to the agreed credit 
terms.
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STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii) Provision of logistics services

Logistic services refer to the provision of 
warehousing services, container services, 
transportation services, inventory management 
services and record management services.

For bundled packages, the Group accounts 
for the individual services as separate 
performance obligations as they are distinct, 
i.e. the service is separately identifiable 
from other items in the bundled package 
and a customer can benefit from it. The 
consideration receivable under the contract 
is allocated to the separate services in a 
bundle based on their relative stand-alone 
selling prices. The stand-alone selling prices 
are stated in the contract. Customers are 
required to make payment within 30–60 days 
from the date of the invoices.

Warehousing services

Warehousing services refer to the provision 
of warehouse space for storage of the 
customer’s products. Revenue is recognised 
over time as services are being transferred 
to the customer, based on the time elapsed. 
Services are normally billed in advance on a 
monthly basis or such other shorter interval 
as agreed with customers.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1272024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 

(v) 
(ii) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii) Provision of logistics services (continued)

Container services

Container services refer to the container 
storage, repairs and handling. Revenue is 
recognised over time for container storage 
as services are being transferred to the 
customer, based on the time elapsed. For 
repairs and handling, revenue is recognised 
upon completion of the service. Services are 
billed for each completed job but are usually 
consolidated and billed on a monthly basis.

Transportation services

Transportation services include local delivery 
of goods or transfer of containers/cargoes 
from warehouse/storage yard to the port/
customers’ premises. Revenue is recognised 
upon completion of the service. Services 
are billed upon completion and are usually 
consolidated and billed on a monthly basis.

Inventory management services

Inventory management services include 
rendering of import clearance, documentation 
and trucking services for inbound shipment 
and performing inventory stock-take and 
other related services over a specified time 
period. Revenue is recognised when services 
are completed. Services are usually billed on 
a monthly basis.
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(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(ii) Provision of logistics services (continued)

Record management services

Record management serv ices inc lude 
storage, collection and retrieval and disposal 
of document over a specific time period. 
Revenue generated from providing document 
storage, collection and retrieval and disposal 
services is recognised over time as services 
are being transferred to the customers, based 
on the time elapsed. Revenue generated 
from collection, retrieval and disposal services 
is recognised when services are completed, 
services are billed on a monthly basis.

(iii) Commodity trading

Commodity trading includes structured trading, 
physical trading and supply chain management 
of base metal non-ferrous concentrates with 
predominant focus on copper, lead, zinc and 
other minor metals and energy products like 
naphtha and distillates.

Revenue is recognised when the customer 
has control over the commodities upon the 
transfer of title according to the terms and 
conditions of the sales contracts.
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(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) Commodity trading (continued)

The sale price of certain commodities is 
initially recorded based on the provisional 
prices depending on the contracts. Until 
final settlement occurs, adjustments to the 
provisional sales prices are made to take 
into account metal price changes, based 
upon the month-end spot price and metal 
quantities upon receipt of the final assay 
and weight certificates, if different from 
the initial certificates. The Group marks to 
market its provisional sales prices based on 
the forward price for the estimated month 
of settlement. In the consolidated statement 
of financial position, such mark to market 
adjustments are included within “trade and 
other receivables”.

Payments of certain deals especially metal 
concentrates and energy products are due at 
sight or extended payment terms according 
to contract terms and are secured by letter of 
credit or documentary collection. Payments 
of other deals are due as per the credit terms 
stated in the invoice and most of them are 
secured by credit insurance or approved by 
an internal credit committee.
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(v) 
(iii) 

(iv) 

30 60

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii) Commodity trading (continued)

Where the Group also undertakes the 
purchase and sale of commodities in a 
short period of time acting as a principal, 
and in the process transferring control of 
the commodities to its customers (the 
“transition sales”), the Group init ial ly 
considers these contracts as derivatives 
at FVPL and the resulting gains and losses 
together with the cash received are included 
in the determination of the transaction 
price on settlement, in the same manner as 
revenue from physical commodity trading 
recorded on a gross basis as described in the 
preceding paragraphs.

Where the Group acts as in the capacity 
of an agent rather than as the principal in 
the purchase and sale of commodities, the 
revenue is recognised nets of cost of goods 
sold. Revenue is recognised as earned when 
the trades are executed.

(iv) Equipment and facility maintenance 
services

Equipment and facility maintenance services 
include management and maintenance of 
facilities, vehicles and equipment. Revenue 
is recognised over time for services that are 
transferred to the customer, based on the 
time elapsed. For services that are rendered 
over a period of six months or less, revenue 
is recognised upon complet ion of the 
services which is expected to approximate 
revenue to be recognised over time, based 
on the time elapsed, due to the short service 
period. Customers are required to pay for the 
services rendered within 30–60 days from 
date of the invoice.
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(v) 
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(vi) 
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(v) Design-and-build

The Group has an enforceable r ight to 
payment for performance completed to 
date. Revenue is recognised over time, 
with reference to percentage of completion 
of design-and-build services per the price 
agreed under the contract. The percentage 
of completion is measured by reference 
to the quantity surveyor’s certification and 
customer’s acknowledgment of the value of 
services transferred to date, relative to the 
total contract price or milestone payment as 
set out in the contract (“Certified Value of 
Completion”).

Progress billings to the customer are based 
on Certified Value of Completion and payment 
is based on credit term (normally 30 days) set 
out in the contract.

(vi) Broking services

Revenue is recognised when services are 
rendered to customers for clearing and 
brokerage services (brokerage fee income) 
and when trades are executed by customers 
and the company acts in the capacity of an 
agent (clearing commission and brokerage 
fee). Clearing commission is due immediately 
and deducted directly from the customers’ 
funds placed with the Group. Brokerage fees 
are generally on 14–30 days credit term.
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(v) 
(vii) 

(w) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(v) Revenue recognition (continued)

(vii) Investment income

Interest income is recognised using the 
effective interest method. The ‘effective 
interest rate’ is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial asset to the 
gross carrying amount of the financial asset. 
In calculating interest income, the effective 
interest rate is applied to the gross carrying 
amount of the asset (when the asset is 
not credit-impaired). However, for financial 
assets that have become credit-impaired 
subsequent to initial recognition, interest 
income is calculated by applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost of the 
financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest 
income reverts to the gross basis.

Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss 
when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established.

(w) Translation of foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated 
into the respective functional currencies of group 
companies at the exchange rates at the dates of the 
transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are translated into the functional 
currency at the exchange rates at the reporting 
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that 
are measured at fair value in a foreign currency 
are translated into the functional currency at the 
exchange rate when the fair value was determined. 
Non-monetary assets and l iabi l i t ies that are 
measured based on historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated at the exchange rate at the 
date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences 
are generally recognised in profit or loss.
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2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(w) Translation of foreign currencies (continued)

However, foreign currency differences arising from 
the translation of the following items are recognised 
in other comprehensive income:

– an investment in equity securities designated 
as at FVOCI (except on impairment, in which 
case foreign currency differences that have 
been recognised in other comprehensive 
income are reclassified to profit or loss); and

– qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent that 
the hedges are effective.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, 
including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising 
on acquisition, are translated into the presentation 
currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the exchange 
rates at the report ing date. The income and 
expenses of foreign operations are translated into 
HK$ at the exchange rates approximating at the 
dates of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
the exchange reserve, except to the extent that the 
translation difference is allocated to NCI.

When a foreign operation is disposed of in its 
entirety or partially such that control, significant 
influence or joint control is lost, the cumulative 
amount in the exchange reserve related to that 
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss as 
part of the gain or loss on disposal. On disposal of 
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the 
cumulative amount of the exchange differences 
relating to that foreign operation that have been 
attributed to the NCI shall be derecognised, but 
shall not be reclassified to profit or loss. If the Group 
disposes of part of its interest in a subsidiary but 
retains control, then the relevant proportion of the 
cumulative amount is reattributed to NCI.
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(x) 

(y) 

(z) 
(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(x) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which 
they are incurred.

(y) Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised until 
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and the Group will comply with all attached 
conditions. 

Government grants that compensate the Group for 
expenses incurred are recognised in profit or loss as 
‘other income’ on a systematic basis in the periods 
in which the expenses are recognised, unless the 
conditions for receiving the grant are met after the 
related expenses have been recognised. In this case, 
the grant is recognised when it becomes receivable.

(z) Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that 

person’s family, is related to the Group if 
that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the 
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the 
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management 
personnel of the Group or the Group’s 
parent.
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(vii) (a)(i)

(viii) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(z) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of 
the following conditions applies:
(i) The entity and the Group are members 

of the same Group (which means that 
each parent, subsidiary and fellow 
subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint 
venture of the other entity (or an 
associate or joint venture of a member 
of a Group of which the other entity is 
a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the 
same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a 
third entity and the other entity is an 
associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment 
bene f i t  p l an  fo r  the  bene f i t  o f 
employees of either the Group or an 
entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly 
controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person ident i f ied in (a) ( i )  has 
significant influence over the entity or 
is a member of the key management 
personnel of the entity (or of a parent 
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a Group 
of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to 
the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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(z) 
(b) 

(aa) 

(bb) 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(z) Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any 
of the following conditions applies: 
(continued)

Close members of the family of a person are 
those family members who may be expected 
to influence, or be influenced by, that person 
in their dealings with the entity.

(aa) Offsetting
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the 
net amount presented in the statement of financial 
position when, and only when, the Group has a 
legally enforceable right to offset the amounts and 
intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise 
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

(bb) Segment reporting
Operating segments, and the amounts of each 
segment item reported in the financial statements, 
are identified from the financial information provided 
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of a l locat ing 
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the 
Group’s various lines of business and geographical 
locations.

Individually material operating segments are not 
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless 
the segments have similar economic characteristics 
and are similar in respect of the nature of products 
and services, the nature of production processes, 
the type or class of customers, the methods used to 
distribute the products or provide the services, and 
the nature of the regulatory environment. Operating 
segments which are not individually material may be 
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.
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(cc) 

– 

– 

– 

3 

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)

(cc) Discontinued operation
A discontinued operation is a component of the 
Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of 
which can be clearly distinguished from the rest of 
the Group and which:

– represents a separate major line of business 
or geographical area of operations;

– is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose 
of a separate major l ine of business or 
geographical area of operations; or

– is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a 
view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs at 
the earlier of disposal, when the operation meets 
the criteria to be classified as held for sale or when 
a business that represented a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations ceases 
operation. When an operation is classified as a 
discontinued operation, the comparative statement 
of profit or loss is re-stated as if the operation had 
been discontinued from the start of the comparative 
year.

3 ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Sources of estimation uncertainly
There are no key assumptions concerning the future, nor 
other key sources at reporting date, that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the amounts 
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

138 CWT International Limited  /  2024年年報

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4 REVENUE
The Group is principally engaged in integrated logistics 
services and related engineering services. The Group is also 
engaged in the affiliated business of commodity marketing 
and financial services.

Disaggregation of revenue
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 
by major products and service lines from continuing 
operations is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Disaggregated by major products and 
 service lines
Freight services 3,737,694 3,000,945
Logistics services 1,528,768 1,467,851
Commodity trading and related services 32,108,541 31,175,669
Equipment and facility maintenance 
 services 642,034 706,710
Design-and-build 822 899
Broking services 625,820 626,035
Others 150,315 158,619  

Revenue from contract with customers 38,793,994 37,136,728
Revenue from leases 91,900 89,567  

38,885,894 37,226,295  

4 
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4 REVENUE (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue (continued)

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers 
by the timing of revenue recognition and by geographic 
markets is disclosed in Note 5.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, as the remaining 
performance obligations of the Group are either from 
contracts that have original expected durations of one year 
or less or from contracts where the Group has a right to 
invoice a customer in an amount that corresponds directly 
with its performance to date, the Group has applied the 
practical expedient in paragraph 121 of HKFRS 15 and 
does not disclose information about the transaction price 
allocated to its remaining performance obligations.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION
Information reported to the chief operating decision maker 
(“CODM”), being the most senior executive management 
of the Group, for the purposes of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance focuses on the types 
of goods or services delivered or provided.

In a manner consistent with the way in which information 
is reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive 
management for the purposes of resource allocation and 
performance assessment, the Group has presented the 
following reportable segments.

Logistics services
This reportable segment includes warehousing, transportation, 
freight forwarding and cargo consolidation, supply chain 
management services.

Commodity marketing
This reportable segment includes physical trading and 
supply chain management of base metal non-ferrous 
concentrates with predominant focus on copper, lead, zinc 
and other minor metals.

4 

5

15 121

5 
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Engineering services
This reportable segment includes management and 
maintenance of facilities, vehicles and equipment, supply and 
installation of engineering products, property management, 
and design-and-build for logistic properties.

Financial services
This reportable segment includes provision of financial 
brokerage services and assets management services.

The operation of the structured trading services included 
in the financial services segment was discontinued in 
2023. The segment information reported does not include 
any amounts for the discontinued operation, which are 
described in more details in Note 13.

Segment results, assets and liabilities
For the purposes of assessing segment performance 
and allocating resources between segments, the CODM 
monitors the results, assets and liabilities attributable to 
each reportable segment on the following bases:

Segment profit before taxation represents operating 
revenue less expenses. Segment assets represents assets 
directly managed by each segment, and primarily include 
inventories, receivables, property, plant and equipment and 
right-of-use assets. Segment liabilities represent liabilities 
directly managed by each segment, and primarily include 
payables, loans and borrowings and lease liabilities.

Revenue and expenses are allocated to the reportable 
segments with reference to sales generated by those 
segments and the expenses incurred by those segments or 
which otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation 
of assets attributable to those segments. Segment profit 
includes the Group’s share of profit arising from the 
activities of the Group’s associates and joint ventures. 
Items not managed by or derived from the operations of 
reportable segments are classified as “unallocated” in the 
segment reconciliations.

5 

13



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1412024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 

5 
S

EG
M

EN
T 

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 (c
on

tin
ue

d)

S
eg

m
en

t 
re

su
lt

s,
 a

ss
et

s 
an

d 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)

D
is

ag
gr

eg
at

io
n 

of
 r

ev
en

ue
 f

ro
m

 c
on

tr
ac

ts
 w

it
h 

cu
st

om
er

s 
by

 
tim

in
g 

of
 r

ev
en

ue
 r

ec
og

ni
tio

n 
as

 w
el

l a
s 

in
fo

rm
at

io
n 

re
ga

rd
in

g 
th

e 
G

ro
up

’s
 r

ep
or

ta
bl

e 
se

gm
en

ts
 a

s 
pr

ov
id

ed
 t

o 
th

e 
G

ro
up

’s
 C

O
D

M
 f

or
 

th
e 

pu
rp

os
es

 o
f 

re
so

ur
ce

 a
llo

ca
tio

n 
an

d 
as

se
ss

m
en

t 
of

 s
eg

m
en

t 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 fo

r t
he

 y
ea

rs
 e

nd
ed

 3
1 

D
ec

em
be

r 2
02

4 
an

d 
20

23
 is

 s
et

 
ou

t b
el

ow
:

Lo
gis

tic
s s

erv
ice

s
Co

mm
od

ity
 m

ark
eti

ng
En

gin
ee

rin
g s

erv
ice

s
Fin

an
cia

l se
rvi

ces
Eli

mi
na

tio
n

To
tal

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Co
nti

nu
ing

 op
era

tio
ns

Re
po

rta
ble

 se
gm

en
t re

ve
nu

e
5,4

33
,09

6
4,6

49
,21

3
32

,10
8,5

41
31

,17
5,6

69
64

9,4
53

71
6,3

61
62

5,8
20

62
6,0

35
(22

,91
6)

(30
,55

0)
38

,79
3,9

94
37

,13
6,7

28
Int

er-
se

gm
en

t re
ve

nu
e

(21
,98

3)
(30

,15
9)

–
–

(93
3)

(39
1)

–
–

22
,91

6
30

,55
0

–
–

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Re
ve

nu
e f

rom
 ex

ter
na

l cu
sto

me
rs

5,4
11

,11
3

4,6
19

,05
4

32
,10

8,5
41

31
,17

5,6
69

64
8,5

20
71

5,9
70

62
5,8

20
62

6,0
35

–
–

38
,79

3,9
94

37
,13

6,7
28

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Re
ve

nu
e f

rom
 ex

ter
na

l cu
sto

me
rs 

 d
isa

gg
reg

ate
d b

y t
im

ing
 

 o
f re

ve
nu

e r
eco

gn
itio

n

 
 

Po
int

 in
 tim

e
2,3

53
,23

8
1,7

90
,68

5
32

,00
3,6

46
31

,06
7,1

86
15

7,6
87

16
0,3

76
62

5,8
20

62
6,0

35
–

–
35

,14
0,3

91
33

,64
4,2

82
Ov

er 
tim

e
3,0

57
,87

5
2,8

28
,36

9
10

4,8
95

10
8,4

83
49

0,8
33

55
5,5

94
–

–
–

–
3,6

53
,60

3
3,4

92
,44

6
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
5,4

11
,11

3
4,6

19
,05

4
32

,10
8,5

41
31

,17
5,6

69
64

8,5
20

71
5,9

70
62

5,8
20

62
6,0

35
–

–
38

,79
3,9

94
37

,13
6,7

28
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Re
ve

nu
e f

rom
 ex

ter
na

l cu
sto

me
rs 

 d
isa

gg
reg

ate
d b

y m
ajo

r p
rod

uc
ts 

 a
nd

 se
rvi

ce 
lin

es

 
 

Fre
igh

t s
erv

ice
s

3,7
37

,69
4

3,0
00

,94
5

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

3,7
37

,69
4

3,0
00

,94
5

Lo
gis

tic
s s

erv
ice

s
1,5

28
,76

8
1,4

67
,85

1
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
1,5

28
,76

8
1,4

67
,85

1
Co

mm
od

ity
 tra

din
g a

nd
 re

lat
ed

 
 s

erv
ice

s
–

–
32

,10
8,5

41
31

,17
5,6

69
–

–
–

–
–

–
32

,10
8,5

41
31

,17
5,6

69
Eq

uip
me

nt 
an

d f
aci

lity
 m

ain
ten

an
ce

 
 s

erv
ice

s
–

–
–

–
64

2,0
34

70
6,7

10
–

–
–

–
64

2,0
34

70
6,7

10
De

sig
n-a

nd
-bu

ild
–

–
–

–
82

2
89

9
–

–
–

–
82

2
89

9
Bro

kin
g s

erv
ice

s
–

–
–

–
–

–
62

5,8
20

62
6,0

35
–

–
62

5,8
20

62
6,0

35
Ot

he
rs

14
4,6

51
15

0,2
58

–
–

5,6
64

8,3
61

–
–

–
–

15
0,3

15
15

8,6
19

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

5,4
11

,11
3

4,6
19

,05
4

32
,10

8,5
41

31
,17

5,6
69

64
8,5

20
71

5,9
70

62
5,8

20
62

6,0
35

–
–

38
,79

3,9
94

37
,13

6,7
28

Le
ase

s
91

,90
0

89
,56

7
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
91

,90
0

89
,56

7
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
5,5

03
,01

3
4,7

08
,62

1
32

,10
8,5

41
31

,17
5,6

69
64

8,5
20

71
5,9

70
62

5,8
20

62
6,0

35
–

–
38

,88
5,8

94
37

,22
6,2

95
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

142 CWT International Limited  /  2024年年報

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
5 

Lo
gis

tic
s s

erv
ice

s
Co

mm
od

ity
 m

ark
eti

ng
En

gin
ee

rin
g s

erv
ice

s
Fin

an
cia

l se
rvi

ces
Eli

mi
na

tio
n

To
tal

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

20
24

20
23

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

HK
$’0

00
HK

$’0
00

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Co
nti

nu
ing

 op
era

tio
ns

Re
su

lts
Int

ere
st 

inc
om

e
25

,75
7

21
,36

9
46

,52
2

40
,90

6
1,4

58
1,1

14
47

9,6
40

40
3,4

63
(3,

55
8)

(6,
61

6)
54

9,8
19

46
0,2

36
Int

ere
st 

ex
pe

ns
e

(13
8,8

06
)

(15
1,9

10
)

(24
1,0

25
)

(19
6,0

19
)

(1,
80

8)
(1,

40
6)

(71
,99

9)
(51

,90
5)

3,7
85

7,1
77

(44
9,8

53
)

(39
4,0

63
)

De
pre

cia
tio

n a
nd

 am
ort

isa
tio

n
(51

1,6
83

)
(52

9,1
37

)
(19

,13
7)

(31
,20

9)
(18

,78
7)

(12
,55

6)
(8,

97
6)

(7,
08

9)
7,9

44
11

,71
0

(55
0,6

39
)

(56
8,2

81
)

Sh
are

 of
 pr

ofi
ts 

les
s lo

sse
s 

 o
f a

sso
cia

tes
 an

d j
oin

t v
en

tur
es

, 
 n

et 
of 

tax

 
 

23
,42

2
41

,72
1

–
–

2,3
85

2,5
20

–
–

–
–

25
,80

7
44

,24
1

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Ne
t g

ain
 on

 di
sp

os
al o

f p
rop

ert
y, 

 p
lan

t a
nd

 eq
uip

me
nt

 
2,5

66
1,9

25
–

–
20

4
76

–
–

–
–

2,7
70

2,0
01

Ne
t g

ain
/(lo

ss)
 on

 di
sp

os
al o

f 
 s

ub
sid

iar
ies

, a
sso

cia
tes

 an
d 

 j
oin

t v
en

tur
es

 
 

 
20

,57
2

(1,
07

9)
–

(4,
60

9)
–

(22
8)

12
(8,

37
3)

–
–

20
,58

4
(14

,28
9)

(Re
co

gn
itio

n)/
rev

ers
al o

f im
pa

irm
en

t 
 l

os
se

s o
n t

rad
e a

nd
 ot

he
r re

ce
iva

ble
s

 
 

(1,
76

1)
88

7
–

–
–

–
(1,

27
7)

92
2

–
–

(3,
03

8)
1,8

09
Pro

vis
ion

 fo
r o

ne
rou

s c
on

tra
cts

 an
d 

co
mp

en
sat

ion
 

–
–

–
–

–
–

(45
,66

2)
(67

,40
7)

–
–

(45
,66

2)
(67

,40
7)

Ga
in/

(lo
ss)

 on
 le

ase
 m

od
ific

ati
on

23
3

3,3
96

(2,
00

1)
63

6
–

–
–

–
–

–
(1,

76
8)

4,0
32

Re
po

rta
ble

 se
gm

en
t p

rof
it

 b
efo

re 
tax

ati
on

28
6,3

33
21

8,4
36

93
,46

8
17

,20
6

38
,28

6
33

,43
9

19
8,8

25
19

2,8
34

99
1,7

15
61

7,0
11

46
3,6

30
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Re
po

rta
ble

 se
gm

en
t a

sse
ts

6,8
45

,43
6

7,3
17

,91
1

7,8
11

,63
9

6,2
05

,45
5

46
7,4

14
52

8,4
44

12
,12

3,1
38

11
,14

1,4
90

(26
3,7

89
)

(41
9,4

28
)

26
,98

3,8
38

24
,77

3,8
72

Int
ere

sts
 in

 as
so

cia
tes

 an
d 

 j
oin

t v
en

tur
es

 
42

4,5
47

42
3,7

89
–

–
9,9

60
7,9

46
–

–
–

–
43

4,5
07

43
1,7

35
Ca

pit
al e

xp
en

dit
ure

66
,80

8
63

,23
5

76
7

1,0
74

6,0
72

5,0
88

6,1
24

3,4
89

–
–

79
,77

1
72

,88
6

Re
po

rta
ble

 se
gm

en
t li

ab
ilit

ies
3,8

47
,46

4
4,3

05
,57

5
6,5

66
,51

7
5,0

11
,89

6
25

6,3
09

31
3,9

27
11

,00
0,7

06
9,9

02
,96

6
(26

4,8
47

)
(41

9,6
24

)
21

,40
6,1

49
19

,11
4,7

40
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

5 
S

EG
M

EN
T 

IN
FO

R
M

A
TI

O
N

 (c
on

tin
ue

d)

S
eg

m
en

t 
re

su
lt

s,
 a

ss
et

s 
an

d 
lia

bi
lit

ie
s 

(c
on

tin
ue

d)



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1432024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or 
loss, assets and liabilities and other material 
items

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations
Reportable segment profit or loss
Total profit before taxation for reportable  
 segments 617,011 463,630
Unallocated amounts:
 Fair value change of other financial 
  assets

 
354 (163,920)

 Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain  (26,451) 4,879
 Depreciation of right-of-use assets  (2,777) (2,674)
 Finance costs  (36,481) (36,023)
 Unallocated income and gains  16,625 3,263
 Unallocated expenses  (77,818) (89,790)  

Profit before taxation 490,463 179,365  
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5 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or 
loss, assets and liabilities and other material 
items (continued)

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Reportable segment assets
 Logistic services  6,845,436 7,317,911
 Commodity marketing  7,811,639 6,205,455
 Engineering services  467,414 528,444
 Financial services  12,123,138 11,141,490

Elimination of inter-segment assets (263,789) (419,428)  

Total reportable segment assets 26,983,838 24,773,872

Unallocated assets:
 Interests in associates and joint 
  ventures

 
434,507 431,735

 Deferred tax assets  41,004 60,383
 Tax recoverable  16,974 32,966
 Cash and cash equivalents  118,177 91,992
 Other financial assets  27,707 28,653
 Other unallocated assets  9,833 18,628  

Consolidated total assets 27,632,040 25,438,229  
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Reconciliations of reportable segment profit or 
loss, assets and liabilities and other material 
items (continued)

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Reportable segment liabilities
 Logistic services  3,847,464 4,305,575
 Commodity marketing  6,566,517 5,011,896
 Engineering services  256,309 313,927
 Financial services  11,000,706 9,902,966

Elimination of inter-segment liabilities (264,847) (419,624)  

Total reportable segment liabilities 21,406,149 19,114,740  

Unallocated liabilities:
 Perpetual notes (Note 27(c))  27(c) 357,351 359,587
 Promissory Note (Note 27(a))  27(a) 666,000 716,000
 Current tax payable  76,715 64,943
 Deferred tax liabilities  216,299 249,040
 Other unallocated liabilities  4,078 135,757  

Consolidated total liabilities 22,726,592 20,640,067  

5 
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5 5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic information
The logistic services and commodity marketing segments 
are managed on a worldwide basis and the Group operates 
principally in Mainland China, Singapore, other parts of Asia 
Pacific Region, Europe, North America, Africa continent 
and South America. Engineering services are primarily in 
Singapore. Financial services operate mainly in Mainland 
China, Singapore and North America.

In presenting information on the basis of geographical 
segments, segment revenue is based on the geographical 
locations from which the Group derives its revenue from 
continuing operations. Segment non-current assets (other 
than loans and receivables, financial instruments and 
deferred tax assets) are based on the geographical location 
of the assets.

Revenue from
external customers

Specified
non-current assets

2024 2023 2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

PRC 27,020,205 25,335,560 75,470 125,696
Singapore 2,770,194 3,731,910 3,785,141 4,239,029
Hong Kong 83,058 69,788 7,791 3,416
Korea 918,119 1,522,842 518 491
Other Asia Pacific 
 jurisdictions 3,804,268 2,919,914 564,951 544,122
Europe 3,823,288 3,223,506 1,064,244 1,136,430
North America 227,919 241,815 21,462 22,268
Africa continent 198,055 148,467 50,549 54,364
South America 40,788 32,493 8,914 8,656    

38,885,894 37,226,295 5,579,040 6,134,472    
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5 

10%

6 

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Information about major customers
No single customer contributed over 10% or more to the 
Group’s consolidated revenue from continuing operations 
for both 2024 and 2023.

6 OTHER INCOME

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations
Interest income on financial assets 
 measured at amortised cost  556,117 462,499
Dividend income from other financial 
 assets 134 263
Government grants 8,370 7,971
Others 55,711 34,442  

620,332 505,175  
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7 

(i) 

163,920,000

(ii) 

6 , 6 3 8 , 0 0 0
6 7 , 4 0 7 , 0 0 0

39,024,000

7 OTHER NET LOSSES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment

 
 2,770 2,001

Net gain/(loss) on disposal of subsidiaries, 
 associates and joint ventures

 
 20,584 (14,289)

Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (16,375) 10,926
(Recognition)/reversal of impairment 
 losses on trade and other receivables  (3,038) 1,809
Net loss on disposal of intangible assets (30) –

Net gain/(loss) on financial instruments 
 carried at FVPL (Note (i))

 
 (i) 318 (164,999)

Others (Note (ii)) (ii) (47,390) (70,334)  

(43,161) (234,886)  

Notes:

(i) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
recognised a fair value loss on investment in certain 
unlisted equity securities carried at FVPL of approximately 
HK$Nil (2023: HK$163,920,000).

(ii) During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group 
recognised provision for onerous contracts of HK$6,638,000 
(2023: HK$67,407,000) and settled compensation of 
HK$39,024,000 (2023: Nil).
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8 

9 

8 FINANCE COSTS

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations
Interests expense on:
 Bank borrowings and other facilities  306,075 272,411
 Lease liabilities  94,185 102,882
 Others  86,074 54,792
Other finance costs 44,234 41,169  

530,568 471,254
Bank charges 54,437 49,997  

585,005 521,251  

9 PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
Profit before taxation has been arrived after charging:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Continuing operations
Staff costs, including Directors’ 
 emoluments:
 Salaries, wages and other benefits  1,370,079 1,321,077
 Retirement benefit scheme 
  contributions

 
104,627 99,940  

1,474,706 1,421,017  

Depreciation of property, plant and 
 equipment 216,793 212,187
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 306,975 332,440
Amortisation of intangible assets 29,833 28,967
Auditor’s remuneration 14,512 21,727
Cost of inventories sold 30,977,738 32,072,487  
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10 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current tax
 Provision for the year – overseas 
  income tax

  – 
124,294 96,848

 Under-provision in respect 
  of prior years

 
13,442 2,260  

137,736 99,108
Deferred tax charged for the year 
 (Note 31)

31
(1,885) (7,322)

Withholding tax 6,305 15,812  

Total income tax expense 142,156 107,598  

Attributable from:
 –  continuing operations  –  142,156 121,642
 –  discontinued operation  –  – (14,044)  

142,156 107,598  

For the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no 
provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the 
Group had no assessable profits arising in Hong Kong for 
both years.

Taxation outside Hong Kong is calculated on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year at the rates of taxation 
prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Pillar Two income taxes
PRC is the tax jurisdiction of the Group’s ultimate controlling 
party, intermediate holding companies and immediate 
holding company. Although the PRC has not enacted Pillar 
Two legislation, the Group is subject to Pillar Two legislation 
as the Group has operations in certain jurisdictions where 
the Pillar Two legislation is effective, enacted and/or 
substantially enacted but not yet in effect at the end of the 
reporting period.

For group entities operating in jurisdictions where the 
Pillar Two legislation is effective

The Group’s estimated effective tax rates of all the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates are higher than 
15%, after taking into account the adjustments under the 
Pilar Two legislation based on management’s best estimate, 
the management of the Group considered the Group is 
not liable to top-up tax under the Pilar Two legislation. 
The Group has no tax expense related to the Pillar Two 
legislation during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023.

The Group has applied a temporary mandatory relief from 
deferred tax accounting for the impacts of the top-tax and 
accounts for it as a current tax when it is incurred.

10 

15%
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10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Pillar Two income taxes (Continued)
For group entities operating in jurisdictions where 
the Pillar Two legislation is enacted or substantially 
enacted but not yet in effect

The Group is in the process of assessing the exposure 
to the Pillar Two income taxes arising from the Pillar Two 
legislation. Based on the Group’s preliminary assessment, 
the average effective tax rates calculated based on 
accounting tax expense and the accounting profit in which 
Group operates are higher than the minimum tax rate of 
15%. 

However, this information is based on the Group’s best 
estimate of the globe income calculation and all the 
adjustments required to determine the effective tax rates 
in accordance with the Pillar Two legislation have not been 
considered which could give rise to different effective tax 
rates under the legislation. Accordingly, other entities in the 
Group with higher accounting average effective tax rates 
may also be exposed to Pillar Two income taxes.

The Group continues to assess the financial impact of the 
Pillar Two legislation.

10 

 

15%
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10 10 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Reconciliation between income tax and profit 
before taxation from continuing operations at 
applicable tax rates:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit before taxation from continuing 
 operations 490,463 179,365
Less:  Share of profits less losses of  

 associates and joint ventures,  
 net of tax

  
 

(25,807) (44,241)  

464,656 135,124  

Notional tax on profit before taxation, 
 calculated at the rates applicable to 
 profit in the jurisdictions concerned

 
 

109,080 48,181
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 56,273 97,298
Tax effect of non-taxable income (22,064) (24,037)
Tax effect of utilisation of previously not 
 recognised tax losses and allowances 
 and temporary difference, net

 
  
 (23,995) (28,876)

Effect of changes in tax rates (58) 957
Under-provision in respective 
 prior years 16,615 12,307
Withholding tax 6,305 15,812  

Income tax expense 142,156 121,642  
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11 

(a) 

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments

Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments for the 
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 are set 
out below:

Fees

Salaries
and other

benefits

Retirement
benefit

scheme
contributions

Total
emoluments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

2024
Executive Directors
Wang Kan (Note i) i – 2,271 153 2,424
Zhao Quan – 1,270 – 1,270
Peng Biao (Note ii) ii – – – –
Xu Xu (Note iii) iii – – – –
Wang Qi (Note iv) iv – – – –
Huang Fenglin (Note iv) iv – – – –

Independent Non-executive 
 Directors
Leung Shun Sang, Tony (Note v) v 148 – – 148
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin 300 – – 300
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey 300 – – 300
Liu Yifei (Note vi) vi 235 – – 235

Chief Executive Officer
Shang Duoxu (Note vii) vii – 829 60 889    

983 4,370 213 5,566
    

2023
Executive Directors
Wang Kan (Note i) i – 1,865 181 2,046
Zhao Quan – 1,051 – 1,051
Peng Biao (Note ii) ii – – – –
Xu Xu (Note iii) iii – – – –
Yan Shen (Note viii) viii – 958 58 1,016

Independent Non-executive 
 Directors
Leung Shun Sang, Tony (Note v) v 300 – – 300
Liem Chi Kit, Kevin 300 – – 300
Lam Kin Fung, Jeffrey 300 – – 300
Liu Yifei (Note vi) vi 24 – – 24    

924 3,874 239 5,037
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11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a) Directors’ and chief executives’ emoluments 
(continued)
Notes:

(i) Mr. Wang Kan was the Chief Executive Officer 
until resigned on 28 June 2024, but remains to be 
an Executive Director. His emoluments disclosed 
above include those for services rendered by him 
as the Chief Executive Officer.

(ii) Mr. Peng Biao resigned as an Executive Director on 
10 May 2024.

(iii) Mr. Xu Xu was appointed as an Executive Director 
on 7 August 2023 and resigned on 10 May 2024.

(iv) Mr. Wang Qi and Mr. Huang Fengl in were 
appointed as Executive Directors on 10 May 2024.

(v) Mr.  Leung Shun Sang, Tony ret i red as an 
Independent Non-executive Director on 27 June 
2024.

(vi) Ms. Liu Yifei was appointed as an Independent 
Non-executive Director on 20 November 2023.

(vii) Mr. Shang Duoxu was appointed as the Chief 
Executive Officer on 28 June 2024.

(viii) Ms. Yan Shen resigned as an Executive Director on 
7 August 2023.

The Executive Directors’ emoluments shown above 
were mainly for their services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company and the 
Group.

The Independent Non-execut ive D i rectors’ 
emoluments shown above were mainly for their 
services as Directors of the Company.

During both years, no remuneration was paid by the 
Group to the Directors or the Chief Executive Officer 
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group 
or as compensation for loss of office. There was no 
arrangement under which a Director or the Chief 
Executive Officer waived or agreed to waive any 
remuneration during the years.

11 

(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) 

(vii) 

(viii) 
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11 

(b) 

11 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ 
EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(b) Five individuals with highest emoluments
Of the five individuals with highest emoluments in 
the Group, none (2023: none) of them is a Director 
of the Company whose emoluments are set out 
above. The emoluments of the remaining five (2023: 
five) individuals are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Salaries and other benefits 11,075 30,063
Bonus 50,709 44,281
Contributions to retirement benefit 
 schemes 425 312  

62,209 74,656  

The emoluments were within the following bands:

2024 2023

Number of
individuals

Number of
individuals

    

HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001  
3,500,000 1 –

HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,500,001  
4,000,000 1 –

HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001  
5,000,000 1 –

HK$9,500,001 to HK$10,000,000 9,500,001  
10,000,000 – 1

HK$11,500,001 to HK$12,000,000 11,500,001  
12,000,000 – 2

HK$12,500,001 to HK$13,000,000 12,500,001  
13,000,000 – 1

HK$19,500,001 to HK$20,000,000 19,500,001  
20,000,000 1 –

HK$28,500,001 to HK$29,000,000 28,500,001  
29,000,000 – 1

HK$30,500,001 to HK$31,000,000 30,500,001  
31,000,000 1 –
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12 

13 

12 DIVIDEND
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders 
of the Company during the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023, nor has any dividend been proposed after the 
end of reporting period.

13 DISCONTINUED OPERATION
The Group ceased structured trading services business 
in 2023. Structured trading services business engaged in 
structured trade financing and trade facilitation according 
to the customers’ requirements and market demand 
which represented a major line of business in the financial 
services segment. Accordingly, the Group’s structured 
trading services business was considered as discontinued 
during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The profit from the structured trading services business for 
the year ended on 31 December 2023  is set out below.

2023

HK$’000

   

Results of discontinued operation
Revenue 1,615,916
Cost of sales (1,607,327) 

Gross profit 8,589
Other income and net (losses) 3,623
Administrative expenses (1,004)
Finance costs (3,781) 

Profit before taxation 7,427
Income tax credit 14,044 

Profit for the year 21,471
 

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company 21,360
Non-controlling interests 111 

21,471
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13 13 DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

Profit for the year from discontinued operation included the 
following:

2023

HK$’000

   

Staff costs, including Directors’ emoluments:
 Salaries, wages and other benefits  337
 Retirement benefit scheme contributions  157 

494
 

Auditor’s remuneration 267
Reversal of impairment losses on trade and 
 other receivables  (17,404)

 

Cash flows from discontinued operation:

2023

HK$’000

   

Net cash used in operating activities (20,625)
Net cash generated from investing activities 554
Net cash generated from financing activities 21,290 

Net cash flows for the year 1,219
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14 
(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 
11,399,996,101
11,399,996,101

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is 
based on:

(i) The profit for the year attributable to 
owners of the Company

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

From continuing and 
 discontinued operations

 
 

Profit attributable to owners of 
 the Company 304,386 39,093  

From continuing operations
Profit attributable to owners of 
 the Company 304,386 39,093
Less:  Profit for the year  

 from discontinued  
 operation

  
 

– 21,360  

Profit attributable to owners of 
 the Company from continuing 
 operations

 
 

304,386 17,733  

(ii)  T h e  w e i g h t e d  a v e r a g e  n u m b e r  o f 
ordinary shares of 11,399,996,101 (2023: 
11,399,996,101) in issue during the year, 
which is the same as for both continuing 
and discontinued operations and continuing 
operations.



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

160 CWT International Limited  /  2024年年報

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

(b) Diluted earnings per share
No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings 
per share presented for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 in respect of a dilution as 
the Company does not have any dilutive potential 
ordinary shares in existence.

(c) From discontinued operation
For the year ended 31 December 2023, basic and 
diluted earnings per share for the discontinued 
operation is HK 0.18 cents per share, based on the 
profit for the year from the discontinued operation of 
approximately HK$21,360,000 and the denominators 
detailed above for both basic and diluted earnings 
per share.

14 
(b) 

(c) 

0.18

21,360,000
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15 15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land,

buildings and
improvements

Plant,
machinery

and
equipment

Motor
vehicles

and
trailers

Furniture,
fittings,

computers,
and office

equipment

Assets
under

construction Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

COST
At 1 January 2023 4,011,137 73,126 44,526 43,783 320 4,172,892
Reclassifications (Note 16) 16 – 3,827 – – – 3,827
Additions 5,922 20,188 22,247 15,551 7,567 71,475
Disposals (782) (11,973) (15,818) (5,344) – (33,917)
Disposal of subsidiaries – – – (292) – (292)
Exchange realignment 83,601 5,888 1,669 227 124 91,509      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
 4,099,878 91,056 52,624 53,925 8,011 4,305,494      

Transfers 2,006 2,666 – 4,934 (9,606) –
Reclassifications (Note 16) 16 – 9,378 1,231 – – 10,609
Additions 19,323 18,875 7,781 10,117 19,645 75,741
Disposals (2,561) (21,995) (7,133) (6,358) – (38,047)
Exchange realignment (192,181) (12,730) (5,410) (4,913) (574) (215,808)      

At 31 December 2024 3,926,465 87,250 49,093 57,705 17,476 4,137,989
      

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
 IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 646,025 15,008 10,239 18,479 – 689,751      

Reclassifications (Note 16) 16 – 3,827 – – – 3,827
Transfer (18) – – 18 – –
Charge for the year 175,785 18,933 7,293 10,176 – 212,187
Disposals (688) (11,932) (14,435) (5,117) – (32,172)
Disposal of subsidiaries – – – (286) – (286)
Exchange realignment 26,717 4,802 1,227 174 – 32,920      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024  
 847,821 30,638 4,324 23,444 – 906,227      

Reclassifications (Note 16) 16 – 8,609 1,143 – – 9,752
Transfer 23 – – (23) – –
Charge for the year 174,770 19,983 9,361 12,679 – 216,793
Disposals (2,053) (21,709) (6,865) (6,253) – (36,880)
Exchange realignment (66,793) (10,204) (3,279) (3,603) – (83,879)      

At 31 December 2024 953,768 27,317 4,684 26,244 – 1,012,013      

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2024 2,972,697 59,933 44,409 31,461 17,476 3,125,976      

At 31 December 2023 3,252,057 60,418 48,300 30,481 8,011 3,399,267
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16 16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Land

Office, 
buildings 

and 
warehouses

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles 

and trailers

Furniture,
 fittings,

 computers 
and office 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

COST
At 1 January 2023 778,080 2,904,436 88,636 25,748 7,171 3,804,071
Reclassifications (Note 15) 15 – – (3,827) – – (3,827)
Additions 829 52,431 9,989 4,388 356 67,993
Disposal of subsidiaries – (6,027) – – – (6,027)
Retired/terminated – (218,926) (5,998) (2,783) (134) (227,841)
Lease modification 42,021 35,293 (548) 338 292 77,396
Exchange realignment 16,446 35,190 2,181 290 118 54,225      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
 837,376 2,802,397 90,433 27,981 7,803 3,765,990      

Reclassifications (Note 15) 15 – – (9,378) (1,231) – (10,609)
Additions 297 14,953 19,079 7,623 1,447 43,399
Retired/terminated – (187,422) (19,347) (8,148) (93) (215,010)
Lease modification 14,622 65,711 1,038 (460) (2,106) 78,805
Exchange realignment (38,699) (108,443) (3,069) (1,385) (242) (151,838)      

At 31 December 2024 813,596 2,587,196 78,756 24,380 6,809 3,510,737      
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Land

Office, 
buildings 

and 
warehouses

Plant, 
machinery 

and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles 

and trailers

Furniture,
 fittings,

 computers 
and office 

equipment Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
 IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2023 208,968 1,256,934 54,402 14,695 2,596 1,537,595
Depreciation charge for the year 35,469 272,221 17,037 6,231 1,482 332,440
Reclassifications (Note 15) 15 – – (3,827) – – (3,827)
Retired/terminated – (218,926) (5,998) (2,783) (134) (227,841)
Disposal of subsidiaries – (4,236) – – – (4,236)
Lease modification – (37,365) (1,021) 134 (70) (38,322)
Exchange realignment 3,924 13,762 1,314 189 57 19,246      

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024
 248,361 1,282,390 61,907 18,466 3,931 1,615,055      

Depreciation charge for the year 35,655 246,356 16,909 6,643 1,412 306,975
Reclassifications (Note 15) 15 – – (8,609) (1,143) – (9,752)
Retired/terminated – (187,422) (19,347) (8,148) (93) (215,010)
Lease modification – (12,779) (227) (472) (1,750) (15,228)
Exchange realignment (12,111) (51,212) (2,151) (903) (121) (66,498)      

At 31 December 2024 271,905 1,277,333 48,482 14,443 3,379 1,615,542      

CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 2024 541,691 1,309,863 30,274 9,937 3,430 1,895,195      

At 31 December 2023 589,015 1,520,007 28,526 9,515 3,872 2,150,935
      

16 16 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued)
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17 17 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Customer
contracts

LME
Licence

Computer
software

Business
relationships Brand Total

LME

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

COST
At 1 January 2023 24,757 37,077 46,537 103,466 250,141 461,978
Additions – – 1,476 – – 1,476
Exchange realignment 440 659 358 (980) 2,615 3,092      

At 31 December 2023 and 
 1 January 2024

 
 25,197 37,736 48,371 102,486 252,756 466,546

Additions – – 4,392 - - 4,392
Disposal – – (852) – – (852)
Exchange realignment (989) (1,481) (1,081) 2,382 (5,756) (6,925)      

At 31 December 2024 24,208 36,255 50,830 104,868 247,000 463,161      

ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION
At 1 January 2023 24,757 37,077 6,055 102,222 132,284 302,395
Charge for the year – – 3,670 – 25,297 28,967
Exchange realignment 440 659 174 (1,001) 893 1,165      

At 31 December 2023 and  
 1 January 2024

 
 25,197 37,736 9,899 101,221 158,474 332,527

Charge for the year – – 4,544 – 25,289 29,833
Disposal – – (822) – – (822)
Exchange realignment (989) (1,481) (624) 2,432 (2,681) (3,343)      

At 31 December 2024 24,208 36,255 12,997 103,653 181,082 358,195      

NET BOOK VALUE
At 31 December 2024 – – 37,833 1,215 65,918 104,966      

At 31 December 2023 – – 38,472 1,265 94,282 134,019
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18 18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Share of net assets 307,985 258,402
Goodwill on acquisition 30,620 31,871
Quasi-equity loan to an associate  

 2,059 2,090  

340,664 292,363  

Quasi-equity loan to an associate is interest-free and forms 
part of the Group’s net investment in that associate. The 
loan is unsecured and settlement is neither planned nor 
likely to occur in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all associates are 
unlisted and each of them does not have a significant 
financial impact on the Group’s results and financial 
position. Aggregate financial information of associates that 
are not individually material is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount in the consolidated 
 financial statements 340,664 292,363

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share 
 of associates’
 –  Profit for the year  – 64,315 38,571
 –  Other comprehensive expense  – 10,610 (4,980)  

Total comprehensive income 74,925 33,591  
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18 

16
34,553,000
CWT-SML Logistics LLC CWT-SML

CWT-SML 40%
45%

CWT-SML CWT-
SML

CWT-SML
CWT-SML

CWT-SML

25,100,000

19 

18 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group 
acquired additional interests in CWT-SML Logistics LLC 
(“CWT-SML”), an existing joint venture of the Group, 
with consideration of AED16 mill ion (approximately 
HK$34,553,000). Upon the completion of the acquisition 
by the Group, the Group’s interests in CWT-SML increased 
from 40% to 45%. Under the new cooperation agreement, 
there was an additional shareholder in CWT-SML. The 
Group reassessed the controlling structure of CWT-SML 
and concluded that the Group no longer has joint control 
in CWT-SML. Accordingly, CWT-SML ceased to be a joint 
venture of the Company and is accounted for an associate 
of the Company. The Group’s interests in CWT-SML 
continue to be accounted for under the equity method 
and the excess of the consideration paid over the share of 
carrying amount of net assets attributable to the additional 
interests in associates acquired was recognised as goodwill 
of HK$25,100,000 included in the carrying amount of 
interests in associates.

19 INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, all joint ventures are 
unlisted and each of them does not have a significant 
financial impact on the Group’s results and financial 
position. Aggregate financial information of joint ventures 
that are not individually material is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Carrying amount in the consolidated 
 financial statements 93,843 139,372

Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share 
 of joint ventures’
 –  (Loss)/profit for the year  – (38,508) 5,670
 –  Other comprehensive (expense)/ 

 income
 – 

(1,056) 3,518  

Total comprehensive (expense)/income (39,564) 9,188  
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20 

(i) 

(ii) 
3.91% 5.29%

4.32% 5.44%
1 12 1 12

20 OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current:

Financial assets measured at 
 FVPL

 
 

 –  Unlisted equity securities  –  27,941 28,908

Financial assets measured at 
 FVOCI

 
 

 –  Unlisted equity securities  –  (i) 1,524 1,539  

29,465 30,447  

Current:

Financial assets measured at 
 amortised cost
 –  Quoted treasury securities  

 (Note 26(b))
 –  26(b)

(ii) 1,331,483 1,336,965
Financial assets measured at 
 FVPL

 
 

 –  Listed equity securities  –  705 788  

1,332,188 1,337,753  

Notes:

(i) The Group designated the unquoted equity securities as at 
FVOCI as these equity investments represent investments 
that the Group intends to hold for the long-term for 
strategic purposes. The unquoted equity securities are 
equity shares in American Financial Exchange LLC.

(ii) As at 31 December 2024, the treasury securities are 
quoted with yields ranging from 3.91% to 5.29% (2023: 
4.32% to 5.44%) with maturity dates between 1 to 12 
months (2023: 1 to 12 months). The treasury securities 
were purchased using customer segregated funds held 
and are either pledged as margin deposits with the Chicago 
Mercantile Exchange (“CME”), pledged as margin deposits 
with a subsidiary’s carry brokers or held in a safekeeping 
account at a subsidiary’s settlement bank.
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21 

22 

11,058,000 2,389,000
2,122,000

9,130,000 5,335,000
3,742,000

21 INVENTORIES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Commodity inventories at fair value 966,596 2,331,980
Commodity inventories at lower of cost  
 and net realisable value

 
 2,235,650 640,217

Raw materials 3,908 3,843
Finished goods 7,787 8,585
Others 85 12  

3,214,026 2,984,637  

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade debtors and bills receivables at 
 amortised cost

 
 877,989 750,123

Less: Loss allowance (26,820) (28,479)  

851,169 721,644
Trade receivables containing provisional 
 pricing features, measured at FVPL

 
 2,512,069 1,553,720  

3,363,238 2,275,364  

All of the trade receivables are expected to be recovered 
within one year.

As at 31 December 2024, trade receivables amounted to 
HK$11,058,000, HK$2,389,000 and HK$2,122,000 (2023: 
HK$9,130,000, HK$5,335,000 and HK$3,742,000), are 
due from the Group’s associates, joint ventures and other 
related parties, respectively.
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22 

36(b)

23 

22 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

As at the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis 
of trade debtors and bills receivables based on the invoice 
date and net of loss allowance, is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0–90 days 0–90 3,233,932 2,186,879
91–180 days 91–180 114,232 78,242
181–365 days 181–365 13,806 8,153
1–2 years 1–2 1,268 2,090  

3,363,238 2,275,364  

Further details of the Group’s credit policy and expected 
credit loss allowances are set out in Note 36(b).

23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES

2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Assets held or segregated in 
 separate accounts (a) 9,717,255 9,507,969
Deposits and other receivables (b) 430,434 288,849
Amounts due from other related 
 parties (c) 18,630 3,546
Loans to third parties (d) 20,478 –

Loans to related parties (e) 9,318 –

Loans to non-controlling interests (f) 4,056 4,121  

10,200,171 9,804,485
Prepayment and deferred costs 408,094 224,810  

10,608,265 10,029,295
Less: non-current portion (108,421) (82,350)  

10,499,844 9,946,945  
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23 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 
RECEIVABLES (continued)
Notes:

(a) The balance included customers’ funds of HK$8,993,769,000 
(2023: HK$7,831,546,000) held by the Group in respect of 
the Group’s commodity marketing and financial services, 
which are required to be held in segregated accounts by laws 
and regulations of the Securities and Futures Act (“SFA”) 
governed by Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”), the 
Commodities Trading Act (“CTA”) governed by International 
Enterprise Singapore (“IE Singapore”), Commodity 
Futures Trading Commission (“CFTC”) in the USA and 
the Commodity Futures Trading Law in Indonesia. These 
customers’ funds are included in “trade and other payables 
(see Note 26(b)).

(b) Deposits and other receivables included guarantee deposits 
of HK$89,568,000 (2023: HK$72,315,000) placed at CME 
and Asia Pacific Exchange (“APEX”).

(c) Amounts due from other related parties represented non-
trade amounts due from associates, joint ventures and 
non-controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and 
repayable on demand.

(d) Loans to third parties are unsecured, interest-bearing at 8% 
per annum and repayable on demand.

(e) Loans to related parties are unsecured and bears interest 
rate at 5%-5.5% (2023: Nil) per annum, and is repayable in 
2026 to 2029.

(f) Loans to non-controlling interests include a balance of 
HK$205,000 (2023: HK$249,000) which is unsecured, 
interest-bearing at 9% (2023: 9%) per annum and repayable 
by May 2027. The remaining balance is unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

23 

(a) 

8,993,769,000
7,831,546,000

26(b)

(b) 

89,568,000
72,315,000

(c) 

(d) 8%

(e) 
5%–5.5%

(f) 
205,000 249,000

9%
9%
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24 

25 

(a) 

0 . 0 1 %
3 . 2 8 % 0 . 0 1 %
4.05%

24 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group’s rights 
to consideration for work completed but not billed at 
the reporting date for logistics services and engineering 
services rendered. The contract assets are transferred to 
trade receivables when the rights become unconditional. 
This usually occurs when the Group invoices customers.

The contract l iabi l i t ies pr imari ly relate to advance 
consideration received from customers. During the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, current contract 
liabilities at beginning of the year has been recognised as 
revenue during the year.

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash and bank deposits, representing 
 cash and cash equivalents in the 
 consolidated statement of financial 
 position

 
  
 

2,271,537 1,998,840

Less:
Bank overdrafts (7,463) (4,221)  

Cash and cash equivalents in the 
 consolidated statement of cash 
 flows

 
2,264,074 1,994,619  

Bank balances carry interest at prevailing bank saving 
deposits rates ranging from 0.01% to 3.28% (2023: 
0.01% to 4.05%) per annum.
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25 
 

(b) 

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash 
generated from operations

2024 2023

 NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Profit before taxation
 –  from continuing operations  – 490,463 179,365
 –  from discontinued  

 operation
 – 

– 7,427  

490,463 186,792  

Adjustments for:
 Depreciation of property, 
  plant and equipment

 
15 216,793 212,187

 Amortisation of intangible 
  assets

 
17 29,833 28,967

 Depreciation of right-of-use 
  assets

 
16 306,975 332,440

 Interest expenses and other 
  finance costs

  
  530,568 475,035

 Net (gain)/loss on financial 
  instruments carried at 
  FVPL

  
   
  7 (318) 164,999

 Net (gain)/loss on disposal of:  
  

  –  subsidiaries, associates  
 and joint ventures

  –   
 7 (20,584) 14,289

  –  property, plant and  
 equipment

  – 
7 (2,770) (2,001)

  –  Intangible assets   – 7 30 –

 Interest income  (556,117) (463,152)
 Share of profit of associates 
  and joint ventures

  
  (25,807) (44,241)

 Dividend income from other 
  financial assets

  
  6 (134) (263)
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2024 2023

 NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Recognition/(reversal) of 
 impairment losses on  
 trade and other receivables

 
 3,038 (19,213)

Loss/(gain) arising from lease 
 modification  1,768 (4,032)  

Operating cash flows before 
 changes in working capital

 
 973,738 881,807  

(Increase)/decrease in 
 inventories (254,516) 302,740
(Increase)/decrease in trade 
 and other receivables and 
 contract assets

 
  
 (1,890,209) 6,067,300

Net change in derivative 
 financial instruments (698,398) 132,814
Increase/(decrease) in trade 
 and other payables and 
 contract liabilities

 
  
 2,349,943 (6,394,305)

Decrease in employee benefits (4,404) (3,446)
Decrease in provisions (29,483) (35,909)  

Cash generated from 
 operations 446,671 951,001  

25 
 

(b) 

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(continued)

(b) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash 
generated from operations (continued)
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25 

(c) 

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s 
liabilities from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from 
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows 
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the 
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as 
cash flows from financing activities.

Loans and 
borrowings Lease liabilities

Loan from 
non-controlling 

interests Total

(Note) (Note 29(a)) (Note 26(e))
29(a) 26(e)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2024 5,642,057 2,349,612 7,025 7,998,694
Changes from financing cash flows:
 Proceeds from loans and borrowings  342,773 – – 342,773
 Capital element of lease payment  – (303,975) – (303,975)
 Interest element of lease payment  – (94,185) – (94,185)
 Advance from non-controlling interests  – – 2,151 2,151    

Total changes from financing cash flows 342,773 (398,160) 2,151 (53,236)    

Changes from operating cash flows:
 Interest paid  (391,853) - – (391,853)    

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (70,883) (93,966) (99) (164,948)

Other changes:
 New leases  – 42,878 – 42,878
 Lease modification  – 95,801 – 95,801
 Net movement in other payable  (41,379) – – (41,379)
 Interest expense and other finance 
  costs

 
436,383 94,185 – 530,568    

Total other changes 395,004 232,864 – 627,868    

At 31 December 2024 5,917,098 2,090,350 9,077 8,016,525    
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25 

(c) 

27

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(continued)

(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 
financing activities (continued)

Loans and 
borrowings Lease liabilities

Loan from 
non-controlling 

interests Total

(Note) (Note 29(a)) (Note 26(e))
29(a) 26(e)

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

At 1 January 2023 5,726,355 2,454,226 87,566 8,268,147
Changes from financing cash flows:
 Repayment of loans and borrowings  (116,323) – – (116,323)
 Capital element of lease payment  – (318,225) – (318,225)
 Interest element of lease payment  – (102,660) – (102,660)
 Advance from non-controlling interests  – – 26,572 26,572    

Total changes from financing cash flows (116,323) (420,885) 26,572 (510,636)    

Changes from operating cash flows:
 Interest paid  (323,762) – – (323,762)    

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 28,868 35,381 8,441 72,690

Other changes:
 New leases  – 67,993 – 67,993
 Disposal of subsidiaries  – (1,806) (115,554) (117,360)
 Lease modification  – 111,732 – 111,732
 Net movement in other payable  (45,234) 89 – (45,145)
 Interest expense and other finance 
  costs

 
372,153 102,882 – 475,035    

Total other changes 326,919 280,890 (115,554) 492,255    

At 31 December 2023 5,642,057 2,349,612 7,025 7,998,694
    

Note:

Loan and borrowings consist of all the current and non-
current loans and borrowing as disclosed in Note 27, 
except the bank overdrafts.
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25 
 

(d) 

552,170,000
4,088,802,000

(e) 

27

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
(continued)

(d) Major non-cash transaction
During the year ended 31 December 2023, trade 
receivables and trade payables of approximately 
US$552,170,000 (equivalent to HK$4,088,802,000)  
were offset and settled under net settlement 
agreements.

(e) Pledged bank deposits
Pledged bank deposits represent deposits pledged 
to banks to secure banking facilities granted to 
the Group. The deposits have been pledged to 
secure bank overdrafts/short-term bank loans/
undrawn facilities and are therefore classified as 
current assets. Details of the secured facilities are 
disclosed in Note 27. The pledged bank deposits will 
be released upon the settlement of relevant bank 
borrowings.
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26 26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Trade and bills payables
–  measured at amortised cost – 398,857 146,161
–  containing provisional pricing  

 features and measured at  
 FVPL

–   
  
 1,487,503 1,086,671  

(a) 1,886,360 1,232,832
Amount segregated for customers (b) 10,325,252 9,168,511
Provision for a legal case (c) 52,395 88,639
Provision for onerous contracts 73,612 67,407
Other payables and accruals 1,541,081 1,171,815
Amount due to related parties (d) 780 652
Loans from non-controlling interests (e) 9,077 7,025  

13,888,557 11,736,881
Less: non-current portion (68,265) (130,705)  

13,820,292 11,606,176  
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26 

(a) 

90 180

499,000 1,178,000
166,000

222,000 1,258,000
103,000

(b) 
1,331,483,000
1,336,965,000

20(ii) 8,993,769,000
7,831,546,000

23 
(a)

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a) The following is an ageing analysis of the trade and bills 
payables based on the invoice date as at the end of the 
reporting period:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

0–90 days 0–90 1,746,286 1,158,367
91–180 days 91–180 61,434 39,965
181–365 days 181–365 62,588 16,986
1–2 years 1–2 10,688 11,368
Over 2 years 2 5,364 6,146  

1,886,360 1,232,832
  

The average credit period for purchase of goods ranged 
from 90 to 180 days. The Group has f inancial r isk 
management policies in place to ensure that all payables 
are settled within the credit time frame.

As at 31 December 2024, trade payables measured at 
amortised cost amounted to HK$499,000, HK$1,178,000 
and HK$166,000 (2023: HK$222,000, HK$1,258,000 and 
HK$103,000), are due to the Group’s associates, joint 
ventures and other related parties, respectively.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, except for the amount of 
HK$1,331,483,000 (2023: HK$1,336,965,000) which were 
used to purchase quoted treasury securities and pledged 
as margin deposit with the CME (see Note 20(ii)). The 
remaining balance of amount segregated for customers of 
HK$8,993,769,000 (2023: HK$7,831,546,000) were held by 
the Group in segregated accounts (see Note 23(a)).
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26 

(c) 
Straits (Singapore) Pte. 

Ltd. SSPL Straits Financial Group 
Pte. Ltd. SFG

52,395,000
88,639,000

5,000,000
39,024,000

13,556,000
49,544,000

12

(d) 

(e) 

26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(c) As at 31 December 2024, the balance of provision of 
HK$52,395,000 (2023: HK$88,639,000) was recorded in the 
book of Straits (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (“SSPL”) and Straits 
Financial Group Pte. Ltd. (“SFG”), indirect subsidiaries 
of the Group, in connection with a litigation (the “Case”) 
which involved certain repurchase agreements. The 
provision was recognised in profit or loss in the previous 
years.

On 10 August 2023, the Group entered into a settlement 
agreement with the plaintiff in relation to the Case. The 
management has made up the provision in previous 
years to reflect the agreed settlement sum. During the 
year ended 31 December 2024, a settlement amount of 
USD5,000,000 (equivalent to HK$39,024,000) was paid 
in accordance with the terms of the agreement. Hence, 
there were no material provision made for the Case during 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. According 
to the terms of the settlement agreement, approximately 
HK$13,556,000 (2023: HK$49,544,000) will be settled after 
12 months and accordingly was classified as non-current 
liabilities.

(d) Amounts due to related parties represented non-trade 
amounts due to associates, joint ventures and other related 
parties which are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

(e) Loans from non-controlling interests are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable on demand.
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27 

(a) 
716,000,000

5%

5%

65,016,000
666,000,000

5.5%

5.5%

27 LOANS AND BORROWINGS

2024 2023

 NOTES HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Non-current
Promissory Note (a) 666,000 716,000
Secured bank loans (b) 121,821 728,832  

787,821 1,444,832  

Current
Perpetual notes (c) 357,351 359,587
Secured bank loans (b) 576,896 126,999
Revolving short-term trade facilities (d) 3,894,216 3,323,467
Digital bonds (e) 300,814 387,172
Secured bank overdrafts (b) 7,463 4,221  

5,136,740 4,201,446  

Notes:

(a) The balance represents the Promissory Note, entered 
into between the Company and an affiliate of HNA Trust 
Management with principal amount of HK$716,000,000 
(the “Promissory Note”). The balance is interest-bearing 
at 5% per annum, which shall be payable semi-annually 
in arrears. The Company may elect to defer payment of 
interest, in which case interest of 5% shall accrue on such 
deferred interest amounts until payment. On 18 July 2024, 
the Group repaid principal amount and accrued interest 
of HK$65,016,000 in relation to the Promissory Note and 
renewed the Promissory Note with principal amount of 
HK$666,000,000 for a 4-year period (the “New Promissory 
Note”). The New Promissory Note is unsecured, interest-
bearing at 5.5% per annum, which shall be payable semi-
annually in arrears. The Company may elect to defer 
payment of interest, in which case interest of 5.5% per 
annum shall accrue on such deferred interest amounts until 
payment. All accrued and unpaid interest and all unpaid 
principal shall be paid in full on 18 July 2028.
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27 

(b) 

(c) CWT SG
38

46,000,000

(d) 

(e) 
7 0 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

60,000,000
2%

2%

27 LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(b) At 31 December 2024, the bank loans and bank overdrafts 
were repayable as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within 1 year or on demand 584,359 131,220
After 1 year but within 2 years 10,506 602,561
After 2 years but within 5 years 97,623 112,837
After 5 years 13,692 13,434  

706,180 860,052
  

(c) Perpetual notes are issued by a subsidiary of the Company 
in connection with acquisition of CWT SG (as defined 
in Note 38). Perpetual notes with aggregate principal 
amount of US$46,000,000 are guaranteed by an affiliate 
of HNA Trust Management. The notes are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable at the discretion of the 
Group, but redeemable upon occurrence of subordination 
events (including but not limited to liquidation of the 
note guarantor) as set out in the notes’ subscription 
agreement. Since the liquidation of the note guarantor 
is not controllable by the Group, the perpetual notes are 
therefore classified as “current liability” in accordance with 
the prevailing accounting standards.

(d) Revolving short-term trade facilities of the Group relate to 
short-term trade related self-liquidating facilities to finance 
the Group’s commodity marketing business.

(e) Digital bonds relates to bonds issued by a group entity 
with a pr incipal amount of US$70,000,000 (2023: 
US$60,000,000). The balance is unsecured, interest-bearing 
at 2% (2023: 2%) per annum, which shall be payable 
monthly. All accrued and unpaid principal plus interest shall 
be repayable in 2025 (2023: 2024).

At the end of the reporting period, assets used to secure 
the Group’s loans and borrowings were as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Property, plant and equipment 1,613,452 1,769,691
Pledged bank balances and fixed deposits 193,291 145,075
Trade and other receivables 1,072,512 701,342
Inventories 3,183,315 2,331,980  

6,062,570 4,948,088  
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28 28 TERMS AND DEBT REPAYMENT 
SCHEDULE
The terms and conditions of outstanding loans and 
borrowings are as follows:

2024 2023

Year of
maturity

Nominal
interest rate

Carrying
amount

Year of
maturity

Nominal
interest rate

Carrying
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000

        

USD floating rate revolving  
 short-term facilities

2025 5.84% – 8.08% 3,894,216 N/A 5.88% – 8.08% 3,323,467

USD fixed rate bonds 2025 2.00% 300,814 2024 2.00% 387,172

USD perpetual notes N/A N/A 357,351 N/A N/A 359,587

SGD floating rate loans 2025 SORA +1.7%

+1.7%

565,758 2025 SORA +1.7%

+1.7%

704,101

EUR floating rate loan 2027 EURIBOR + 1.5%

+1.5%

58,328 2027 EUR IBOR +1.5%

+1.5%

67,004

HKD fixed rate note 2029 5.50% 666,000 2025 5.00% 716,000

EUR fixed rate loan 2027 2.40% 48,265 2027 2.40% 55,933

INR fixed rate loan 2025–2028 7.07% – 9.60% 1,911 2025–2028 7.10% – 9.00% 2,623

PHP fixed rate loans 2025 9.72% 98 2025 9.72% 178

MYR floating rate loan 2036 6.10% – 6.20% 24,357 2036 4.90% – 6.10% 25,992

Bank overdrafts 2025 9.74% – 18.23% 7,463 N/A 10.00% – 18.23% 4,221

  

5,924,561 5,646,278  



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1832024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 
(a) 

5 30

2 20

51,855,000
18,887,000

29 LEASE LIABILITIES
(a) The Group as lessee

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Lease liabilities
Current 256,305 289,875
Non-current 1,834,045 2,059,737  

2,090,350 2,349,612  

The Group mainly leases land and warehouses. 
Land leases typically run for a period of 5 to 30 
years of which some leases have option to renew 
the lease. Warehouse leases typically run for a 
period of 2 to 20 years of which some leases have 
option to renew the lease. Lease payments are 
renegotiated before the expiry of each lease. Some 
leases provide for additional rent payments that are 
based on changes in local price indices. For certain 
leases, the Group is only allowed to enter into any 
sub-lease arrangements for a prescribed percentage 
of the leased assets. Some property leases contain 
extension options exercisable by the Group up to 
one year before the end of the non-cancellable 
contract period. Where practicable, the Group seeks 
to include extension options in new leases to provide 
operational flexibility. The extension options held are 
exercisable only by the Group and not by the lessors. 
The Group assesses at lease commencement date 
whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the 
extension options. The Group reassesses whether 
it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if 
there is a significant event or significant changes 
in circumstances within its control. The Group has 
estimated that the potential future lease payments, 
should it exercise the extension option, would result 
in an increase in lease liability of HK$51,855,000 
(2023: HK$18,887,000).
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29 
(a) 

29 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

(a) The Group as lessee (continued)

Information about leases for which the Group is a 
lessee is presented below.

Expenses recognised in profit or loss

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Leases under HKFRS 16 16  
 

Interest on lease liabilities 94,185 102,882
Variable lease payments not included 
 in the measurement of lease 
 liabilities

 
 

962 893
Expenses relating to short-term leases 38,846 39,471
Expenses relating to leases of low-
 value assets, excluding short-term 
 leases of low-value assets

 
 

181 245  

Total cash outflow for leases

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within operating cash flows 39,989 40,609
Within financing cash flows 398,160 420,885  
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29 
(b) 

1 10

30 
(a) 

5%

30,000

29 LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

(b) The Group as lessor
The Group contracted out part of their leasehold 
buildings to clients under logistic contracts. The 
contracts typically run for an initial period of 1 to 10 
years. Rates are revised at renewal of contract to 
reflect market rate. None of the contracts include 
contingent payments. The non-cancellable contract 
payments receivable are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Within one year 68,614 93,090
In the second to fifth year inclusive  

 190,947 231,901
Over fifth year 5,588 35,694  

265,149 360,685  

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund 
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance 
for employees employed under the jurisdiction of 
the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not 
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement 
plan. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution 
retirement plan administered by independent 
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer 
and its employees are each required to make 
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ 
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant 
income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan vest 
immediately, there is no forfeited contributions that 
may be used by the group to reduce the existing 
level of contribution.
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30 
(a) 

(b) 

Mercer 
(Switzerland) SA

Mercer (Switzerland) 
S A M a r s h  &  M c L e n n a n 
Compan ies,  Inc.
Marsh & McLennan Companies, 
Inc.

77.5% 82.4%

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(a) Defined contribution plans (continued)

The Group also contributes to various other defined 
contribution retirement plans for eligible employees. 
The plans are managed either by the government in 
the countries where the employees are employed, 
or by independent trustees. Contribution levels are 
determined by the relevant laws and regulations 
concerned.

(b) Defined benefit obligations
The Group operates a pension plan for its employees of 
a subsidiary in Switzerland whereby the plan participants 
are insured against the financial consequences of old 
age, disability and death. The pension plan is operated 
by an independent, legally autonomous collective 
foundation of an insurance company. Consequently, the 
plan assets are completely segregated from both the 
Group and the plan participants.

The pension plan is funded by contributions from 
the Group whereby funding is determined by the 
provisions stipulated in The Swiss Federal Law on 
Occupational Benefit and Disability Pension Plans 
and the Federal law on Vesting in Pension Plans. 
The latest independent actuarial valuation of the 
pension plan was at 31 December 2024 performed 
by Mercer (Switzerland) SA, using the projected unit 
credit method. Mercer (Switzerland) SA is an affiliate 
of Marsh & McLennan Companies, Inc., a global 
professional services firm headquartered in New 
York City. The actuarial valuation indicated that the 
Group’s obligations under the pension plan is 77.5% 
(2023: 82.4%) covered by the plan assets held by 
the insurance company.
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30 
(b) 

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued)

The net defined benefit obligations recognised in 
the consolidated statement of financial position 
at the reporting date, which are expected to be 
cleared over the remaining life expectancy (based on 
unconditional future indexations for active and post- 
active participants), are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Present value of funded obligations 163,334 153,731
Fair value of plan assets (126,519) (126,685)  

36,815 27,046  

Details of the fair value of plan assets are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Assets held by insurance company 126,519 126,685  
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30 
(b) 

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued)

Total amounts recognised in profit or loss are as 
follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Current service cost 7,857 4,924
Past service cost (2,870) –

Interest cost 2,024 2,497
Interest income (1,709) (2,200)  

5,302 5,221  

Total amounts recognised in other comprehensive 
expense are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Remeasurements on changes of 
 assumptions 16,436 9,178
Loss on plan assets 
 (excluding interest income)

 
 321 1,138  

16,757 10,316  



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 

1892024 Annual Report  /  CWT International Limited  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 
(b) 

17
17

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued)

Changes in present value of defined benefit 
obligations are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Defined benefit obligations at 
 1 January 153,731 124,095
Current service cost 7,857 4,924
Interest cost 2,024 2,497
Past service cost (2,870) –

Remeasurements on change in 
 assumptions 16,436 9,178
Benefits forfeited (962) (712)
Exchange realignment (12,882) 13,749  

Defined benefit obligations at 
 31 December

 
 163,334 153,731  

Weighted average duration of the defined benefit 
obligations as of 31 December 2024 is 17 years 
(2023: 17 years).

Changes in the fair value of plan assets during the 
year are as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Fair value of plan assets at 
 1 January (126,685) (106,224)
Interest income (1,709) (2,200)
Employer contribution (9,706) (8,670)
Actuarial losses/(gains) 321 1,138
Benefits forfeited 962 712
Exchange realignment 10,298 (11,441)  

Fair value of plan assets at 
 31 December

 
 (126,519) (126,685)  
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30 
(b) 

30 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

(b) Defined benefit obligations (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions are as follows:

2024 2023

    

Mortality tables, actuarial statistics 
 (disability, mortality, etc.)

 
 

Discount rate 0.90% 1.40%
Rate of salary increase 2.00% 1.50%
Rate of the projection of 
 the saving capital 1.25% 1.40%
Rate of pension increase 0.00% 0.00%
Turnover 18.64% 17.21%  

Sensitivities of significant actuarial assumptions

Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date 
to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding 
other assumptions constant, would have affected 
the defined benefit obligations by the amounts 
shown below:

Increase Decrease

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

2024
Discount rate (0.25% movement) 0.25% (6,762) 7,245
Future salary growth (0.25% 
 movement)

0.25%
1,206 –

  

2023
Discount rate (0.25% movement) 0.25% (4,567) 3,084
Future salary growth (0.25% 
 movement)

0.25%
1,329 –

  

The above sensitivity calculations are based on 
one assumption changing while others remain 
unchanged. In practice, however, there are certain 
correlations between the individual assumptions. The 
same method was used to calculate the sensitivities 
and the defined benefit obligations at the end of the 
financial year.
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31 31 DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) 
recognised and movements thereon during the current and 
prior years:

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets)

At 
1 January 

2024

Recognised 
in profit 

or loss

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

Translation 
difference

At 
31 December 

2024

(Note 10)
10

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Property, plant and equipment 229,416 (8,662) – (8,944) 211,810
Right-or-use assets 144,198 (7,163) – (7,739) 129,296
Intangible assets 16,052 (3,996) – (827) 11,229
Financial assets 491 – – (2) 489
Inventories – (175) – – (175)
Trade and other receivables  

 10,623 (5,518) – (239) 4,866
Trade and other payables  

 (29,272) 7,705 – 946 (20,621)
Lease liabilities (152,316) 6,830 – 7,437 (138,049)
Unutilised tax benefits (25,660) 9,367 – (893) (17,186)
Others (4,875) (273) (1,990) 774 (6,364)     

188,657 (1,885) (1,990) (9,487) 175,295     
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31 31 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities/(assets) 
recognised and movements thereon during the current and 
prior years: (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued)

At 
1 January 

2023

Recognised 
in profit 
or loss

Recognised 
in other 

comprehensive 
income

Translation 
difference

At 
31 December 

2023

(Note 10)
10

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Property, plant and equipment 232,065 (6,868) – 4,219 229,416
Right-or-use assets 60,140 91,504 – (7,446) 144,198
Intangible assets 20,064 (4,485) – 473 16,052
Financial assets – 490 – 1 491
Trade and other receivables  

 7,255 3,431 – (63) 10,623
Trade and other payables  

 (30,012) 706 – 34 (29,272)
Lease liabilities (65,723) (94,900) – 8,307 (152,316)
Unutilised tax benefits (29,224) 3,827 – (263) (25,660)
Others (2,340) (1,027) (1,219) (289) (4,875)     

192,225 (7,322) (1,219) 4,973 188,657
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31 31 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes relate to 
the same taxation authority. The amounts determined after 
appropriate offsetting are included in the statements of 
financial position as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deferred tax liabilities 216,299 249,040
Deferred tax assets (41,004) (60,383)  

Deferred tax liabilities, net 175,295 188,657  

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of 
the following items:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Deductible temporary differences 805,930 924,843
Unutilised tax losses 147,754 215,164  

953,684 1,140,007  
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31 

147,754,000
215,164,000

1 , 1 4 7 , 3 1 9 , 0 0 0
1,077,538,000

31 DEFERRED TAX (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities/(assets) (continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses of 
approximately HK$147,754,000 (2023: HK$215,164,000) 
which are available for offsetting against future profits. No 
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the 
tax loss due to the unpredictably of future profit streams 
as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. Except for below, other 
losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Tax losses to be expired in
 – 2028  – – 17,827
 –  2029  – 27,042 –  

27,042 17,827  

The tax losses are subject to agreement by the tax 
authorities and compliance with tax regulations in the 
respective countries in which the subsidiaries operate. The 
deductible temporary differences and tax losses, other than 
disclosed above, do not expire under current tax legislation.

The Group did not recognise deferred tax liabilities relating 
to unremitted accumulated earnings in foreign subsidiaries 
amounting to HK$1,147,319,000 (2023: HK$1,077,538,000) 
as it has control over their dividends policy, with no earnings 
forecast to be repatriated in the foreseeable future.
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32 
(a) 

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES
(a) Movement in components of equity

The reconciliation between the opening and closing 
balances of each component of the Group’s equity 
is set out in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity. Details of the changes in the Company’s 
individual components of equity between the 
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:

The Company

Share 
capital

Capital 
reserve

Perpetual 
capital 

instrument
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

At 1 January 2023 4,731,480 158,100 1,819,390 (66,156) (3,290,448) 3,352,366

Loss and total comprehensive 

 expense for the year

 
 – – – – (39,595) (39,595)      

At 31 December 2023 and 
 1 January 2024

 
  
 4,731,480 158,100 1,819,390 (66,156) (3,330,043) 3,312,771

Loss and total comprehensive 

 expense for the year

 
 – – – – (159,348) (159,348)      

At 31 December 2024  
 4,731,480 158,100 1,819,390 (66,156) (3,489,391) 3,153,423      
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32 
(b) 

135

(c) 
(i) 

(i)

(ii)

(d)

(ii) 

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(b) Share capital

Number
of shares Amount

HK$’000

    

Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2023,  

31 December 2023, 1 January  
2024 and 31 December 2024

 

 
 
 11,399,996,101 4,731,480

  

In accordance with section 135 of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, the ordinary shares of the 
Company do not have a par value.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive 
dividends as declared from time to time and are 
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the 
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with 
regard to the Company’s residual assets.

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Capital reserve

Capital reserve mainly represents (i) waiver of 
a payable to a related company of the Group, 
which is considered as deemed capital 
contribution and is credited to capital reserve; 
and (ii) accumulated reserve for effect of 
changes in shareholding of subsidiaries 
without losing control (see (d) below).

(ii) Translation reserve

Translat ion reserve comprises foreign 
exchange differences ar is ing from the 
translat ion of the f inancial statements 
of foreign operations whose functional 
currencies are different from the functional 
currency of the Company.
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32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(c) Nature and purpose of reserves (continued)

(iii) Hedging reserve

The hedging reserve comprises the effective 
portion of the cumulative net changes in the 
fair value of cash flow hedging instruments.

(iv) Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve mainly represent reserve 
set aside by certain subsidiaries operating in 
foreign jurisdictions where profits of these 
subsidiaries are set aside according to local 
legislations.

(v) Perpetual capital instrument

Perpetual capital instrument represents 
a  p e r p e t u a l  l o a n  o f  S $ 3 1 6 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 
(approximately HK$1,819,390,000) from 
affiliates of HNA Trust Management. The 
Group has no contractual obligation to repay 
any amount of the perpetual loan under 
any circumstances and any repayment is 
entirely at the discretion of the Company. 
Consequently, the Directors are of the view 
that the economic substance of the perpetual 
loan is a non-reciprocal capital contribution 
from HNA Trust Management and credited 
directly to reserve.

(d) Change in shareholding of subsidiaries 
without losing control
Dur ing the year ended 31 December 2024, 
the Group acquired an additional 30% equity 
interest in Globelink Uniexco, S.L., a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company incorporated 
in Spain, from the non-controlling shareholders at 
a consideration of EUR4,800,000 (approximately 
H K$41 ,409 ,000 ) .  U p o n  c o m p l e t i o n  o f  t h e 
acquisition, the Group holds 86% equity interest 
in the subsidiary. The difference between the 
proportionate share of net assets and translation 
reserve attributable to non-controlling interests of 
Globelink Uniexco, S.L. and the consideration paid 
by the Group of HK$29,689,000 was credited to 
capital reserve and accumulated in equity as ‘capital 
reserve’.

32 
(c) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

316,000,000
1,819,390,000

(d) 

Globelink Uniexco, S.L.

30%
4,800,000 41,409,000

86% Globelink 
Uniexco, S.L.

29,689,000
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32 
(d) 

Globelink Fallow Limited

32.88%
3,754,000 37,099,000

100% Globel ink 
Fallow Limited

26,507,000

33 

34 

32 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

(d) Change in shareholding of subsidiaries 
without losing control (continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
Group acquired an additional 32.88% equity interest 
in Globelink Fallow Limited, a non-wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Company incorporated in the United 
Kingdom, from the non-controlling shareholders at 
a consideration of GBP3,754,000 (approximately 
HK$37,099,000). Upon the completion of the 
acquisition, the Group holds 100% equity interest 
in the subsidiary. The difference between the 
proportionate share of net assets and translation 
reserve attributable to non-controlling interests of 
Globelink Fallow Limited and the consideration paid 
by the Group of HK$26,507,000 was credited to 
capital reserve and accumulated in equity as ‘capital 
reserve’.

33 CAPITAL COMMITMENT

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Capital expenditure in respect of the 
 acquisition of property, plant and 
 equipment contracted for but not 
 provided in the consolidated financial 
 statements

 
  
 

21,507 13,481  

34 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Group is subject to various litigation, regulatory and 
arbitration matters in the normal course of business. The 
Group vigorously defends against these claims and, in the 
opinion of the management, the resolution of these matters 
will not have a material effect on the financial position of 
the Group.
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35 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in 
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to stakeholders through the 
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group 
will balance its overall capital structure through new share 
issues as well as raising of new borrowings or redemption 
of existing debt using cash flow generated from operating 
activities and disposal of assets. The Group’s overall 
strategy remains unchanged from the year ended 31 
December 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net 
debt, which includes loans and borrowings (excluding 
collateralised short-term trade facilities) (See Note 27) and 
lease liabilities (collectively referred as “Total Debt”); net 
of pledged bank balances and fixed deposits and cash and 
cash equivalent (“Net Debt”). Total capital of the Group 
comprising issued share capital and reserves attributable to 
owners of the Company and Total Debt (“Total Capital”).

Straits Financial LLC, Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd. 
and PT Straits Futures Indonesia, the Group’s subsidiaries 
incorporated in the USA, Singapore and Indonesia 
respectively, are subject to minimum capital requirements 
pursuant to laws and regulations of the USA, Singapore 
and Indonesia. Management has established controls 
and policies to ensure that the subsidiaries comply with 
the minimum capital requirements. The subsidiaries 
have complied with the minimum capital requirements 
pursuant to laws and regulations of the USA, Singapore and 
Indonesia during the year.

Other than disclosed above, the Company and its 
subsidiaries are not subject to externally imposed capital 
requirements.

35 

27

Straits Financial LLC
Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd. PT 
Straits Futures Indonesia
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36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(a) Overview

The Group has a system of controls in place to 
create an acceptable balance between the cost 
of risks occurring and the cost of managing the 
risks. The management continually monitors the 
Group’s risk management process to ensure that 
an appropriate balance between risk and control is 
achieved.

The Audit Committee oversees how management 
moni tors compl iance with the Group’s r isk 
management policies and procedures and reviews 
the adequacy of the risk management framework in 
relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Audit 
Committee is assisted in its oversight role by the 
internal audit function. The internal audit function 
undertakes both regular and ad-hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures, the results of 
which are reported to the Audit Committee.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will 
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a 
financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s primary exposure to credit risk arises 
through its trade receivables and contract assets. 
Concentration of credit risk relating to these trade 
receivables and contract assets is limited due to 
the Group’s many varied customers, which are 
internationally dispersed. Management reviews the 
ageing of receivables monthly to ensure that the 
Group’s credit risk exposure is monitored regularly. 
Cash and fixed deposits are placed with banks 
and financial institutions, which are regulated. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by 
the carrying amount of each financial asset in the 
consolidated statements of financial position.

36 
(a) 

(b) 
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36 
(b) 

2,178,243,000
1,071,410,000

2,512,069,000
1,553,720,000

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets

The Group has a credit policy in place whereby 
new customers are subject to credit evaluations 
based on available financial information and past 
experiences. The Group has established credit 
limits for customers and monitors their balances on 
an ongoing basis. Certain sales by the commodity 
marketing and financial services segments are 
generally guaranteed by letters of credit. The 
Group generally does not require collateral for 
sales in other segments. As at 31 December 2024, 
trade receivables of the Group secured by letters 
of credit amounted to HK$2,178,243,000 (2023: 
HK$1,071,410,000).

As at  31 December 2024, except for  t rade 
receivables containing provisional pricing features 
with carrying amount of HK$2,512,069,000 (2023: 
HK$1,553,720,000), the Group measures loss 
allowance for trade receivables and contract assets 
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. To measure 
the ECL, trade receivables and contract assets 
have been grouped based on shared credit risk 
characteristics and the days past due. The contract 
assets relate to unbilled work in progress and sales 
made but yet to be invoiced as the final amount 
is not due until pricing and assays are known. The 
contract assets shared the same risk characteristics 
as the trade receivables for the same type of 
contracts. The Group has therefore concluded that 
the expected loss rates for trade receivables and 
contract assets are a reasonable approximation of 
the loss rates for the contract assets.
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36 
(b) 

• 
 – 

• 
 – 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

Except for amounts due from customers with 
known financial difficulties or significant doubt on 
collection that are assessed individually, if any, 
impairment analysis is performed at each reporting 
date collectively using a provision matrix. ECL for 
trade receivables and contract assets with past write 
off history are based on the historical credit losses 
experienced in the last 5 years. The historical loss 
rates are adjusted to reflect current conditions and 
estimates of future economic conditions. ECL for 
trade receivables without past write off history are 
measured as follows:

• Trade receivables and contract assets with 
corporate credit rating – applying Moody’s 
credit rating or match to Moody’s equivalent 
credit rating to the carrying amount and loss 
given default (“LGD”) or

• Trade receivables and contract assets without 
corporate credit rating – applying industry 
probability of default to the carrying amount 
and LGD.
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36 
(b) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, 
the loss allowance was determined as follows for 
trade receivables and contract assets:

As at 31 December 2024

Collective assessment

 
Gross 

amount
Expected 
Loss Rate ECL

HK$’000 % HK$’000
%

     

Not past due  677,362 0.00% –
Past due 1–30 days 1–30  168,300 0.00% –
Past due 31–90 days 31–90  95,780 0.36% (341)
Past due 91–180 days 91–180  23,817 7.98% (1,900)
Past due 181–365 days 181–365  9,687 21.43% (2,076)
Past due more than 1 year 1  23,811 94.51% (22,503)  

998,757 (26,820)  

As at 31 December 2023

Collective assessment

 
Gross 

amount
Expected 

Loss Rate ECL

HK$’000 % HK$’000
%

     

Not past due 604,776 0.00% –

Past due 1–30 days 1–30 143,198 0.05% (65)
Past due 31–90 days 31–90 55,370 0.07% (36)
Past due 91–180 days 91–180 23,653 3.28% (776)
Past due 181–365 days 181–365 6,501 15.94% (1,036)
Past due more than 1 year 1 29,041 91.48% (26,566)  

862,539 (28,479)
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36 
(b) 

Aa1
A3

12

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect 
of trade receivables and contract assets during the 
year is as follows:

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Balance at 1 January 28,479 64,299

Amounts written off during the year (2,199) (16,459)
Amounts recovered during the year (881) (20,339)
Impairment loss recognised during 
 the year 3,698 1,126
Disposal of subsidiaries (1,371) –

Exchange realignment (906) (148)  

Balance at 31 December 26,820 28,479  

Derivatives

The derivatives are entered into with bank and 
financial institution counterparties, which are rated 
Aa1 to A3, based on Moody’s credit ratings.

Debt investments

Impairment on debt investments have been 
measured on the 12-month expected loss basis and 
all of the Group’s debt investments measured at 
amortised cost are considered to have low credit 
risk. Management considers “low credit risk” 
for listed bonds to be an investment grade credit 
rating with at least one major rating agency. Other 
instruments are considered to be low credit risk 
when they have a low risk of default and the issuer 
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash 
flow obligations in the near term.
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1,331,483,000
1,336,965,000

Aa1 A3

12

12,182,083,000
11,651,884,000

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Debt investments (continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount 
of the Group’s debt investment amounted to 
HK$1,331,483,000 (2023: HK$1,336,965,000) and 
the ECL on debt investment were considered 
immaterial and thus the did not recognise any loss 
allowance in respect thereof.

Assets held or segregated in separate accounts, 
pledged bank deposits and cash and cash 
equivalents

These financial assets are mainly held with bank and 
financial institution counterparties, which are rated 
Aa1 to A3, based on Moody’s credit ratings. The 
Group uses a similar approach for assessment of 
ECL for these financial assets to those used for debt 
investments. Impairment on these financial assets 
have been measured on the 12-month expected 
loss basis and reflects the short maturities of the 
exposures. The Group considers that these financial 
assets have low credit risk based on the external 
credit ratings of the counterparties.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of these 
financial assets amounted to HK$12,182,083,000 
(2023: HK$11,651,884,000) and the ECL on these 
financial assets were considered immaterial and thus 
the Group did not recognise any loss allowance in 
respect thereof.
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36 
(b) 

393,348,000
224,198,000

(c) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost 
mainly comprised of amounts due from other related 
parties, loans to third parties, a related party and 
non-controlling interests and deposit and other 
receivables. These financial assets at amortised 
costs are generally considered to have low credit 
risk. In determining the ECL, management has 
taken into account the credit ratings, historical 
default experience and the financial position of 
the counterparties, adjusted for factors, where 
applicable, that are specific to the debtors and 
general economic conditions of the industry in which 
the debtors operate, in estimating the probability of 
default of each of these financial assets occurring 
within their respective loss assessment time horizon, 
as well as the loss upon default in each case.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of 
these financial assets amounted to HK$393,348,000 
(2023: HK$224,198,000) and the ECL on these 
financial assets were considered immaterial and 
thus the Group did not recognise any loss allowance 
in respect thereof.

(c) Liquidity risk
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group 
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management 
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

Individual operating entities within the Group 
are responsible for their own cash management, 
including raising of loans to cover expected cash 
demands, subject to approval by the Company’s 
Board when the borrowings exceed certa in 
predetermined levels of authority. The Group’s policy 
is to regularly monitor its liquidity requirements and 
its compliance with lending covenants.
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36 
(c) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk (continued)

The following tables show the remaining contractual 
maturities at the end of the reporting period of 
the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and 
derivative financial liabilities, which are based on 
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including 
interest payments computed using contractual rates 
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of 
the reporting period) and the earliest date the Group 
can be required to pay.

Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

 
Within

1 year or
on demand

2–5
years

Over 5
years

Total
undiscounted

cash flows
Carrying
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2024
Lease liabilities 338,336 833,274 1,587,559 2,759,169 2,090,350 
Trade and other payables 13,740,433 – – 13,740,433 13,740,433 
Perpetual notes 357,351 – – 357,351 357,351 
Other loans and borrowings 4,854,997 784,920 18,003 5,657,920 5,567,210 
Derivative financial instruments 393,522 – – 393,522 393,522      

19,684,639 1,618,194 1,605,562 22,908,395 22,148,866     

2023
Lease liabilities 383,772 963,394 1,780,579 3,127,745 2,349,612
Trade and other payables 11,558,360 – – 11,558,360 11,558,360
Perpetual notes 359,587 – – 359,587 359,587
Other loans and borrowings 3,916,886 1,475,312 17,661 5,409,859 5,286,691
Derivative financial instruments 496,693 11,089 – 507,782 507,782     

16,715,298 2,449,795 1,798,240 20,963,333 20,062,032     
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36 
(d) 

(i) 

2 8 , 6 4 6 , 0 0 0
29,696,000

20

10%

2,865,000
2,970,000

(ii) 

LME

LBMA
NYSE: 

I C E
NYMEX

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in equity prices, 
commodity prices, interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates, will affect the Group’s income, or 
the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return on risk.

(i) Equity price risk

The Group hold listed and unlisted equity 
securities which are measured at FVPL 
total l ing approximately HK$28,646,000 
(2023: HK$29,696,000) (see Note 20). A 10% 
increase or decrease in the underlying equity 
prices at the reporting date with all other 
variables held constant would have increased 
or decreased the Group’s profit before 
taxation by approximately HK$2,865,000 
(2023: HK$2,970,000).

(ii) Commodity price risk

The G roup  uses  de r i v a t i ve  f i n anc i a l 
instruments such as commodity futures, 
commodity option contracts, commodity 
futures and commodity swaps to hedge 
certain exposures. The markets used are 
the London Metal Exchange (“LME”) for 
base metals, such as copper, lead and zinc 
and aluminium, the London Bullion Market 
Association (“LBMA”) for gold and silver, 
and the Intercontinental Exchange (“NYSE: 
ICE”) and the New York Mercantile Exchange 
(“NYMEX”).
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36 
(d) 

(ii) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(ii) Commodity price risk (continued)

The following table presents the quantities by 
commodity, to which the Group is exposed 
to commodity price risk. Base metals, such 
as copper, lead and zinc are shown as, metric 
tons (mt), precious metals such as gold and 
silver are shown as ounces (oz) and gasoil is 
shown as barrels (BBL).

Copper Lead Zinc Gold Silver Aluminium

mt mt mt oz oz mt

        

2024
Gross exposure 67,814 3,593 5,413 53,458 2,698,702 –
Hedges (67,675) (3,575) (5,400) (54,289) (2,687,579) –      

Net exposure 139 18 13 (831) 11,123 –
      

Copper Lead Zinc Gold Silver Aluminium

mt mt mt oz oz mt

        

2023
Gross exposure 68,367 107 7,284 58,442 861,046 10,310
Hedges (68,225) (100) (7,300) (58,370) (858,008) (10,350)      

Net exposure 142 7 (16) 72 3,038 (40)
      

Exposure to commodity prices is mostly 
covered by der ivat ives and therefore, 
changes in market prices are not expected 
to significantly impact the Group’s financial 
performance. Changes in weight and content 
of the metals within the concentrates can 
impact the Group’s financial performance.
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(d) 

(iii) 

28

100

45,501,000

41,250,000

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(iii) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily 
from loans and borrowings. Borrowings 
issued at variable rates and at fixed rates 
expose the Group to cash flow interest 
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk 
respectively. The Group may also enters into 
interest rate swap to hedge its interest rate 
risk if necessary.

The interest rate profile of the Group’s loans 
and borrowings is disclosed in Note 28.

At 31 December 2024, it is estimated that 
a general increase or decrease of 100 basis 
points in interest rates, with all other variables 
held constant, would have increased or 
decreased the Group’s profit before taxation 
by approximately HK$45,501,000 (2023: 
HK$41,250,000). This sensitivity analysis 
excludes the impact from cash and bank 
balances as the management considers the 
impact to be insignificant having regard to 
the stable trend in interest rates and thus no 
material fluctuation is anticipated in the near 
future.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the 
instantaneous change in the Group’s profit 
before taxation that would arise assuming 
that the change in interest rates had occurred 
at the end of the reporting period and had 
been applied to re-measure those financial 
instruments held by the Group which expose 
the Group to fair value interest rate risk at 
the end of the reporting period. In respect 
of the exposure to cash flow interest rate 
risk arising from floating rate non-derivative 
instruments held by the Group at the end 
of the reporting period, the impact on the 
Group’s profit before taxation is estimated 
as an annualised impact on interest expense 
or income of such a change in interest rates. 
The analysis is performed on the same basis 
as 2023.
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36 
(d) 

(iv) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is 
exposed to foreign currency risks arising from 
various currency exposures. Where possible, 
the Group seeks to minimise its foreign 
currency exposure in operations by matching 
its exposure to foreign currency receivables 
to its exposure to foreign currency payables. 
The Group may also explore using derivatives 
to hedge its foreign exchange risk.

The Group seeks to minimise its foreign 
currency exposures in foreign subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures by repatriating 
their earnings, where pract icable. The 
Group also requires the foreign subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures to maintain their 
borrowings in the relevant foreign currencies 
which match their respective functional 
currencies.

In respect of the other monetary assets and 
liabilities held in currencies other than the 
functional currencies, the Group reviews 
the balances periodically to ensure the net 
exposure is kept at an acceptable level.
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36 
(d) 

(iv) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Currency risk (continued)

The Group’s significant exposures to foreign 
currencies from its continuing operations are 
as follows:

US Dollar
Singapore 

Dollar
Peruvian 

Sol Renminbi Euro
Swiss 
Franc

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

2024
Trade and other receivables  

402,246 95,381 378,910 1,177,462 56,491 2,082
Cash and cash equivalents 504,235 37,663 671 5,773 18,089 38,015
Trade and other payables  

(384,855) (471,911) (188,586) (1,227,184) (49,033) (6,371)
Loans and borrowings (58,607) (551,168) – – – (18,988)
Tax recoverable – – 8,036 – – –
Current tax payables – (16,439) (1,855) – – –        

Net exposure arising from 
recognised assets and 
liabilities

 

463,019 (906,474) 197,176 (43,949) 25,547 14,738
Forward exchange contracts – – (174,451) 54,976 – (39,363)        

Net exposure 463,019 (906,474) 22,725 11,027 25,547 (24,625)        
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36 
(d) 

(iv) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Currency risk (continued)

US Dollar
Singapore

Dollar
Peruvian 

Sol Renminbi Euro

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

2023
Trade and other 
 receivables  469,846 124,447 39,760 1,089,391 12,428
Cash and cash 
 equivalents  397,071 16,117 1,830 2,456 65,264
Trade and other 
 payables  (355,611) (598,466) (618) (1,038,594) (7,845)
Loans and borrowings (55,430) (531,916) – – –

Tax recoverable – – 9,946 – –

Current tax payables – (20,782) (2,987) – –     

Net exposure arising 
 from recognised 
 assets and 
 liabilities

 
 

455,876 (1,010,600) 47,931 53,253 69,847
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36 
(d) 

(iv) 

10%

*  

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Market risk (continued)

(iv) Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

A 10% strengthening of the functional 
currencies of the Company’s subsidiaries 
against the following currencies at the 
reporting date would positively/(negatively) 
impact the Group’s operating result before 
taxation by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables, in 
particular interest rates, remain constant.

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

US Dollar 46,302 45,588
Singapore Dollar (90,647) (101,060)
Peruvian Sol 2,273 4,793
Renminbi 1,103 5,325
Euro 2,555 6,985
Swiss Franc (2,463) *   

*  Currency risk exposure is assessed to be 
insignificant to the Group.
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36 
(e) 

(i) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values
(i) Fair value hierarchy

The table below analyse fair value measurements 
for financial assets and financial liabilities 
measured at the end of the reporting period 
on a recurring basis, by the levels in the fair 
value hierarchy based on the inputs to valuation 
techniques.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Financial assets and liabilities 
 carried at fair value

 
 

2024
Interest rate swaps – 2,998 – 2,998
Commodities futures 738,165 120,325 – 858,490
Currency options – 182 – 182
Currency forward contracts – 472 102 574    

Derivative financial assets 738,165 123,977 102 862,244
Trade receivables containing 
 provisional pricing features

 
 – 2,512,069 – 2,512,069

Other financial assets 705 2,350 27,115 30,170    

738,870 2,638,396 27,217 3,404,483    

Commodities futures (246,571) (115,922) – (362,493)
Commodities forward contracts (15,444) (7,616) – (23,060)
Commodities options – (4,170) – (4,170)
Currency options – (438) – (438)
Currency forward contracts – (3,361) – (3,361)    

Derivative financial liabilities (262,015) (131,507) – (393,522)
Trade payables containing 
 provisional pricing features

 
 – (1,487,503) – (1,487,503)    

(262,015) (1,619,010) – (1,881,025)    
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36 
(e) 

(i) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Financial assets and liabilities 
 carried at fair value

 
 

2023
Interest rate swaps – 5,299 – 5,299
Commodities futures 225,910 38,924 – 264,834
Commodities forward contracts 9,153 231 – 9,384
Capital return notes – 17,048 – 17,048    

Derivative financial assets 235,063 61,502 – 296,565
Trade receivables containing 
 provisional pricing features

 
 – 1,553,720 – 1,553,720

Other financial assets 788 2,457 27,990 31,235    

235,851 1,617,679 27,990 1,881,520    

Commodities futures (349,232) (154,251) – (503,483)
Commodities forward contracts (24) – – (24)
Commodities options – (3,742) – (3,742)
Currency forward contracts – (533) – (533)    

Derivative financial liabilities (349,256) (158,526) – (507,782)
Trade payables containing 
 provisional pricing features

 
 – (1,086,671) – (1,086,671)    

(349,256) (1,245,197) – (1,594,453)    

The carrying amount of the Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities not carried at fair value 
are not materially different from their fair 
values as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.
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36 
(e) 

(i) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The following table shows the carrying 
amounts and fair values of significant non- 
financial assets, including their levels in the 
fair value hierarchy.

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Non-financial assets measured at 
 fair value

 
 

2024
Commodity inventories where the 
 Group acts as a broker-trader

 
 – 966,596 – 966,596    

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

      

Non-financial assets measured at 
 fair value

 
 

2023
Commodity inventories where the 
 Group acts as a broker-trader

 
 – 2,331,980 – 2,331,980
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36 
(e) 

(ii) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(ii) Measurement of fair value

The following tables show the valuation 
techniques used in measuring Level 2 and 
Level 3 fair values of assets with material 
balance at 31 December 2024 as well as 
the significant unobservable inputs used (if 
applicable).

Type Valuation technique
Significant 
unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship
between key 
unobservable 
inputs and fair
value measurement

    

Interest rate swaps Market comparison technique: 

The fair values are based on market value (MTM value) 
 provided by the bank.

Not applicable Not applicable

Commodities futures, options and 
 forward contracts

Market comparison technique:
 

The fair values are based on month end spot and 
 forward prices received from broker.

Not applicable Not applicable

Currency options and forward contracts Market comparison technique:

The fair values are based on month end spot and 
 forward prices received from broker.

Not applicable Not applicable

Capital return notes Market comparison technique: 

The fair values are provided by investment bank which  
 is calculated with reference to the market value and  
 volatility of the underlyings written in the capital return notes.

 
 

Not applicable Not applicable
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36 
(e) 

(ii) 

Type Valuation technique
Significant 
unobservable inputs

Inter-relationship
between key 
unobservable 
inputs and fair
value measurement

    

Trade receivables and payables 
 containing provisional pricing features

 
 

Market comparison technique: 

The fair values are based on month end spot and  
 forward prices, until prices are fixed for metals  
 for weights and content of metals basis third party  
 inspections/certificates (if applicable).

 
  
 

Not applicable Not applicable

Inventories where the Group acts  
 as a broker -trader

Market comparison technique: 

The fair values are based on quoted prices of contracts 
 of similar products obtained from exchanges and  
 market data providers adjusted for forward market  
 assessment of premium/discount associated with  
 the inventory.

 
  
 

Not applicable Not applicable

Other financial assets  
 – unlisted equity securities  
  measured at FVPL

 –  
 

Net asset value technique:

The fair values are based on the fair value of the  
 underlying property using income capitalization based  
 on a discounted cash flow model.

 
 

Income growth rate and 
 discount rate

Increase/decrease in 
 income growth rate 
 would result in 
 increase/decrease in 
 fair value.

 
  
 

There were no transfers between Level 
1, level 2 or level 3 in the reporting and 
comparative period.

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(ii) Measurement of fair value (continued)
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36 
(e) 

(iii) 

36 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(e) Fair values (continued)

(iii) Offsetting financial assets and liabilities

Gross amounts
of recognised

financial
assets/liabilities

Gross amounts
of recognised

financial
assets/liabilities 

offset in the 
consolidated 
statement of

financial position

Net amounts 
of financial

assets/liabilities 
presented in the

consolidated 
statement of 

financial position

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

2024
Type of financial assets
Derivatives 11,163,391 (10,301,147) 862,244   

Type of financial liabilities
Derivatives 10,694,669 (10,301,147) 393,522   

2023
Type of financial assets
Derivatives 2,323,257 (2,026,692) 296,565   

Type of financial liabilities
Derivatives 2,534,474 (2,026,692) 507,782
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37 

(a) 

(b) 

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Apart from the disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated 
financial statements, the Group has the following related 
party transactions:

(a) Income

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Sales of goods and/or services to 
 entities in which directors have an 
 interest

 
 

49,426 46,770
Sales of goods and/or services to 
 associates

 
 79,931 65,517

Sales of goods and/or services to joint 
 ventures

 
 38,542 40,755

Dividend received from associates 4,917 64,408
Dividend received from joint ventures 11,327 4,399  

(b) Expense

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Purchase of goods and/or services 
 from entities in which directors 
 have an interest

 
20,998 16,582

Purchase of goods and/or services 
 from associates  19,289 21,839
Purchase of goods and/or services 
 from joint ventures  35,404 28,520
Interest expense to connected parties 
 (Note) 36,377 35,800  

Note:

Connected parties refer to aff i l iates of HNA Trust 
Management.
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37 
(c) 

11

(d) 
22 23

26

38 

37 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(c) Compensation of key management 
personnel
The remuneration of key management members, 
who are the directors of the Company are set out in 
note 11.

The remuneration of directors is determined by 
the remuneration committee having regard to the 
performance of individuals and market trends.

(d) Details of balances with related parties of the 
Group are set out in Notes 22, 23 and 26 to the 
consolidated financial statements respectively.

38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 
December 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

Name of subsidiary

Place/
country of
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Issued and
fully paid 

share capital/
registered

capital

The Group’s effective 
interest over nominal 

value of issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company Principal activities

2024 2023

% %
       

CWT Pte. Limited (“CWT SG”) Singapore Singapore 600,304,650
shares of

S$174,338,331
174,338,331

600,304,650

100 100 Investment holding & 
 management, warehousing 
 services, project logistics 
 management & services

 
 

CWT Commodities (Antwerp) N.V. Belgium Belgium 63,663 shares of
EUR5,093,040

5,093,040
63,663 

100 100 Provision of commodity 
 warehousing, logistics, 
 transportation and 
 forwarding services
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38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)

Name of subsidiary

Place/
country of
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Issued and
fully paid 

share capital/
registered

capital

The Group’s effective 
interest over nominal 

value of issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company Principal activities

2024 2023

% %
       

CWT Sitos B.V. The Netherlands The Netherlands 620,000 shares of
 EUR620,000

620,000
620,000

100 100 Investment holding & provision
 of commodity 
 warehousing services

CWT Commodity Logistics (UK) Ltd United Kingdom United Kingdom 10,527 shares of
 GBP10,527

10,527
10,527

100 100 Provision of commodity 
 warehousing, transportation 
 and forwarding services

 

CWT Commodities (Amsterdam) BV The Netherlands The Netherlands 18,000 shares of
 EUR18,000

18,000
18,000

100 100 Provision of commodity 
 warehousing, transportation 
 and forwarding services

 

CWT Anadolu Lojistik AS Turkey Turkey 7,670,350 shares of
 TRY7,670,350

7,670,350
7,670,350

90 90 Provision of commodity 
 warehousing, transportation 
 and forwarding services

 

CWT Globelink Pte Ltd Singapore Singapore 800,000 shares of 
S$800,000

800,000
800,000

100 100 Provision of cargo 
 consolidation and sea freight 
 forwarding services

MRI Trading AG Switzerland Switzerland 115,933 shares of
CHF1,159,330

1,159,330
115,933

100 100 Physical trading and supply 
 chain management of 
 non-ferrous base metal 
 concentrates

 
 

38 
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Name of subsidiary

Place/
country of
incorporation/
registration

Principal 
place of 
operation

Issued and
fully paid 

share capital/
registered

capital

The Group’s effective 
interest over nominal 

value of issued share capital/
registered capital

held by the Company Principal activities

2024 2023

% %
       

Straits Financial Services Pte. Ltd. Singapore Singapore 30,000,000 shares of 
US$30,000,000

30,000,000
30,000,000

97.4 97.4 To act as brokers for trading in 
 futures contracts and 
 centrally-cleared OTC 
 commodity derivatives

 
 

Straits Financial LLC USA USA 33,000,000 shares of 
US$33,000,000

33,000,000
33,000,000

98.5 98.5 Provision of financial brokerage 
 services

Indeco Engineers (Pte) Ltd Singapore Singapore 6,000,146 shares of
S$20,600,580

20,600,580
6,000,146

100 100 Engineering maintenance 
 services, design & building 
 services for industrial 
 properties, facilities 
 management and special 
 trade services

 
  
 

Save as disclosed in Note 27, none of the other subsidiaries 
had issued any debt securities for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

38 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)

38 

27
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39 39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 434 256
Right-of-use assets 7,357 3,160
Amount due from a related company 1,622 –

Interests in subsidiaries 3,821,973 4,049,351  

3,831,386 4,052,767  

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and other 
 receivables 4,101 1,681
Bank balances and cash 54,520 48,286  

58,621 49,967  

Current liabilities
Other payables, deposits received and 
 accruals

 
 25,486 32,425

Lease liabilities 2,311 3,201
Amount due to a related company 584 473
Amount due to subsidiaries 37,550 37,578  

65,931 73,677  

Net current liabilities (7,310) (23,710)  
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2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Total assets less current liabilities 3,824,076 4,029,057  

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 666,000 716,000
Lease liabilities 4,653 286  

670,653 716,286  

Net assets 3,153,423 3,312,771  

Capital and reserves
Share capital 4,731,480 4,731,480
Reserves (1,578,057) (1,418,709)  

Equity attributable to owners of the 
 Company 3,153,423 3,312,771  

The Company’s statement of financial position was 
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors 
on 28 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

Wang Kan Zhao Quan

DIRECTOR DIRECTOR

39 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)

39  
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40 40 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR 
THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the 
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards, which are not yet effective for 
the year ended 31 December 2024 and have not been 
adopted in these consolidated financial statements. These 
developments include the following which may be relevant 
to the Group.

Effective for 
accounting periods 

beginning on or after

  

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
21

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 
 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments

1 January 2026

9 7  
 

Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards 
 Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards – Volume 11

1 January 2026

11

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7
 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent Electricity

1 January 2026

9 7
 

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
18

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of 
what the impact of these developments is expected to be 
in the period of initial application. So far it has concluded 
that the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant 
impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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RESULTS

For the years ended 31 December

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Profit attributable to:
 Owners of the Company  41,465 208,905 153,213 39,093 304,386
 Non-controlling interests  26,843 80,454 101,876 40,101 43,921     

68,308 289,359 255,089 79,194 348,307
     

Earnings per share
 Basic (HK cents)  0.36 1.83 1.34 0.34 2.67
 Diluted (HK cents)  0.36 1.83 1.34 0.34 2.67

     

Dividends – – – – –
     

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND  
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

       

Total assets 24,915,974 24,934,882 36,504,465 25,438,229 27,632,040
Total liabilities (20,417,616) (20,211,573) (31,673,263) (20,640,067) (22,726,592)     

4,498,358 4,723,309 4,831,202 4,798,162 4,905,448
     

Equity attributable to owners of 
 the Company  4,367,648 4,537,861 4,630,000 4,671,281 4,780,950
Non-controlling interests 130,710 185,448 201,202 126,881 124,498     

4,498,358 4,723,309 4,831,202 4,798,162 4,905,448
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